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ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(IN BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY)

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A
PROPOSAL OF HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

NOTICE OF MOTION

{Approval of DIP, SISP, Stay Extension
returnable August 4, 2017}

Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (“Heaven Fresh”), will make a motion to a judge of the
Superior Court of Justice (In Bankruptcy and Insolvency) on Friday, August 4, 2017, at 10:00
a.m,, or as soon after that time as the motion can be heard, at 330 University Avenue, 8™ floor,

Toronto, Ontario.
PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The motion is to be heard orally.
THE MOTION IS FOR:

1. an Order substantially in the form attached as Tab 3 herein, and more particularly:

(a) if necessary, abridging the time for, and validating the service of, the Notice of
Motion and Motion Record herein, such that this motion is properly returnable on

August 4, 2017, and dispensing with any further service thereof:




(b)

(c)

(d)

(®)

€0
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declaring that the Commercial List E-Service Protocol applics to the within
proceeding and permitting service of any documents herein by e-mail, in

accordance therewith;

authorizing Heaven Fresh to enter into, and approving, an interim financing
agreement (the “DIP Agreement”) between Heaven Fresh and Danby Products
Limited (the “DIP Lender™), whereby the DIP Lender will provide Heaven Fresh
with an interim financing facility (the “DIP Facility™) in the maximum amount of
$100,000.00, and granting a super-priority charge against all of Heaven Fresh’s
property, assets and undertakings (the “Property”) as security for Heaven Fresh’s
obligations in respect of the DIP Facility in favour of the DIP Lender (the “DIP

Charge™);

approving a Sale and Investor Solicitation Process (the “SISP”), in the form
attached as Exhibit “L” to the affidavit of Imran Bashir, sworn July 27, 2017, with
such non-material amendments or modifications as Heaven Fresh or MNP Litd.
(the “Proposal Trustee”) may consider appropriate, and authorizing Heaven

Fresh and the Proposal Trustee to implement the SISP;

extending the stay of proceedings effective July 21, 2017, upon the filing of the

Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal (the “NOI™) to October 4, 2017; and,.

such further and other relief as to this Court may seem just.
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THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

1. Heaven Fresh is incorporated pursuant to the laws of the province of Ontario and carries
on business manufacturing and supplying small consumer appliances, including air and water

purifiers, humidifiers, and food and juice machines;

2, Heaven Fresh has recently been facing significant financial difficulties, is no longer
operating, and is no longer able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. It is

insolvent;

3. On July 21, 2017, Heaven Fresh filed a NOI pursuant to s. 50.4 of the Bankrupicy and

Insolvency Act (Canada) (the “BIA”). The Proposal Trustee was appointed as per the NOI;
DIP Facility and DIP Charge

4. In order to finance Heaven Fresh’s restructuring efforts, the DIP Lender has agreed to
provide the DIP Facility in the amount of $100,000 in accordance with the DIP Agreement, on
condition that the DIP Lender be granted a charge over all of Heaven Fresh’s Propetty in priority

to all of Heaven Fresh’ creditors, including secured creditors;

5. Heaven Fresh seeks the Court’s approval and authorization to enter into the DIP
Agreement to permit it to receive the necessary financing in the hope of being able to preserve its
business as a going concern, which would provide the greatest value and therefore the greatest

recovery for its creditors;
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6. Approval of the DIP Facility will permit Heaven Fresh fo commence the SISP for the
benefit of ifs stakeholders and thus enhance the likelihood of Heaven Fresh being able to make a

viable proposal;

7. No creditor will be materially prejudiced by the approval of the DIP Facility and the
granting of the DIP Charge, as creditor recoveries would likely be lower in the case of a

bankruptcy / liquidation;

8. The Proposal Trustee supports the approval of the DIP Facility and the granting of the
DIP Charge and has filed with the Court its report commenting on the necessity and

appropriateness of the DIP Facility;
Approval of the SISP

9. Heaven Fresh seeks approval of the SISP for the purpose of conducting a process
whereby it will seek investors for its business or offers to purchase ifs business, either as a going

concern or on an asset sale basis;

10.  Heaven Fresh intends to immediately commence the SISP, which will be overseen by the
Proposal Trustee, and which will help identify the best opportunities in the circumstances for

maximizing value and recoveries for all of Heaven Fresh’s stakeholders;

11.  The Proposal Trustee supports the proposed SISP and has stated in its report filed with
this Court that, in its opinion, the SISP would be more beneficial to the stakeholders than a sale

or disposition in a bankruptcy;
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12. Heaven Fresh has already engaged in discussions with possible strategic bidders/
purchasers, including the DIP Lender, and it appears that there is interest in Heaven Fresh’s

business;
Extension of Stay Proceedings

13, Pursuant to the BiA, all enforcement proceedings against ITeaven Fresh are now stayed

for 30 days commencing July 21, 2017. The stay of proceedings is therefore set to expire on

August 20, 2017,

14, An extension of the stay of proceedings is necessary to permit Heaven Fresh and the
Proposal Trustee to commence and administer the SISP, and return to court for the approval of

any agreements that may arise out of that process;

15.  No creditor will be materially prejudiced if an extension of the time within which the

proposal may be filed is granted.

16.  Heaven Fresh has acted at all times and continues to act in good faith and with due
diligence, and in particular, by bringing this motion to advance the process as quickly as possible

and for the benefit of all its stakeholders;

17. The requested extension will enhance Heaven Fresh’s ability to make a viable proposal to

its creditors. The Proposal Trustee supports the requested extension;

18.  If the extension is not granted, the alternative will be a bankruptcy and liquidation which

will likely result in reduced recoveries available for creditors;
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19.  The Commercial List E-Service Protocol will make the process of notifying creditors and

providing service of court materials more efficient from a cost and time standpoint; and
20.  Sections 50(1), 50.4(9), 50.6, 64.2 and 65.13, 187(12) of the BIA, as amended;

21. Rules 3.02 and 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, RR.O. 1990, Reg. 194, as

amended;

22, The Commercial List E-Service Protocol in order to increase efficiency and permit all

those who are entitled to notice of these proceedings to receive notice on a timely basis; and,

23.  Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may

permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

motion:
(a) the Affidavit of Imran Bashir, sworn July 27, 2017;
(b)  the Report of the Proposal Trustee; and,

(c}  such further and other materiais as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court

permit.
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July 31, 2017
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Court File No. 32-2274873
Estate File No. 32-2274873

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(IN BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY)

BETWEEN:

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION
TO MAKE A PROPOSAL OF HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

AFFIDAVIT OF IMRAN BASHIR

(Approval of DIP, SISP, Stay Extension
returnable Aungust 4, 2017}

I, IMRAN BASHIR, of the City of Mississauga, in the Province of Ontario, DO

SOLEMNLY AFFIRM:

1. I am the President of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (“Heaven Fresh” or the “Company”™),
and as such, I have knowledge, information and belief of the matters to which are hereinafter
deposed. Where statements are based upon information and belief, I so state and indicate the
source of the information and the reason for my belief, and verily believe them to be true. To the
extent that any of the information and belief set out in this affidavit is based on my review of

documents, [ verily believe the information in such documents to be true.

2, This affidavit 1s sworn in support of Heaven Fresh’s motion for an order substantially in

the form attached at Tab 3 to the Motion Record, and in particular:
(a) if necessary, abridging the time for, and validating the service of the Notice of
Motion and the Motion Record and dispensing with service on any other person

other than those served;
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(b)  declaring that the Commercial List E-Service Protocol applies to the within
proceeding and permitting service of any documents herein by e-mail, in

accordance therewith;

(©) authorizing Heaven Fresh to enter into, and approving, an interim financing
agreement (the “DIP Agreement”) between Heaven Fresh and Danby Products
Limited (the “DIP Lender”), whereby the DIP Lender Will provide Heaven Fresh
with an interim financing facility (the “DIP Facility”) in the maximum amount of
$100,000.00, and granting a super-priority charge against all of Heaven Fresh’s
property, assets and undertakings (the “Property™) as security for Heaven Fresh’s
obligations in respect of the DIP Facility in favour of the DIP Lender (the “DIP

Charge™);

(d)  approving a Sale and Investor Solicitation Process (the “SISP™), in the form
attached as Exhibit “L” to my affidavit, with such non-material amendments or

- muodifications as Heaven Fresh or the Proposal Trustee may consider appropriate,

and authorizing Heaven Fresh in consultation with the Proposal Trustee to take

steps to immediately implement the SISP; and,

(e) extending the stay of proceedings effective July 21, 2017, upon the filing of the

NOI, to October 4, 2017.

3. On July 21, 2017, Heaven Fresh filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal (“NOI”)
under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the “BI4™). MNP Lid. was appointed as

proposal trustee (“Proposal Trustee™). Attached hereto and marked as Exhibits “A” and “B”




12

-3

to this affidavit, respectively, are copies of the Certificate of Filing of a Notice of Intention to

Make a Proposal and the NOI that was filed.
Overview

4, Heaven Fresh is a small, closely held corporation that is in the business of marketing and
distributing household comfort appliances including air and water purifiers, humidifiers, and

food and juice machines. It sells its products online and via authorized dealers.

3. Heaven Fresh was incorporated pursuant to the Ontario Business Corporations Act on
May 31, 2004. Its registered head office is located at 1600 Aimco Blvd., Suite 5, Mississauga,
Ontario, LAW 1V1. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “C” to this affidavit is a copy of

Heaven Fresh’s Corporate Profile Report.

6. The Corporate Profile Report indicates that Heaven Fresh’s directors and officers are
Mohammad Kamal Anwar, Azam Mohammad Gondal, Taoufik Lahrache and myself. As a
result of its financial difficulties, Heaven Fresh no longer has any active employees. In fact, all

of the Company’s employees were terminated prior to the {iling of the NOI.

7. Further, Heaven Fresh no longer operétes out of its own separate business premises as it
did before. It recently moved its product inventory and other assets into a warehouse, pursuant
to a Warchousing Services Agreement with the DIP Lender. Attached hereto and marked as

Exhibit “D” to this affidavit is a copy of the Warehouse Services Agreement.

8. Over the past several years, Heaven Fresh has struggled to perform in the Canadian
market. It is now insolvent. In particular, Heaven Fresh suffered net losses for 2015 and 2016 of

$253,380.00 and $172,229.00, respectively, and also experienced negative cash flows over the
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past two years. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “E” and “F” to this affidavit,
respectively, are the unaudited financial statements for Heaven Fresh for the years ending June

30,2015 and 2016.

9. In my view, Heaven Fresh encountered financial difficulties because the business was
undercapitalized, and accordingly, was not able to grow to the scale where it could become
profitable. The Company also invested heavily in research and development (“R&D™), which
reduced the pool of funds Heaven Fresﬁ had available to it to carry on ifs core business. The
R&D turned out being a larger financial undertaking than Heaven Fresh expected, and

consequently, it suffered financially.

10.  Ihave been advised by Heaven Fresh’s legal counsel, Mervyn D. Abramowitz of Blaney
McMurtry LLP, that the Commercial List provides for parties to serve documents via email. As
Heaven Fresh has limited time and resources, and in order to increase efficiency and permit all
those who are entitled to notice of these proceedings to receive notice on a timely basis, we
hereby request that the Commercial List E-Service Protocol (the “Protocol”) be approved in this
proceeding, permitting Heaven Fresh, and any other interested person, to serve any required

documents via electronic mail as set out in the Protocol.
Assets

1l. As noted in the ﬁnanciai statements, as at June 30, 2016, Heaven Fresh had total assets
valued at $845,551.00. The assets were a combination of accounts receivable, inventory,

intellectual property and amounts due from related parties.

13
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12. Heaven Fresh’s intellectual property is one of its key and valuable assets. The
intellectual property includes internally generated software for Heaven Fresh’s new product
offerings, permitting many of Heaven Fresh’s products to be connected to and controllable via

the Internet.

13, We have already received expressions of interest in respect of our intellectual property, as

many people sce the Internet-connected appliances as part of the future.

14, Unfortunately, Heaven Fresh’s financial position is such that it cannot afford to exploit

the technology in a profitable manner.

15.  The accounts receivable are relatively minor and the amounts due from related parties,
though larger, are largely uncollectible.  This is so because the related corporations are in other
jurisdictions, and they simply do not have the assets to support the ability to repay the amounts

initially loaned to them by Heaven Fresh.

Liabilities

16.  As at the date of filing, Heaven Fresh had total liabilitiecs of approximately
$1,227,277.42. Pursuant to the NOI, the list of creditors with claims of $250.00 totalled
$1,217,277.42, After the date of filing, it was discovered that a further $10,000.00 was omitted
from the NOI due to oversight. As noted in the financial statements, as at June 30, 2016, Heaven

Fresh had total liabilities in the amount of $914,224.00.
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Secured Creditors

17. T have been advised by Sheldon Title of the Proposal Trustee that the Proposal Trustee
conducted searches of the Personal Property Security Registration System in the province of
Ontario in respect of registrations under thé Personal Property Security Act (“PPSA™).
Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “G” is a copy of the PPSA search results in respect of

Heaven Fresh, current as at June 7, 2017 (the “PPSA Report™).

18.  The PPSA Report reveals that the Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC”), Thinking Capital and
Ricoh Canada Inc. (“Ricoh™) have each registered financing statements against Heaven Fresh.
Both RBC and Thinking Capital entered into lending agreements with Heaven Fresh, while

Ricoh provided Heaven Fresh with an office printer.
Secured Indebtedness to RBC, Thinking Capital and Ricoh

19.  RBC and Heaven Fresh entered into a revolving credit facility in the amount of $100,000
pursuant to a Business Banking Loan Agreement dated June 4, 2014 (the “RBC Loan™). The
interest rate is the RBC Prime Rate plus three percent (3%) per annum payable monthly.
Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “II” to this affidavit is a copy of the RBC Loan

agreement.

20.  As security for the RBC Loan, Heaven Fresh executed a General Security Agreement
wherein it granted RBC a security interest in all of assets as collateral. It appears that RBC
registered a financing statement in respect of its security under the PPS4. The RBC Loan still

remains payable in full.
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21.  Thinking Capital also agreed to provide Heaven Fresh with a loan in the amount of
$141,669, in one advance, on a non-revolving basis, for a term of twelve (12) months at an
interest rate of 18.46% (the “Thinking Capital Loan™). Attached hercto and marked as Exhibit
“I” to this affidavit is a copy of the Thinking Capital Loan agreement. My understanding is that

the amount owing to Thinking Capital is in and around $82,000.

22.  Heaven Fresh also granted a security interest to Thinking Capital in all of Heaven Fresh’s
present and after-acquired personal property, as security for the Thinking Capital Loan, and it

appears that Thinking Capital also registered a financing statement under the PPSA.

23. It also appears that Ricoh registered a financing statement in respect of a printer that

Heaven Fresh leased from them.

24.  Heaven Fresh intends to contact each of the parties who registered financing statements
under the PPSA to give them notice of the fact that we are seeking interim financing and an order
that the interim financing loan amount be granted priority over each of the interests of those

creditors who have registered their interests under the PPSA4.

Extension of Stay of Proceedings

25.  The proposal process was only recently commenced. However, it is clear that Heaven
Fresh requires more time than the 30 days provided under the initial stay of proceedings to
continue with its restructuring efforts and its efforts to preserve the business on a going concern
basis for the benefit of all stakeholders, and to be able to formulate and file a viable proposal.

Without the extension, the stay of proceedings will expire on August 20, 2017.
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26.  In my view, it is more likely that Heaven Fresh will be able to make a viable proposal if
the extension of time requested is granted. More particularly, an extension of the stay will
permit Heaven Fresh to undertake and implement the SISP, which is described in greater detail

below,

27.  Without the extension, Heaven Fresh will likely not be in a position to make a viable
proposal to its creditors and will likely become bankrupt, forcing a liquidation of its assets. In
my view, this can only be to the detriment of the creditors and indeed all of Heaven Fresh’s

stakeholders.

28. I am not aware of any creditor that would be materially prejudiced if the extension being
applied for is granted. I am also not aware of anyone who objects to or is likely to object to the

proposed extension.

29.  Since the date of the filing of the NOI, Heaven Fresh has been acting in good faith and
with due diligence, and continues to act in this manner in its relations with customers, suppliers

and in pursuing a restructuring plan,

30. I am also advised by Mr. Title that the Proposal Trustee supports the requested stay

extension and the other relief sought in this motion,
DIP Facility and DIP Charge

31.  Due to the current liquidity challenges, and as demonstrated in the Cash Flow Forecast
(as defined below), Heaven Fresh requires interim financing to provide stability, continue

operations on a going concern basis, look to restructure its business and commence the SISP.
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32, Without the interim financing, Heaven Fresh will not be able to proceed with the
proposal process herein, and will simply be forced to make an assignment in bankruptcy or face

a deemed assignment in bankruptcy in the very short term.

33.  With the assistance of the Proposa} Trustee, Heaven Fresh prepared a consolidated cash
flow forecast for the time period commencing July 21, 2017 through to October 13, 2017 (the
“Cash Flow Forecast”). The assumptions made in the Cash Flow Forecast are both reasonable
accurate. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “J” to this affidavit is a copy of the Cash Flow

Forecast.

34.  The Cash Flow Forecast demonstrates that Heaven Fresh requires additional funds to
enable it to carry on business during the restructuring process and to fund the SISP, working

capital and the administrative costs of these proceedings.

35.  The DIP Lender has agreed to provide interim, debtor-in-possession financing (“DIP
Financing”) to Heaven Fresh, up to a maximum amount of $100,000, subject to certain
cqnditions, including Heaven Fresh obtaining an Order in this NOI Proceeding granting the DIP
Charge priority over all other security interests and encumbrances. Attached hereto and marked

as Exhibit “K?” to this affidavit is a copy of the proposed DIP Agreement,

36.  The key terms of the DIP Agreement are:
(a)  principal amount of $100,000, on a non-revolving basis;
(b) repayable on demand and in accordance with the terms of any court order within
these BI4 proceedings;

(©) a commitment fee of $1,000; and
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(d)  interest at a rate of 6% per annum, payable in cash, in advance, and compounded
monthly.

37.  The funds available under the DIP Agreement will be used to meet Heaven Fresh’s

funding requirements during the probosai proceedings in accordance with the Cash Flow

Forecast, including payments to suppliers, for professional fees and other costs and expenses in

connection with these proceedings.

38.  In my view, and based upon the advice of the Proposal Trustee, the terms of the DIP
Agreement and loan are quite reasonable in the circumstances and we therefore ask that the DIP

Agreement and DIP Charge be approved.

39, As noted, in the absence of the DIP Financing, Heaven Fresh will not be able to conduct
the SISP and will be forced to immediately cease all operations and commence a liquidation of

its assets.

40. 1 also understand the Proposal Trustee supports the approval of the DIP Agreement and

the granting of the DIP Charge.

41. Furthermore, to my knowledge, neither RBC nor Thinking Capital, or any other creditor
will be materially prejudiced by the approval of the DIP Facility and the granting of the DIP
Charge. In fact, it appears that the likelihood of enhanced recoveries arising out of the SISP will

benefit the creditors, including the secured creditors.
Approval of the SISP

42.  Heaven Fresh, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee, and subject to the approval of

this Court, developed the SISP for the purpose of conducting a sale and investor solicitation




20

-11 -

process of its business as a going concern. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “L” to this

afftdavit is a copy of the SISP.

43.  The purpose of the SISP is to seek out proposals for the acquisition of, or investment in,
Heaven Fresh’s business and / or Property. The proposed SISP will identify the best

opportunities in the circumstances for maximizing value for Heaven Fresh’s stakeholders.

44.  Heaven Fresh intends to immediately commence the SISP, if approved by this Court,
This will assist to reduce costs, streamline Heaven Fresh’s restructuring proceedings and

enhance the likelihood of maximizing recoveries for all of Heaven Fresh’s stakcholders.

45. T understand that the Proposal Trustee supports the SISP and has stated in its report that
the SISP would be more beneficial to the stakeholders than a sale or disposition of Heaven

Fresh’s assets in a bankruptcy.

46.  Yurthermore, Heaven Fresh has already engaged in discussions with possible strategic
bidders/ purchasers, including a leader in the appliance market. It thus appears that there are

already third parties who may be interested in acquiring the assets of Heaven Fresh.

47.  If approved by the Court, the SISP will be implemented and administered by Heaven

Fresh with oversight from Proposal Trustee.

48.  The following is a summary of the key terms of the SISP and certain material milestones
(any terms not otherwise defined herein, shall have the meaning assigned to such terms in the

SISP):




(2)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(©)
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the SISP will commence within five (5) business days following the date of any
Order approving same (the “SISP Approval Date”),

commencing immediately after the SISP Approval Date, the Proposal Trustee
shall, on behalf of the Company, cdnta_ct such initial parties previously identified
by the Company as potential purchasers of the business and / or the Property of
the Company (ér known to have expressed such an interest) and advise such
parties of the opportunity to acquire the business and / or the Property (the
“Opportunity”), and distribute “teaser” documentation to other parties identified
as potentially interested parties with respect to the Opportunity;

shortly following the SISP Approval Date, the Proposal Trustee will prepare and
publish an advertisement in the Globe and Mail newspaper;

the Proposal Trustee will circulate and seek executed confidentiality agreements
(“Confidentiality Agreements”) from interested parties who wish to undertake
due diligence in respect of the opportunity. Following the execution of the
Confidentiality Agreements, the Proposal Trustee will provide prospective
purchasers or investors with a confidential information memorandum prepared by
the Company with the assistance of the Proposal Trustee, describing the Property
and the Opportunity, access to an electronic data room (the “Data Room™), and
an opportunity to conduct site visits by prospective purchasers or investors, if
requested,;

the deadline for prospective purchasers to submit a bid in accordance with the
Agreement of Purchase and Sale will be thirty (30) days from the commencement

of the SISP (the “Bid Deadline”). All prospective purchasers will be required to
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submit along with their bid a deposit in an amount equal to fifteen percent (15%)
of the aggregate purchase price by way of bank draft or certified cheque;

3] Heaven Fresh, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee will evaluate all bids
received, and will determine which bid is the most favourable and will notify the
successful party that it has been selected as having the most favourable bid (the
“Winning Bidder”),

(g) upon the selection of the Winning Bidder, a binding agreement of purchase and
sale will be negotiated and concluded between the Winning Bidder and Heaven
Fresh. Prospective purchasers with unaccepted bids will be notified and their
deposits returned;

(h)  Heaven Fresh will thereafter promptly bring a motion to the Court for an order
approving the agreement of purchase and sale between the Winning Bidder and
Heaven Fresh (the “Winning APA”) and to vest title to the Property in the
Winning Bidder; and,

(i) If the Court approves the Winning APA and the transaction of purchase and sale
based upon it, the closing of the transaction will take place within seven (7)
business days following the expiry of any appeal period in connection with any

order that may be granted by the Court.

Conclusion

49.  In my view, the order sought herein is in the best interests of Heaven Fresh and all of its
stakeholders, as it maximizes the likelihood of obtaining the greatest value for Heaven Fresh’s

business and Property.
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50.  Without the requested relief, Heaven Fresh faces bankruptcy and a liquidation of its
assets. This would not be in the best interests of Heaven Fresh’s stakeholders and as a result, we

hereby request that the Court grant the relief sought in the Notice of Motion.

AL E et

SWORN BEFORE ME
at the City of Toronto,

in the Province of Ontario ,
on July 27, 2017.

A Commg/sfv,’iorﬁawféi‘”‘l’akii’gg Affidavis, IMRAN BASHIR
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This is Exhibit “A” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017
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Industry Canada Industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent  Bureau du surintendant
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada

District of Ontario

Division No. 09 - Mississauga

Court No. 32-2274873

Estate No. 32-2274873

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a
proposal of:

Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
insolvent Person

MNP LTD / MNP LTEE
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Nofice of Intention: July 21, 2017

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPQOSAL
Subsection 50.4 {1

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the aforenamed

insclvent person filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Aci.

Pursuant lo subsection 69(1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of
the dale of filing of the Notice of Intention.

Date: July 21, 2017, 10:23
.E-File/Dépodt Electronique Official Recelver

Federal Building - Hamilton, 55 Bay Street N, 9th Floor, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, L8R3P7, (877)376-9902
(B ]

Canadi
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This is Exhibit “B” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir

sworn before me, this
27" day of July, 2017

S

Commissioner,For Taking Affidavits
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District of: Ontario
Division No. 04 - Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No.
- - FORM 33 -
Nolice of intention To Make 2 Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1} of the Act)

In the matfler of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario

Take notice that:

1. We, Heaven Fresh Canada Ing., an insolven! person, stale, pursuant to subsection 50. 4{ ) of the Act, that we intend to make a
proposal to my creditors. :

2, MNP LTD. of 300~ 111Richmond Street West, Toronto, ON, MSH 2G4, a licensed trustee, has consented 1o act as trustee under
the proposal A copy of the consent is attached.

3. Alist of the names of the known creditors with daims of $250 or more and the amoumts of their claims is also attached

4 Pursuant Io section 69 of the Adt, all prcceedmgs agamst us are stayed as of the date of filing of this notive with the official

receiver in our localily,

Dated at the City of Toronta in lhe_Pronnce of .Oniario, this 21st day of July 2017.

—

Heaven Fresh Canada mb.
Insolvent Person

To be completed by Official Recelver:

Filing Date ' ' Official Receiver
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District of: Ontario

Division No. 08 - Mississauga

- Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33-
Notice of Infention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Acl)
In the mafter of the proposal of
Heaven Frash Canada Inc.
of the City of Misslssauga
In the Province of Ontario
List of Creditors with clalms of $250 or more.
Creditor Addrass Account# Claim Amount
Alive Pro 126 Upper Post Rd 2231479
Vaughan ONLBA 4)9
Alissen Aliance Box 743481, - 5,284.56
LosAngeles CA 90074-3461 :
RDC 4310 Sherwoodiowne Blvd. # 100 36213 223,434.00
Mississauga ON L4Z 4C4
- |Commerce Hub 23736 Natwork Place 536,38
: Chicago I 60873-1257
|Danby 5070 Whitelaw Rd \Box 1778 108475.13
Guelph ON N1H 628
Delmat £399 Cantay Rd 85932t 10RMO001 254.20
Misslssauga ON LER 0G4 :
DHL 18 Parkshora Dr 287394 1,200.57
Brampton ON LBT 5M1
Future Mgmt 176-4-5694 Hwy 7 € 918.46
Markham ON L3P 1B4
Gloty Plaza 1 1758 Halifax St 35,000.00
. Regina SK S$4P 172
Greatest Dragon . 8 Java Road, Norfh point, HONG KONG, 245,542.57
Huron 4311 Village Cir Court Sulle 201 1,163.90
Missiszauga ON L4Z 152
Imran Bashir 303 Pinetroe Way. 2.949.00
: Mississauga ON L5B 2R4
Indoor Purification Sysiems 334 N. Marshall Way, Suite C 189,869.89
Laylon UT B4041
Javaid Khan 124 Mountainberry Rd ,834.00
: Brampton. ON L8R 2L.7 ‘
Lodestar 1155 Appleby Line Unit E4 570.40
. Burlington ON L7H 5H9

Page 2 of4




Distriet of: Ontarlo
‘Division No. (9- Mississauga
Court No. ' :
Estata No, :
' - FORM 33~ _
* Notice of Intenlion To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario
List of Creditors with claims of §250 or more.
* Creditor © Address Accountt Claim Amount
Master Card Box 4016, Sin A {2} G456 and 6464 4,568.91
o Toronto ON MGW 2E6
RBC CANADA 25 Miverton Drive 10184¢" 14,010.66
: : ' Mississauga ON LER 3{32
RBC Line of Cradi 38 York bills Rd_4th Floor 677309320001 100,000.00
I Totonto ON M2P 0A4 _
Seyed Miri 3555 Don Mills Raad Unit 18—107 20,000.00
Toronto ON M3M 1H6
Shanhai Neo Tec 4501 Hu Qing Ping Hfghway, Hong Cheng Zone 17,075.76
. _ Shanghal, Ghina °
Sibar Cireuits - 145 Riviera Dr, Units 2,3,4 1,084.80
' | Markham ONL3R5J6
- | Softech Systems 9585 L phase 3 Jobar Town 24,734.74
: _ Lahore, Pakistan 547?0
{T D Canada Trust . 1500 Ellesmers 0239-5211274 9.874.02
o -Scarborough ON MH 2v8
Tarig Malik 2087 Eringate Bivd 6,000.00
o 2087 EringGate Blivd
. Pickering ON L1V 2v4
_ | Thinking Capital 4200 Bivd Dorchester 82,013.95
' Montreal QC H3Z 1V4
\isa 1842 Box 4046, StnA - . .2(13423:;8163) 14,066.50
_ Toronto ON M5W 2E6 _
Visa1867 Hox 4016, Stn A 2(1867)(8148) 3.913.01
' - Toronto ON MoW 2E6 '
IWells Fargo Box87625tn A, 5AT8-0203-0393-2883 39,966.38
- Toronlo ON M5W X5
Wires Law 1600-2300 Yonge St 826,84
: Toronie ON MAP 1E4
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District of: Ontaro

Divislon No. 09~ Mississauga

Court No.
Estats No.
- FORM 33~
Notice of intention To Make a Proposal
{Subssction 50.4() of the Act)
_ Inthe matter of the proposal of
Heaven Frash Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
- Creditor Address Accountd Claim Amount
Xlaoging Sheng - | $70 Esna Park br 8,321.00
: Mississauga ON L3R 1E3
Zhaohui Tang 170 Esna Park Dr 9,321.00
: Mississauga ON L3R 1E3
Tota! 1,217,217.42

ébs\@z\_
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Heaveri Fresh Canadainc,
Insolvent Person
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This is Exhibit “C” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017
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Request ID:
Category IB: UN/E

020448039
Transaction ID: 64953612

Province of Ontario
Ministry of Government Services

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number

1620421

Corporation Type

ONTARIO BUSINESS CORP.

Registered Office Address

1600 AIMCO BLVD

Suite #5
MISSISSAUGA
ONTARIO
CANADA L4W 1V{

Mailing Address

1600 AIMCO BLVD

Suite#5
MISSISSAUGA
ONTARIO
CANADA L4W 1V1

Activity Classification

NOT AVAILABLE

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Corporation Status

ACTIVE

Number of Directors

Minimun:

00001

Maximum

00005

Date Report Produced: 2017/07/04
Time Report Produced: 15:44:15

Pags:

Date Amalgamated

NOT APPLICABLE

New Amal. Number

NOT APPLICABLE

Revival Date

NOT APPLICABLE

Transferred Qut Date

NOT APPLICABLE

EP Licence Eff.Date
NOT APPLICABLE

Date Commenced
in Ontario

NOT APPLICABLE

1

Incorporation Date
2004/05/31
Jurisdiction
ONTARIO

Former Jurisdiction
NOT APPLICABLE
Amalgamation Ind.
NOT APPLICABLE
Notice Date

NOT APPLICABLE
l.etter Date

NOT APPLICABLE
Continuation Date
NOT APPLICABLE
Cancel/lnaciive Date
NOT APPLICABLE

EP Licence Term.Date
NOT APPLICABLE

Date Ceased
in Ontario

NOT APPLICABLE
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Request [D: 020448039 Province of Ontario
Transaction ID: 64953612
Category ID:  UN/E

Ministry of Government Services

Date Repart Produced: 2017/07/04
Time Report Produced:

Page:

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number

1620421

Corporate Name History

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Current Business Name(s) Exist:

Expired Business Name(s) Exist:

Administrator:
Name {Individual / Carporation)

MOHAMMAD

KAMAL

ANWAR

Date Began First Director
2004/05/31 NOT APPLICABLE
Designation Officer Type

OFFICER SECRETARY

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Effective Date
2004/05/31

YES
NO

Address

11 ANTRIM CRES

Suite # 508
SCARBOROUGH
ONTARIO

CANADA M1P 4P3

Resident Canadian

15:44:15
2
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Request 1D: 020448039
Transaction 1D 64953612
Category ID:  UN/E

Province of Ontario
Ministry of Government Services

Date Report Produced: 2017/07/04
Time Report Produced: 15:44:15
Page: 3

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number

1620421

Administrator:
Name (Individual f Corporation}

MOHAMMAD

KAMAL
ANWAR

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual f Corporation}

MOHAMMAD

KAMAL
ANWAR

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation '

OFFICER

First Director
NOT APPLICABLE

Officer Type

First Director

NOT APPLICABLE
Officer Type
TREASURER

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Address

11 ANTRIM CRES
Suite #911
SCARBOROUGH

ONTARIO
CANADA M1P 4P3

Resident Canadian

Y

Address

11 ANTRIM CRES
Suite # 911
SCARBOROUGH

ONTARIO
CANADA M1P 4P3

Resident Canadian

Y
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Request ID: 020448039
Transaction ID: 64953612
Category ID: UN/E

Province of Ontario
Ministry of Government Services

Date Repart Produced:
Time Report Produced:
Page:

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number

1620421

Administrator:
Name {Individual f Corporation)

IMRAN
BASHIR

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation)

IMRAN
BASHIR

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation

OFFICER

First Director
NOT APPLICABLE

Officer Type

First Director

NOT APPLICABLE
Officer Type
PRESIDENT

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Address

80 ALTON TOWERS CR
Suite # 2005
SCARBOROUGH

ONTARIO
CANADA M1V 5E8

Resident Canadian

Y

Address

80 ALTON TOWERS CR

Suite # 2005
SCARBOROUGH
ONTARIO

CANADA M1V 5E8

Resident Canadian

35
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Request ID: 020448039
Transaction 1D 64953612
Category ID:  UN/E

Province of Ontaric

Ministry of Government Services

36

Date Report Produced: 2017/57/04

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number

1620421

Administrator:
Name {Individua! ! Corporation)

MOHAMMAD
AZAM
GONDAL

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation

DIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individuat / Corporation)

MOHAMMAD
AZAM
GONDAL

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation

OFFICER

First Director
NOT APPLICABLE

Officer Type

First Director

NOT APPLICABLE
Officer Type
GENERAL MANAGER

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Address

73 MAJOR OAKS BRIVE

BRAMPTON
ONTARIO
CANADA LBV 3Kt

Resident Canadian

Y

Address

73 MAJCOR OAKS DRIVE

BRAMPTON
ONTARIO
CANADA L6V 3K1

Resident Canadian

Y

Time Repont Produced: 15:44:15
Page:

5




Request ID: 020448039
Transaction ID: 64853612
Category ID:  UN/E

Province of Ontario

Ministry of Government Services

Date Report Produced: 2017/07/04
Time Report Produced:

Page:

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number

1620421

Administrator:
Name (Individua! / Corporation)

AZAM

MOHAMMAD
GONDAL

Daie Began
2004/05/31
Designation

BIRECTOR

Administrator:
Name (Individual / Corporation)

AZAM

MOHAMMAD
GONDAL

Date Began
2004/05/31
Designation

OFFICER

First Director
NOT APPLICABLE

Officer Type

First Director

NOT APPLICABLE
Officer Type
TREASURER

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Address

115 BAYRIDGE DR

BRAMPTON
ONTARIO
CANADA L6P 2N7

Resident Canadian

Y

Address

115 BAYRIDGE DR

BRAMPTON
ONTARIO
CANADA LGP 2N7

Resident Canadian

15:44:15
6
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Request ID: 020448039
Transaction |D: 64953612
Category ID:  UN/E

Province of Ontario
Ministry of Government Services

Date Report Produced: 2017/07/04
Time Report Produced: 15:44:15
Page: 7

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontaric Corp Number

1620421

Administrator:
Name {Individua! / Corporation)

TAOUFIK

LAHRACHE

Date Began First Director

2004/05/31 NOT APPLICABLE
. Designation Officer Type

OFFICER TREASURER

Administrator:
Name {Individual ! Corporation)

TAOUFIK

LAHRACHE

Date Began First Director
2004/05/31 NOT APPLICABLE
Designation QOfficer Type
DIRECTOR

Corporation Name

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Address

5200 N QAKVIEW STREET
Suite # 1E
CHICAGO

ILLINOIS
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 60856

Resident Canadian

N

Address

1153 WEST WASHBURNE ST
Suite # 301
CHICAGO

ILLINOIS
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 60608

Resident Canadian

N
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Request [D: 020448039 Pravince of Ontaric Date Report Produced: 2017/67/04
Transaction [D: 64953612 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 15:44:15
Category ID:  UN/E Page: 8

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporation Name

1620421 HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Administrator:

Name (Individural / Corporation} Address
TACUFIK

1153 WEST WASHBURNE ST
LAHRACHE

Suite # 301

CHICAGO

ILLINOIS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 60608
Date Began First Director
2004/05/31 NOT APPLICABLE
Designaticn Officer Type Resldent Canadian

OFFICER GENERAL MANAGER




Request ID: 020448039 Province of Ontaric Date Report Produced: 2017/07/04
Transaction [D: 64953612 Ministry of Government Services Time Report Produced: 15:44:15
Category ID:  UN/E Page: 9

CORPORATION PROFILE REPORT

Ontario Corp Number Corporafion Name

1620421 HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Last Document Recorded
Act/Code Description Form Date

CIA ANNUAL RETURN 2016 1C 2016/11/13 (ELECTRONIC FILING)

THIS REPORT SETS QUT THE MOST RECENT INFCRMATION FILED BY THE CORPORATION ON OR AFTER JUNE 27, 1 92, AND REGORDED
IN THE ONTARIO BUSINESS INFORMATION SYSTEM AS AT THE DATE AND TIME OF PRINTING, ALL PERSONS WHO ARE RECORDED AS
CURRENT DIRECTORS OR QOFFICERS ARE INCLUDED IN THE LIST OF ADMINISTRATORS.

ADDITIONAL HISTORICAL INFORMATION MAY EXIST CN MICROFICHE.

The tssuance of this report in electronic form is authorized by the Ministry of Government Services.
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This is Exhibit “D” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017

-
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Confidential

WAREHOUSING SERVICES AGREEMENT

by and between

HeavenFresh Canada Inc,
and

Danby Products Limited

Page 1

Page L of 11
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This Warehousing Agreement is made and entered into by and between

HeavenFresh Canada Inc. (“[HeavenFresh]”), a company duly incorporated and organized
under the laws of Ontario, with a place of business at 5-1600 Aimco Blvd, Mississauga, ON
L4W 1V1.

AND

Danby Products Limited, a company duly incorporated and organized under the laws of
Ontario and having its principal office at 5070 Whitelaw Road, Guelph, ON NIH 6Z9
("Danby").

Recitals

WHEREAS, HeavenFresh is supplier and engaged in the innovation, design,
development, and sale of Air Purifiers, Humidifiers, Juicers and related products.
HeavenFresh is also a distributor for other small appliances through their Redmond Noxth
American distribution deal.

WHEREAS, HeavenFresh has agreed to utilize the Danby Products Limited warehouse
for storage and order folfilment.

NOW, THEREFQORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual agreements
hereinafter set forth, HeavenFresh and the Danby agree as follows:

1. Befinitions

Whenever used in this Agreement {(which term is deemed to include the Exhibits
hereto) the following terms and expressions shall, to the extent the context does
not require otherwise, have the following meaning:

1.1 "Agreement” means this Warehousing Services Agreement by and between
HeavenFresh and the Danby as it may be amended from time to time in
accordance with the terins set forth herein.

1.2 "Product(s)" means the products described in Exhibit 1, which is attached hereto

and incorporated herein by this reference, and such other products as the parties
may agree to add to Exhibit | from time to time.

Confidential Page 2 Page 2 of 11
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2.1

22

31

32

Grant and Scope

HeavenFresh hereby appoints Danby Products Limiled to perform warehousing
services on HeavenFresh’s behalf,  These services will include receiving
inventory, storage of inventory, and pick, pack and shipment of producis to
HeavenFresh's customers as HeavenFresh directs.  Authorization to ship out
product will be provided on an order by order basis from the HeavenFresh duly
appointed representative.

HeavenFresh shall provide Danby with the assistance necessacy to allow such
Distributor to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

Products

The Products are designed and manufactured In accordance with all applicable
laws and regulations as represented by HeavenFresh.

In furtherance of the initiation of this warehousing & services agreement,
HeavenFresh will provide Danby with an initial shipment of inventory as set
forth in Schedule “*” (the “Initial Inventory”). The Initial Inventory will be
physically transferred to Danby’s warehouses at 5070 Whitelaw Road, Guelph,
ON, N1H 6Z9, free of transport and shipping costs, within one week of this
Agreement, Danby will hold the Initial Inventory and use this Initial lnventory to
ship orders placed by customers in the Territories. HeavenFresh represents and
warrants that the Initial Inventory will be in good and working condition, fit for
its purpose and be of merchantable quality, and comply with all applicable laws
and regulatory requirements applicabie to its marketing, sale, installation and use.
HeavenFresh further wartants that it will provide the Initial Inventory with good
and marketable title free and clear of all liens and encumbrances and that
Distributor in each Territory will be able to convey same to its customers without
testriction or liability. HeavenFresh will indemnify and save Danby harmiess
from and against any damages, liabilities or claims arising from any breach by
HeavenFresh of its representations and warranties hereunder.

It is agreed that in respect of any orders fulfilled that draw down Initial Inventory,

Danby will pay HeavenFresh within on or before the 15th day of the following month,
or if such day is not a business day the next following business day. For example, for
an order placed on June 10th, 2017, Distributor will pay HeavenFresh on or before
July 17, 2017 (July 15" and 16" being weekend days). Such payment shall be made
to the order of or as directed by HeavenFresh by wire transfer or other means
acceptable to the parties as agreed in writing from time to time. Until the Initial
Inventory is sold, Distributor will charge HeavenFresh a storage fee of $1.50 per unit
per month. This charge will be settled via payment from HeavenFresh to Danby with
Net 15 day terms. If invoices are not paid, Danby has the right to sell existing
HeavenFresh inventory to settle unpaid warehousing and service fee invoices.

Confidential

Page 3 Page 3 of 11
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Orders

5.1

52

6.

Any orders for sales that HeavenFresh receives will be forwarded to Danby, and
are only accepied when confirmed in writing by Danby. These orders will be
then picked, packed and shipped as per the order details. For single unit orders,
HeavenFresh wili reimburse Danby a fee of $5.00 per order for picking and
packing the order and reimburse the full cost of shipping costs. For multiple item
shipments, HeavenFresh will reimburse Danby a fee of $20 / per order plus $0.50
per unit shipped for picking and packing the order and reimburse the full cost of
shipping costs.

The applicable currency is Canadian Dollars (CDN).

Limited Warranty, Disclaimer and Limitations.

6.1 HeavenFresh warrants that the Product’s material and workmanship of the structure

6.2

comply with legal requirements, technical Specification and declared quality
characteristic in all aspects. The warranty period of all deliverables under this
Agreement shall be 2 year following their delivery to the Distributor, unless the
laws applicable in the country where the Product is sold require a longer war-
ranty period vis-a-vis the Customer. In such case, the longer statutory warranty
period shall applicable vis-a-vis the Customer shail also apply to HeavenFresh

HeavenFresh shall have no obligation under the warranty to prepare or

replace defective components or defective Product units if the defect is a result of any
the following: accidents or catastrophes, improper or unauthorized use or maintenance
of the Products, use of the Products in manner for which they were not designed and
sold, alieration or modification of the Products, uiilization of the Products in
connection with hardware or software items not approved by HeavenFresh

h

7.1

Confidential Information

Each Party to this apreement acknowledges that it will receive confidential
information and trade secrets (the "Confidential Information") from HeavenTresh
in the couwrse of performing this Agreement. The term Confidential Informaticn
shall include all information, data or knowledge (whether in oral, written,
graphic, electronic, machine-readable or other form) related to HeavenFresh’s
business, operations, Products, financial affairs, customers and vendors,
including without limitation, technical data, research, ideas, designs, know-how,
concepts, patent applications, forecasts, customer lists and contacts.

7.2 Confidential Information shall not include any information that is publicly available at

Confidential

the time of disclosure or subsequently becomes publicly available through no
fault of the recipient party or is rightfully acquired by the recipient party from a
third party who is not in breach of an agreement to keep such information
confidential. Confidential Information shall not include any information which is

Page 4 Paged of 11
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disclosed to the Customers by the Distributor in order for the Customers to use
the Products, including technical specifications contained in the user manual.

13 The foregoing obligations shall replace ary previously agreed obligations regarding

secrecy in respect of information relating to the Products and/or this Agreement
and they shall survive the termination of this Agreement and remain valid for a
period of five (5) years after such termination, unless such information shall be
disclosed to the public or shall become public knowiedge other than by breach of
this obligation.

8.. Force Majenre

8.1 Neither HeavenFresh nor Danby shall be liable to the other for any delay or non-

performance of its obligations under the Agreement in the event and to the extent
that such delay or non-performance is due to an event of Force Majeure (as
defined hereinafter).

8.2 Events of Force Majeure are events beyond the control of a party or any of its sub-

contractors that occur after the date of HeavenFresh’s order confirmation referred
to above and which wese not reasonably foreseeable at that time and whose effects
are not capable of being overcome without unreasonable expense and/or loss of
time to the party concerned. Events of Force Majeure shall include (without being
limited to) war, civil unrest, strikes, lockouts and other general labour disputes,
acts of government, natural disasters, exceptional weather conditions, breakdown
or general unavailability of transport facilities, accidents, fire, explosions, and
general shortages of energy and materials.

8.3 A party directly affected by an event of Force Majeure shall lose the right to rely on

the same, unless, promptly after the time when the party became or ought to have
become aware of the occurrence of the event, that party gives the other party
written notice thereof. When the event of Force Majeure has come to an end, the
said other party shall be notified and also, if possible, be informed when any
measure postponed by the event will be effected.

Term of the Apreement

9.1 This Agreement shall enter into force when duly signed by any authorized

a
]

Confidential

representative of HeavenFresh and Distributor and shall remain in force for a
period of 3 years.

This Agreement may be terminated by the Distributor by providing the other
party one hundred and eighty (180) days’ advance written notice. Upon expiration
of the original term of this Agreement, it shall continue from year to year
thereafter with the approval of both parties in writing, and subject to termination
al any time as aforesaid with one hundred and eighty (180) days’ prior written
notice. It shall terminate automaticalty afier the expity of 3 years. The parties shall
start negotiations for a new distribution agreement at the latest 3 months before
the 3 years' period, unless this Agreement has been terminated earlier,

Page 5 Page 50f 11
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Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, this Agreement may be terminated

{a} by either party immediately upon writlen notice if the other party should
become insolvent or enters into negotiations on composition with its
creditors or a petition in bankmptey should be filed by it or it should make
an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or

(b) by cither party irnmediately upon written notice if the other party should
fail to fulfil any of its obligations under this Agreement and such failure is
not remedied within one hundred and eighty (180) days’ from having
received a request for such remedial action from the first party; or

{c} by HeavenPresh immediately upon written notice if the control of
Distributor shall be transferred to any person(s} other than the person{s) in
control of Distributor at the effective date of this Agreement (but
HeavenFresh shall only be entitled to terminate within the peried of one
hundred and eighty (180) days’ after [Rights Owner] shafl have been
notified in writing of the change in controf),

Effects of Termination

10.1 On the termination of this Agreement all rights and obligations of the
parties hereunder shall automatically terminate except:

(a})  for such rights of action as shall have accrned prior to such termination
and any obligation which expressly or by implication are intended to
come into or continue in force on or after such termination; and

(b}  Danby shall be entitled to sell any of its stocks of the Products which have
been fully paid for and which are required to fulfil unperformed contracts
outstanding at the date of termination {and to the extent and for that
purpose the provisions of this Agreement shall continve in effect).

10.2 All orders for undelivered Products shall be automatically

cancelied.

10.3  All outstanding unpaid invoices in respect of the Products shall become
immediately payable in place of the payment terms previously agreed between the
parties,

10,4 In the event of HeavenFresh bankruptey or similar restructuring process,
Danby shall have the right to use the inventory on hand and liquidate the
inventory to settle the offsetting Hability that HeavenFresh owes Danby and will
owe Danby and for services performed under this contract.

Confidential Page 6 Page 6 of 11
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Amendiments

No amendments, changes, revisions or discharges ol this Agreement, in whole or
in part, shall have any force or effect unless set forth in writing and signed by the
parties hereto,

12.Apreement

This Agreement (together with all attachments and exhibits hereto) constitutes the
entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any and all prior proposals,
representations, understandings, and all other agreements between the parties,
whether written or oral, with respect 1o the subject matter hereof. Any purchase
order, order acknowledgement, invoice or other document containing additional
or different terms of conditions shall not have force or effect upon the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and any party receiving such document shall not be
deemed to have accepted said additional or different terms or conditions by its
failure to object thereto.

13. Waiver

Confidential

The failure of either party hereto to insist upon the strict adherence (o any term of
this Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered as a waiver of any right
hereunder nor shall it deprive that party of the right to insist upon the strict
adherence to that term or any other texm of this Agreement at some other time.

Compliance with Law and Supplier Code of Conduct

Each party’s performance under this Agreement will comply with all applicable
laws and regulations, as well as local taws of the Territory and all orders, rules
and regulations therennder, Specifically, Distributor shall conduct business in
compliance with all applicable laws in the Territory and agrees not to make any
payment or giff to government officials or employees in violation of local laws.

Survival of Rights and Obligations

Rights and obligations under this Agreement, which by their nature would
condinue beyond the termination or ending in any other way of this Agreement
shall survive the termination of this Agreement,

Governing Law

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of Ontario, Any
controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or to its breach
shall be settled by arbitration by a single arbitrator, The fee of the arbitrator shall
be split equally between Distributor and HeavenFresh The prevailing party in the

Page 7 Page 7of 11
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atbitration shall be entitled to receive from the other parfy its reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection with any arbitration hereunder.

17. Notices

All notices, requests, demands and other communications required by this
Agreement to be given by either party to the other party shall be forwarded by
registered or certified first class mail, overnight courier sexvice, such as Federal
Express or DHL, or hand delivery and shall be addressed as follows:

If to HeavenFresh, to:

5-1600 Aimco Blvd, Mississauga, ON L4AW 1V1

If to Danby Products Limited ("Distributor for Canada”) or Danby Products Inc.
("Distributor for the US and Mexico") to it at:

5070 Whitelaw Road, Guelph, ON N1H 6Z9.

or to such other address as either party may specify from time to time in writing
to the other. Notices shall have been received or deemed received by the intended
recipient on the date of registered delivery, or upon signed receipts for hand

deliveries, as the case may be.

HeavenFresh

Per:

(_’,&G&?’)

Authorized Signing Officer

Danby Preducts Limited

Townifeel?
Per:
Authorized Signing Officer
1 have authority to bind the corporation
Name: Andrew Raymond_

1 have anthority to bind the corporation Title: _CFO,
Name: Imran Bashir
Title: _President

Danby Products Ine.

T‘-"”Jq;aﬁ‘d7

Per: e ey W

Authorized Signing Officer

I have authority to bind the corporation
Name: Andrew Raymond____

Title: _CFO

Confidential Page 8
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Exhibit 1

Product List

Products
To be mutually determined by the Parties but will include the air purifier appliance,

humidifier appliance, juicer appliance and other related products. In addition all Redmond
products that are currently part of HeavenFresh’s current distribution deal with Redmond.

Confidential Page 9 Page 9 of 11
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List and Description of Initial Inventory

Schedule “*”

Stock Summary
Heaven Fresh Canada
inc.
14-dun-17
ltem Code Physical Quantity
HF 50 327
HF 200 114
HF 20-White 84
HF 20-S 398
HF 380 66
HF3014 3
HF 310A 11
HF 210UV 27
Wine Gizmo 598
HF100 415
HF 807 193
Redmonds
RMC-M23A 258
RMC-M390A 38
RMC-PM4506A 350
AMC-M4502A 302
RMC-280A 84
RMC-M150A 186
AMC-250A 254
RMC-M110A 89
RMC-M190A 92
Spare Paris
HF 380/380A Lamp 386
HF 380/380A Plate 11
HF 380/380A TiG2 Fiiter 56
HF 310A HEPA Filter 220
HF 310A TiO2 Fiiter 119
HF710-Filter 311
HF 210UV Adaptor 33
HF 210UV Lamp 245
HF 210UV Pilate 140
HF 200 Adaptor 32
HF501/507-Fiber Filter 566
HF507-Fil/lyndr B4
HF507-Filfdsmn 80
Confidential Page 10
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This is Exhibit “E” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017

e

Commissioner 'ForfTékTﬁ“g”AQ'jdavits

[
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REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Sharsholders of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.

We have reviewed the balance sheet of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. as atf June 30, 2015 and the statements of loss,
retained earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. Qur review was madse in accordance with Canadian

generally accepted standards for review engagements and, accordingly, consisted primarily of Inquiry, analytical
procedures and discussion related to information supplied to us by the Company.

A review does not constifute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinfon on these financial
stalements,

Bused on our review, nothing hies come to our attention that causes us to believe that these financlal statements are
not, in all materlal respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting stgndards for private anterprises,

The financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2014 were veviewed hy another accounting frm and are

presented for comparative purposes ounly,
{ ]/rw- / gdznw Lr

MISSISSAUGA, ONTARIO CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
April 28,2014 Licensed Public Accountants




HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2815
{(LUNAUDITED)
1015 2014
ASSETS
CURRENMNT
Cash (Note ) $ - b 7379
Agoounts receivable 38,924 47,028
Inventory 360,649 3172
Income taxes recoverable 12,307 -
Harmonized sales tax recoverable 8,819 -
Prepaid expenses 5,950 5,858
Deposils 38,883 -
Due from related parties fAore 4) 208,869 257,258
674,292 634,695
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 5) 17,902 22,985
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (No#e 6) 116,612 -
INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN AFFILIATES (Wote 7 . 57,302 77,302
DUE FROM SHAREHOLDERS (Note 8) - 18,433

3 860,108  § 753,115

See notes to fnancial staleinents
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,

BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2815
(LNAUDITED;
2015 .20t
LIABHATIES
CURRENT
Bank indebtedness (Vote 9) 116,438 -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 236,055 147,600
Employee dedustions payable 17,5341 5,290
Harmonized sales tax payable - 3407
Income taxes payable - 34,035
Current portion of long term debt (Nete 10} s0,916 37,476
Loans payable (Nofe [1) 66,592 12,302
Due to related parties (Note 4} 32,856 18,000
519,648 258,200
LONG TERM DEBT (Note 1)) 144,129 133,492
DEFERRED GRANT {Nore 6) 50,957
DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS (Note & 41,838 4,507
756,572 396,199
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 13) 160 100
Retained earnings 103,436 356,816
103,536 356,916
864,108 753,115

COMMITMENTS (Note 14)

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Direeior

. Director

See notey 1o financial statements
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,

STATEMENT OF LOSS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 34, 2015
fUNSUDITED)
2015 2014
REVENIE (More 4} 1,077,684 1,379,428
COST OF GOODS SOLD {Note 12) 15,121 685,399
GROSE PROFIT (24%; 2014 - 50%) 262,563 694,029
MANAGEMENT FEES (Nore 4) 136,800 104,500
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Advertising and promotion 22,2558 20,753
Amartization of tangible assets 10,951 21,224
Bad debts 2£,245 -
Business software, licenses and memberships 12,034 14,332
Colmissions 17.468 15,598
Consulting fees 77,110 7o
Credit card charges 7,588 6,344
Insurance 10,798 11,458
Interest and bank charges 41,906 10,095
Interest on fong term deht 19,141 14,546
Interast on short tenn borrowings 5,058 -
Meals and entertainiment 3,103 3,332
Qceupancy costs 57,885 55,324
Office and general 14,078 6,979
Professional fees 18,819 20,100
Repairs and maintenance 1,962 3,519
Research and development - 11,5300
Salaries and wages 214,344 202,566
Sub-contractor (Note 4} 76,316 94,370
Telecommumioations 9,354 9,559
Travel 10,756 7,135
Utilities 6,954 5,737
Vehicle 8,074 13,618
666,744 578,549
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (273,381) 219,880
OTHER EXPENSES
Loss on disposal of investinents (Nete 7} 20,060 -
INCOME (1.O8S) BEFORE INCOME TAXES {293,331} 219,980
INCOME TAXES (RECOVERED) (40,001) 43,250
NET INCOME (LOSS) (253,380) 176,730

See notes to financial statements




HEAVEN FRESH CANABA INC,
STATEMENT OF RETAINED EARNINGS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 38, 2615
(UNAUDITED}

2015 2014
RETAINED EARNINGS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 3 356,816 § 180,086
NET INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (253,386) 176,730
RETAINED EARNINGS - END OF YEAR § 10343¢ % 356,816

See notes to financial statements

A
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 39, 2015
(UNAUDITED)

2015 2014

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Netincome (loss) 3

(253,388) § 176,730
Items not affecting casiy;

Amvortization of property &nd equipment 10,951 21,224
Loss on disposal of investment in foreign affiliate 20,000 -
(222.429) 197,954
Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable 8,104 19,684
Inventory (43,468} {129,836}
Harmonized sales tax (12,226} {2,011
Income taxes payable {46,242) 34,035
Prepaid expensss (92) 57,694
Deposits {38,883) -
Accounts payable and accrued labilitics 88,454 (7,061}
Employee deductions payable 12,251 {7,999)
{32,162) (35,:94)
Cash flow fror (used by) operating activities (254,531) 162,460
INVESTING ACTIVITIES o
Purchase of property and equiproent. {5,868) {9,790)
Internally generated intangible assets {110,612) .
investment in foreign affiliates - {27,301}
Cash flow used by investing activities {116,480) (372,091)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ‘

- Proceeds from short term loans 54,200 12,392
Advanoes from (to) related parties 62,445 (248,603}
Advances from (to) shareholders 55,465 {51,155)
Proceeds from fong tenu debt 24,677 §70,968
Praceeds from government grants 50,957 -

Cash flow froin (used by) finencing activities 247,144 {116,398}

INCREASE {DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW (123,867) §,971
Cash - beginning of year 7379 % {1.59M
CASH (DEFICIENCY) - END OF YEAR 3 (116,488) &% 7,381
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:
Cash $ - ¥ 7,379
Bank indebtedness {116,488) *

§ (116,488 § 7379

See notes to financial statements
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARENDED JUNE 30, 26158
(UNAUDITED)

3.

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Heaven Fresh Canada Ine. {the "Company™) was incorporated urder the Oulario Buginess Corporations Act on

May 31, 2004, The Company's principal business activity is wholesale and vetail sales and disiribution of smal}
househeld appliances.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian szccounting standards for private
enterprises {ASPE),

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition

The Contpany recognizes revenues when they arc earned, specifically when all the following conditions are
et

e services are provided or products are ordered

« there is clear evidence that an arrangement exisis
¢ amounis are fixed or can be determined

s the ability to collect is reasonably assured.

Frrventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net tealizabie value with the cost being determined on a weighted
average cost basis,

Property and eqoipment

Property and equipment js stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization, Property and equipment
is amortized over its estimated useful life on a declining balance hasis at tite following rates and methods:

Equipment 30% declining balance method
Computer equipiment 55% declining balance method
Computer software 55% declinisg balance method
Fumiture and fixtures 20% declining balance method
Leasehold tmprovements 10 years straiglit-line method

The Company regularly reviews its property and equipment to eliminate obsolete ilems. Government grants are
treated as & reduction of property and equipment cost,

Property and squipment acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized untii they are placed
into use,

{continues)

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015
{UNAUDITED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cantinued)

Irtangible assets

The internally generaied intangible assets ave being amortized on @ straight-line basiz over their estimated
usefisl Hves, Intangible assels generated during the year but not piaced into use are not amortized until they are
placed into use,

lnvestment in foreign afiiliates

‘The Company’s investment in foreign wholly and partially owned affiliates arc accounted for at cost.

Income taxes

The Company uses the income taxes payable method of accounting for insome taxes. Under this method, the
Company repors 25 an expense (income) of the period only the cost (benefit) of current incoms (axes
determined in accordance with the roles established by taxation authorities,

Research and development

The Company annually incurs costs on activilies that relate to research and development of new products.
Research and development costs are expensed except in cases where development cosis meet certain
identifiable criteria for deforral. Deferred development costs arg amortized over the lite of the commercial
produclion, or in the case of serviceuble property, plant and equipment, are included in the appropriale property
group and are depreciated over its estimnated useful life.

Foreign currency translation

Accounts In foreign currencies have been franslated into Canadian dollars using the temporal method. Under
this method, nionetary assets and liabilities have been translated al the year ¢hd exchange rate. Non-monetary
assets have been translated at the rale of exchange prevailing at the date of transaction. Revenues and cxpenses
have heen transiated at the average rates of exchange during the year, except for amaortization, which has been
transiated at the same rate as the related assets.

Foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities are inchwded in the detenmination of
caraings,

Finangial instruments policy

Financial instruments ate recorded at fair value when acguired or issued al cost. In subsequent periods,
financial assels with actively traded markets are reporied at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses
reporied in income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and fested for impalrment at
each reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed
when incured.

Scientific Research and Development

Scientific research and development tax credits are recognived in fncome when received.

{continuess

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 3¢, 2015
(UNAUDITED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continted)

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in confornity with Canadian accounting standards for private
enterprises requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets
and liabilities, disciosure of contingent nssets und liabilities al the date of the finencial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues und expetises during the period. Such estimates are periodieatly reviewsd and any
adjustments necessary ave repotted in eamings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could

differ from these estimates,
Comparative figures

Cerlain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the eurtent year's presentation,

RELATED PARTIES
2015 2014
Related pagty transactions
Heaven Fresh Pakistan
subsidiary
Sub-contractor § 58,964 3 -
Heaven Fresh United States of America
subsidiary
Managenient fees § 56,863 § 66,000
Trade zales 177,975 29,797
Sub-coniractar {7,732) -
227,186 095,797
Heaven Fresh United Kingdom
subisidiary
Management fees b3 73,937 $ 38,500
Trade sales 620 51,485
Sub-contractor {13,623} e
60,934 89,085
Heaven Fresh Middle East
subsidiary
Trade sales 3 22,534 % 62,519
Sub-coniractor 11,310 =
33,844 _ 62519
S 380848 5 248301
(continues)

See Review Engagement Report




HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015
(UNALUDITED

5

RELATED PARTIES (continued)
2005 2014

These tranzactions are in the nowmal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Due fiom / fo refated partics

2015 . 2014
Current portion due from related parties
Heaven Fresh United States of America $ 146,691 % 197,656
Heaven Fresh Middle East 22,178 9481
Heaven Fresh Gernany ) - 5,122
Heaven Fresh United Kingdom - 40,999

$ We8ed  § 257,258

Current portion duc to related parties

Hesven Fresh Pakistan kN - b4 {8,000
Heaven Fresh United Kiugdom ' 32,056 -
b 32,056  § 18.000.

Advances from/to  related Companies are non-inteyest bearing and have no sel repayment lerms. The
Companies is related by virfue of sharcholdings.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

2015 2014
Cost Agsenmulated Net boall Net book
aortization yalue valie
Equipment 5 2537 % 6,718 8 1,749 3§ 2,499
Computer eguipment 22,484 20,350 2,134 3,242
Computer software 33,525 27,454 8,071 9,980
Furniture and fixtures 4,987 2,439 2,528 3,160
Leasehold improvements 6,840 e 3,420 4,104
$ 78,363 § 60,461 % 17,902 % 22,985
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2015 . 2014
Research and development (at cost) g 114,612 e

The intangible asset inchudes internally gencrated software for the Company's new produet offerings.

The deferred government grant will be amortized based on the useful life of the intangible asset.

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 38, 2015
(UNAUDITED)

7.

INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN AFFILIATES

lnvestments in forcign affiliates include investments in the foliowing aftiliates, which are accounted for ai cost:

Ownership % 2015 014
Heaven Fresh United States of America 100,00 $ R1CKITH 30,000
Heaven Fresh Middle East 60.00 27,361 27,301
Heaven Fresh United Kingdom 45.60 1 1
Heaven Fresh Germany 55,00 ] - 26,000

& 57302 % 77,302

During the year the investment in Heaven Fresh Germany was written off as the operations have ceased.

DUE FROM (TO) SHAREHOLDERS

2015 2014
Long term portion due from shareholders
Mohammad Azam $ . g 14,814
Emran Bashir . “ 2,659
Mohammad Anwar - . 620
by - b 18,133
Long texim porlion due to shareholders
[nmiran Bashir 3 24,29 § -
Mohammad Anwar 13,032 -
Igbal Kahloon 4,507 4.507
3 41,838 & 4,507

The amaunts due from/to shareholders are non-interest bearing and have no set payment terms. The loans have

been postponed by the shareholders, Accordingly, the advances from shareholders have been classified as a
long tesmi Hiability,

BANK INDEBTEDNESS

The Clompany has a $100,000 ievolving demand facility bearing interest at primie plus 3.00% per anom due on

demand. As of the balance sheit date, the amount owing was 598,110 (2014: $100,000). The credit facility is

secured by a general security agreentent covering alt assets of the Conmpany and a personal ‘guarantee by the
direttors of the Company,

Ses Review Engagement Report




67

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2615
{UNAUDITER]

16.

1.

LONG TERM DEBT :
2015 2044

Bank term loan bearing interest at a floating base rate plus 1.00%
per annum, repayable in monthly principal paymients of $3520 plus
interesi, The loan matures on February 24, 2018 atd s secured by #
personal guarantee by the directors of the Comnpany.

5

16,656 % 22,88C

Bank ietn loan bearing interest at a floating base rale plus 1.00%
per annum, repayable i monthly principal paymenis of $1,140 plus
interest; The loan matures on August 24, 20{8 and is secured by a
personal guarantee by the direciors of the Company. 43,362 -

Bank ferm loan bearing intevest at a floating base rate plus 3.25%
per annun, repayable in wonthly principal payments of $833 plus
interest. The loan matures on February 24, 2619 and is secured by a
persunzl guarantee by the directors of the Conipany, 36,701 46,538

Bank term loan bearing interest at a floating base rate plus 3.25%
per annum, repayable in monthly principaf payments of $1,750 plus
interest. The loan matures on April 24, 2019 aud is secured by a
personal guarantee by the directors of the Company, 98,326 101,500

155,645 170,968

Amounts payable within one year {50,916) {37,476}

$ 144,129  § 133,492

Prinsipal repayinent terms are approximately:

2016 $ 50,916
2017 50,916
2018 48,836
2019 29,944
2020 14433

§ 195045

LOANS PAYABLE

The loans payable are imterest bearing at 10.00%, have no set payment ferms and are loaned by unrelated
individuals, Accordingly, the advances from unrelated Individuals have been classified as a current lability,

See Review Engapsment Repost
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 39, 2015

(INAUDITED)
12. COST GF GOODS SOLD
2015 2014
Inveniory, beginning of year $ 7172 % 187,337
Purchases 706,459 691,311
Freight in and duty 150,965 107,503
Warehouse supplies 1,165 16,420
Inventary, end of year _{3a0,040) {37178
$ 815,121 3 685,399
13. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized:
Unlimited  Class A Common shares
Unlimited  Class B Special shares
24315 2814
Issued:
10,000 Class A Commion shares $ iog 3% 100

i4. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company has a long term lease with respect to its premises, The lease contains remewad options and
provides for payment of operating costs. Future minimam lease plus operating cost payments as at June 30,
2013, ave as follows:

2016 3 37,750
2017 _ 59,250

3 117,000

15, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is cxposcd to varios risks through ts financial instraments and has a cotnprehensive risk
management framework o monitor, svahiste and manage these risks.  The following analysis provides
informetion about the Company's risk expiisire and concentration as of June 30, 2015,

{Coittinues)

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013
{UNALIDITED)

15, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continged)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises ftom the potential that 4 counter party will fail to perform jts obligations. The Company is
exposed 1o credit risk from customers. In order to reduce its credit risk, the Company reviews a new custonmer's
credit history before extending credit and conduels regular reviews of lis existing customers' oredit performance
and ihe company obiains credit card information from simaller suppliers to precess payment upon ordering. An
allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credi risk of specific
accounts, historical treads and other information. The Company has a significant number of customers which
minimizes concentration of eredit risk.

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encountey difficulty in meeting cbligations associated with timancial
liabilities, The Company iz exposed to this visk mainly in respect of its recelpt of funds from Hs customers and
other related sources and payments towards leng term debt, loans pavable, taxes payable, accounts payable and
acerued liabilities and bank indeltedness,

Market risk

Murket Risk is the risk that the fair value or futute cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctnate because of
changes in market prices, barket risk comprises three types of risk: currency rate risk, inferest rate risk and
other price risk. The Company is mainly exposed to currenoy and interest rate tisk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk to the company's eamings fhat arise fromn fluctuations of foreign exchange raies and the
degree of volatility of these mtes. The Company is cxposed to foreign currency exchange risk on cash,
accounfs recgivable, and asccounts payable held i ULS, doHlars, The company does not use derlvatve
instraments to reduce its exposwre to foreign corrency risk. The foreign exchange gain recorded in cost of sales
as at June 30, 2015 is $16,288 (2014: ($24,465)).

Interest rate risk

[nterest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adverscly affected by a change in
the interest rates between 1.00 - 3.25%. In seeking fo minimize the visks from iuferest rate fluctuations, the
Company manages exposure through its normal operating and financing activities, The Company is exposed to
interest rate risk primarily through iis floating interest rate bank indebiedness (Mole 9) and credil facilities

{Note 10).

See Review Engsgement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 36, 2015
(LUINAUDITEL)

Ly

16, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company secured a $90,000 bank term loan at a figating base rale plus 1.00% per annwin, vepayable in
monthly principal payments of $1,875 plus interest. The loan matures on November 2, 2019 and is secured by a

personal guaraniee by the directors of the Company,

The Company secured a $10,000 bank term loan at a floating base rate plus 1,00% per annum, repayable in
monthly principal payments of $160 plus interest. The loan matures on May 2, 2021 and is secured by a

personal guaraniee by the directors of the Company,

The Conpany secured a 810,000 bank (erm Joan at 2 floating base vate plus 3.50% per anhury, repayabls in
monthly principal payments of $160 plus interest. The loan matures on November 2, 2020 and is secured by a

personal guaranige by the directors of the Company.

See Review Engagement Report
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This is Exhibit “F” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir

sworn before me, this
27" day of July, 2017
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REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

To the Sharcholders of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.

We have reviewed the balance sheet of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. as at Junc 30, 2016 and the statements of loss,
deficit and cash flows for the year then ended. Our review was made in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
standards for revicw engagements and, accordingly, consisted primarily of inqguiry, analytical procedures and
discossion related to information supplied to us by the Company.

A review does not constitute an audit and, consequently, we do not express an audit opinion on these financial
statements,

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that these financiai statements are
not, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

[duarevt gy-/nM LLP

MISSISSAUGA, ONTARIO CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
September 13, 20{6 Licensed Public Accountants
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
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BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 31, 2016
(UNAUDITED)
2016 2015
_ ASSETS

CURRENT
Accounts receivable 59,602 38,924
Inventory 194,206 360,640
Income taxes recoverable - 12,207
Harmonized sales tax recoverable - 8,819
Prepaid expenses 5,950 5,950
Deposits 15,432 38,883
275,190 465,423
BUL FROM RELATED PARTIRS (Note 4) 306,446 208,869
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 5) 10,574 17,902
INTANGIBLE ASSET (Note 6) 196,039 110,612
INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN AFFILIATES (Note 7) _ 57,302 57,302
845,551 360,108

See notes to financial statements
e
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,

BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 340, 2016
(UNAUDITED)
2016 o 2015
LIABILITIES
CURRENT
Bank indebtedncss (Note &) $ 161,139 $ 116,488
Accounts payable and accrued liabilitics 228,783 236,055
Employes deductions payahle 1,529 17,541
Hammonized sales tax payable 5,036 “
Short term debt (Nofe 2.) 26,903 -
Current portion of long term debt (Note [0} 77,256 50,916
Loans payable (Note 11) 73,592 66,592
Due to related party (Note 4) 73,945 32,056
588,183 519,648
LONG TERM DEBT (Note 10) 1%0,436 144,129
DEFERRED GRANT (Note 6) 99,592 50,957
DUE TO SHAREHOILDERS (Note 12) 60,033 41,838
914,244 756,572
SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY
Share capital (Note 13} 100 100
Retained earnings {deficit) {68,793) 103,436
(68,693) 103,536

3 845,551 % 860,108

LEASE COMMITMENTS (Note 18)
SUBSEQUENT EVENT (Note 20)

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

___ Director

Birector

See notes to financial statements
! H: 1 ' 3




HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,

See notes to financial statements

STATEMENT OF L.OSS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
{UNAUDITED}
2016 2015
REVENUE (Noze 4) $ 970,237 § 1,077,684
COST OF GOODS S30LD (Note 14) ‘ 741,756 815,121
GROSS PROFIT (24%; 2015 - 24%,) 228,481 262,563
MANAGEMENT FEES (Note 4 15,790 130,800
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSLS
Advertising and promotion 52,344 22,255
Ainortization of tangible assets 7,328 10,951
Bad debts 454 21,245
Business software, licenses and memberships 18,672 12,034
Commissions 28,571 17,468
Consulting fees 11,986 77,110
Credit card charges 5,763 7,588
Insurance 12,301 10,798
Interest and bank charges 19,0606 41,906
Interest on long term debt 22,498 19,141
Interest on short term borrowings 4,943 5,058
Meals and entettainment 5,271 . 2,703
Occupancy cosis 59,260 57,885
Office and general 4,345 14,078
Professional fees 4,451 18,819
Repairs and maintenance ) 2,801 1,902
Salarics and wages 126,565 214,344
Sub-contractor (Note 4) 59,072 76,316
Telecommunications 4,020 9,354
Travel 4,888 18,756
Utilities 6,571 6,954
Vehicle 15,534 8,079
470,044 666,744
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (226,37%) (273,381)
OTHER EXPENSES
Loss on disposal of investments - 20,000
Scientific research and experimental development recovery _(54,144) -
(54,144) 20,000
[088 BEFORE INCOME TAXES {172,229) (293,381)
INCOME TAXES (RECOVERED) - {40,001)
NET LOSS % (172,229 & (253,380)
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

STATEMENT OF DEFICIT
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)
2016 2015
RETAINED EARNINGS - BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 103,436 $ 356,816
NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR (172,229) (253,380)
RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR ‘ $  (6879%) § 103436

See notes 1o financial statements
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)
2016 2015
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (172,229) % (253,380)
Items not affecting cash:
Amortization of property and equipment 7,328 10,951
Loss on disposal of investment in foreign affiliate - 20,000
(164,901) {222,429)
Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 15.) 171,985 (32,102)
Cash flow from {used by) operating activities 7.084 (254,531)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment - (5,868)
Internally generated intangible assets (85,427) {110,612}
Government grant 48035 30,957
Cash flow used by investing activities (36,792 {65,523)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from short term debt 26,903 -
Proceeds from short term loans 7,000 54,200
Advances from (to) related pariies {55,688) 62,445
Advances from shareholders 24,195 55,465
Proceeds from long term debt, net of repayment 42,647 24,077
Cash flow from financing activitics 45,057 196,187
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW 15,349 (123,867)
Deficieacy - beginning of year (116,488) % 7.37%
DEFICIENCY - END OF YEAR $ ULy 3 (116.488)
CASH FLOWS SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Interest paid % 27442 % 42,119
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:
Bank indebtedness $ (101,139) % (116,488)

See notes to financial statcments
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 39, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Heaven Fresh Canada Ine, (the "Company™) was incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act on

May 31, 2004, The Company's principal business activity is wholesale and retail sales and distribution of small
houschold appliances.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private
enterprises {ASPE).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when thoy are carned, specifically when all the following conditions are
met:

s services are provided or produc;ts are ordered

o there is clear evidence that an arrangement exists
» amounts are fixed or can be determined

» the ability to collect is reasonably assured.

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with the cost being determined on a weighted
average cost basis,

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization. Property and eqoipment
is amortized over its estimated useful life at the following rates and methods:

Equipment 30% declining balance method
Computer equipment 55% dechining balanee method
Computer software 55% declining balance method
Furniture and fixturcs 20% declining balance method
Leasehold tmprovemeints 10 years siraight-line method

The Company regularly reviews its property and eguipinent to eliminate obsolete items, Government grants are
treated as a reduction of property and equipment cost.

* Property and equipment acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are placed
nto use.

{continues)




HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets

The intemally generated intangible assels are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Intangible assets generated during the year but not in use are not amortized until they are in use.

Investiment in foreign affiliates

The Company’s investinent in foreign wholly and partiaily owned affiliates are accounted for at cost.

Income taxes

The Company uses the income taxes payablc method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, the
Company reports as an expense (income) of the period only the cost {benefil) of current income taxes
determined in accordance with the rules established by taxation authorities.

Rescarch and development

The Company anmually incurs costs on activities that relate to research and development of new products.
Research and development costs are ¢xpensed cxcopt in cases where development costs meet cerfain
identifiable criteria for deferral. Deferred development costs are amortized over the life of the commercial
production, or in the case of serviceable property, plant and equipment, are included in the appropriate property
group and are depreciated over its estimated vseful life,

Foreign currency translation

Accounts in foreign currencies have been franslated into Canadian dollars using the temporal method, Under
this method, monetary assets and liabilitics have been translated at the year end exchange rate, Non-monetary
assets have been translated at the rate of cxchange prevailing at the date of transaction, Revenues and expenses
have been translated at the average rates of exchange during the year, except for amortization, which has been
translated at the same rate as the related assels,

Foreign exchange gains and losses ou monetary assets and liabilitics are included in the determination of

carnings.

Financial instraments policy

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued at cost. In subsequent periods,
financial assets with actively traded markefs are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses
reported in income, All other financial instruments are reported al amortized cost, and tested for impairment at
each reporiing date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed
when {ncurred.

Scientific rescarch and experimental development

Scientific research and experimental development tax credits are recognized in income when received,

(continues)

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for private
enterprises requires manapement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets
and iabilitics, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any
adjustments necessary are reported in earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Comparative figures

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation,

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 34, 2016
(UNAUDITED)
RELATED PARTIES
2016 2015
Related party bansactions
Heaven Fresh Pakistan
(subsidiary)
Sub-contractor S - 8 58,964
Heaven Fresh United States of America
{subsidiary)
Management fees 3 15,790 % 56,863
Trade sales 173,552 171,975
Sub-contractor recovery ) {27,664} (7,732)
161,678 227,106
Heaven Fresh United Kingdom
(sithsidiary)
Management fees bt - 3 73,937
Trade sales : - 620
Sub-contractor recovery {59,856) (13,623)
(59,856) 60,934
Heaven Fresh Middle East
(subsidiary}
Trade sales 3 283§ 22,534
Sub-contractor 16,904 11,310
17,187 33,844

3 119009  § 380,848

These transactions arc in the nonmal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Duig fromn / 1o related parties.

2016 2015
Long term portion due from related parties
Heaven Fresh United States of Amorica % 283063 § 186,691
Heaven Fresh Middle East 23383 22,178

S 306445 S 208869

Current portion due to related party
Heaven Fresh United Kingdom 3 73,945 3 32,056

Advances from / fo related Companies are non-interest bearing and have no sct repayment terms. The
Companies are related by virtue of shareholdings.

10
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

7.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

2016 2015
Cost Accuntulated Net hook Net book
_amortization  value  value
Equipment $ 8,527 § 7303 § 1,224 $ 1,749
Computer equipment 23,217 22,257 960 2,134
Computer software 35,525 31,863 3,632 3,071
Fumniture and fixtures 4,987 2,965 2,022 2,528
Leasehold improvements 6840 4,104 2,736 _ 3,420
$ ... 79006 § 68,522 § 10,5714 % 17,902
INTANGIBLE ASSET
2016 2015
Research and development (at cost) $ 196,039 % 110,612

The intangible asset includes internally generated software for the Company's new product offerings.

The Company has received a government grant for research and development costs gssociated with the
internally penerated software which has been recognized as a deferred grant and wili be amortized over the
estimnated useful life of the intangible asset,

INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN AFFILIATES

Investments in foreign affiliaies include investments in the following, which are accouated for at cost:

Ownership % 2016 2015
Heaven Fresh United States of America 10G.00 3 30,000 b 30,000
Heaven Fresh Middle East 60.00 27,301 27,301
Heaven Fresh United Kingdom 45.00 i |
S50 § 5150

BANK INDEBTEDNESS

The Company has a $100,000 revolving credit facility bearing interest at the financial institution's prime rate
plus 3.00% per annum due on demand, As of the balance sheet date, the amount owing was $87,250 (2015;
$98,110). The credit facility is sccured by a general security agrecment covering alf assets of the Company and
a personal guarantee by the directors of the Company.

See Review Engagement Report
I 11
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENBED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

10,

.SHORT TERM DEBT

The short term debt bears interest at 21.95% per annum, repayable in daily blended principal and interest
payments of $246, The debt matures January 17, 2017 and is secured by a personal guarantee by the directors
of the Company.

LONG TERM DEBT
2016 2013

Bank term loan bearing intcrest at a floating base rate plus 1.00%
per anvm, repayable in monthly principal payments of $520 plus
interest. The loan matures on February 24, 2018 and is sccured by 2
personal guarantee by the directors of the Company. ¥ 10,389 % 16,656

Bank term loan bearing interest at a floating base rate plus 1.00%
per annum, repayable in monthly principal payments of $1,140 plus
interest. The loan matures on August 24, 2018 and is secured by a
petsonal guarantee by the dircetors of the Company. 29,619 43,362

Bank term loan bearing interest at a floating base rale plus 3.25%
per annum, repayable in monthly principal payments of $833 plus
intcrest. The loan matures on February 24, 2019 and is secured by a
personal guaraniee by the dircetors of the Company, 26,619 36,701

Bank term loan bearing interest at a floating base rate plus 3.25%
per annum, repayable in monthly principal payments of $1,750 plus
interest. The loan matures on April 24, 2019 and is sccured by a
personal guarantee by the directors of the Company. 76,735 98,326

Bank ferm loan bearing interest al a floating base rate phus 1.00%
per aninm, repayable in monthly prineipal payments of $1,875 plus
interest. The loan matures on November 2, 2619 and is secured by a
personal guarantee by the directlors of the Company, 76,520 ~

Bank tenm loan bearing interest at a floating base rate plus 1.00%
per anmun, repayable in monthly principal payments of $160 plus
interest. The loan matures on May 2, 2021 and is secured by a
personal guarantee by the directors of the Company. 9,395 -

Bank term loan bearing interest at a floating base rate plus 3.50%
per annum, repayable in monthly principal payments of $160 plus
interest. The loan matures on November 2, 2020 and is sceured by a
personal guarantee by the directors of the Company, 8,424 -

237,692 195,045

Amounts payable within one year (77,256) (50,916)

$ 160,436 $ 144,129

{continues)

See Review Engagement Report
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

10. LONG TERM DEBT (continued)

Principal repayment terms are approximately:

2017 $ 77,256
2018 75,176
2019 70,284
2020 13,215
2021 1,761

$ 23750

11. LOANS PAYABLE
The loans payable ure intercst bearing at [0.00% and 15.00%, have no set repayment terms and are loaned by

unrelated individuais, Accordingly, the loans from uarelated individuals have been classified as a corrent
liability.

12. DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

2016 2015
Long term portion due to sharaholders
{rmran Bashir 8 46,049 $ - 24,299
Mohammad Anwar 15,477 13,032
Igbal Kahloon . 4507 4,507

3 66,033 41,838

The amounts due to shareholders are non-interest bearing and have no set repayment terms. The loans have
been postponed by the sharcholders for the next twelve months, Accordingly, the advances from shareholders
have been classified as a long term lability.

13. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized:
Unlimited  Class A Common shares
Unlimited  Class B Special shares

2016 2015

Issued:
10,006 Class A Common shares ‘ $ w5 100

13

87




HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2816
(UNAUDITED)
14, COST OF GOODS SOLD
2016 2015

Inventory, beginning of year $ 360,640 § 317,172
Purchases 478,236 706,459
Freipht in and duty 93,330 150,965
Warchouse supplies 3,756 1,165
inventory, end of year (194,206) {360,640)

$ 741,756 3 815,121

15, CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
) 2016 2015

Accounts receivable b (20,678) & 3,104
Inventory 166,434 (43,468)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities {(7,272) 88,454
Employee deductions payable (16,012) 12,251
Harmonized services tax payable (recoverable) 13,855 (12,226)
Income taxes 12,207 (46,242)
Prepaid expenses - (92)
Deposits 23,451 (38,883

$ 171,985 § (32,102)

16. NON-CAPITAL TAX LOSSES CARRIED FORWARD
The Company has incurred losses of $243,446 for tax purposes which are available to reduce future taxable
income. Such benefits will be recorded as an adjustment to the tax provision in the year realized. The losses
will expire as follows: $75,189 in 2025 and $168,257 in 2026,

17. SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH AND EXPERIMENTAL DEVELOPMENT POOL CARRIED FORWARD
The Company has a deductible scientific research and experimental development pool balance of $22,551
avaitable indefinitely to reduce future taxable income. Such benefits will be recorded as an adjustment to the
tax provision in the year realized.

18. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company has a long term lease with respect to its premises. The lease contains renewal options and
provides for payment of operaling costs. Future minimum lease plus operating cost payments as at June 30,
2016, are as follows:

2017 $ 59,250

See Review Engagement Report
SHETE 14

88



Sk

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
(UNAUDITED)

19.

20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a comprehensive risk
management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides
information about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of June 30, 2016,

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail fo_perform its obligations. The Company is
exposed 1o credit risk from customers. In order to reduce its credit risk, the Company reviews a new customer's
credit history before extending credit and conducts regular reviews of its existing customers’ credit performance
and the company obtains credit card information from smaller suppiiers Lo process payment upon ordering. An
allowance for doubtfil accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific
accounts, historical trends and other information. The Company has a significant number of customers which
minimizes concentration of credit risk. The Company recognized $454 (2015: $21,245) of bad debt expense.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from its customers and
other related sources and payments towards long term debt, short term deb, loans payable, taxes payable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and bank indebtedness.

Markoet risk

Market Risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctoate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency rale risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk, The Company is mainly exposed to curreney and interest rate risk,

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates and the
degree of volatility of these rates. The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk on cash,
accounts receivable, and accounts payable held in U.8. dollars. The company does not use derivative
instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency rigk. The foreign exchange gain recorded in income as of
June 30, 2616 is $2,393 (2015: 16,288).

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in
the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from inferest rate fluctuations, the Company manages
exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Company is exposed to interesi rate risk
primarily through its floating interest rate bank indebtedness (Note 8} and long-ferm debt (Note 10).

'SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Company secured a $8,475 bank term loan at a floating base rate plus 1.00% per annum, repayable in
monthly principal payments of $230 plus interest. The loan matures on April 14, 2020 and is secured by a
personal guarantee by the directors of the Company.

Sec Review Engagement Report
HIE i}; : 15
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This is Exhibit “G” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir

sworn before me, this
27" day of July, 2017
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Enquiry Result

File Currency: 07JUN 2017
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Mote: Al pages have boon returned,

Type of Search
Saarch Gonductod On
Fle Carrency

Flto Mumbie
D5 00

Individual Dabtor

Business Deltor

Fndividuai Dalitor

Busingss Debior

Secured Party

Collateral
Clasaiftcation

Maotor Vehiclo
Uesoription

Goneral Collateral
Oascriptlon

hiipe:hsrany.personsiproporty. pov.on.calposrwabinerimControlier Ppaga_index=38resNum=08biMame=HEAVEN + FRESH+ CANADAYING &responseTypes... 118

Business Dabtor
HEAVEN FRESH CANAL INC,
07N 2017

File Numbor Family  of Families Page of
Pages
B7GGR 1806 1 3 H 6
Lo R T e L
Cautlon Page ol  Tola! Motor Vehlcle
Filing Pages Schedule
a1 1

Dsto of Birth First Glven Namae

Buslness Debtor Name
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Sauarch Conducted On
Fite Gurrancy
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SECUREFACT TRANSACTION SERVICES, INC,
Addrass
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Business Deblor
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Pages

697030362 2 3 ? B8
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CONTINUED
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HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INCG.
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Youar Make
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THE ACQUIRED PERSONAL FROPERTY INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, tN ALL

BOODS, CHATTEL PAPER, DOCUMENTS OF TITLE, iNS TRUMENTS, INTANGIBLES,
MONEY AND SECURITIES NOW OWNED OR HEREAFTER OWNED OR ACQUIRED BY OR

Registering Agent

CANADIAN BECURITIES REGISTRATION SYSTEMS
Addross

4126 NORLAND AVENUE
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This is Exhibit “H” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017

<\\ P =

Commissioner ForTaking Affidavits

[
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E-FORM §6204 (0172014}

SRF#: ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

BUSINESS BANKING LOAN AGREEMENT
Each of the undersigned Custorner and owners/partners fequests that Royal Bank of Canada {"RBC") provides the Customer with
the following loans (sach a "Loan") and banking services, and sach of the undersigned Customer and owners/paitners agtees to
be JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY LIABLE for each such Loan. :
Service Name

Royal Business Operatingline.

Maximum Amount: & 1{0,000.00

Business Account: # 101-849-8 Transit # (8802

Minimum Retainad Balance: § 250.00

Minimum Revolvement Amount: § 250,00

X Operatingline PLUS

interest Rate: Roval Bank Prime Rate plus J.000008% per annum payable on the 2Ist day of each month.
Set-up Fea: $0.000  Monthly Fee: $25.00

Annual Loan Reviaw Fee: $75.00

Business Loan Insurance Plan ("BLIP™): - {Not available for the Royal Business Overdraft Protection)

This group creditor insurance program, underwritten by Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada, is offered té borrowers and
pravides life and disabillty Insurance on sligible owner(sipartner(s)/management of the Borrower for the Borrowings. To apply
for this insurance, a Business Loan Insurance Plan Application (form 03460} must be complsted for each proposed insurad, This
plan is subject to terms, conditions, éx&lusions and eligibility reéstrictions. Please see the Business Loan Insurance Plan Certificata
of Insurance for full details.

The Borrower(s!, by. signing below, acknowledges that lifée and disability insurance for Borrowings was offered under the
Busineés Loan Insurance Plan, and that;

D Any applications for this Insurance have been made and may be subject tc approval, as outlined in the Certificate of
Insurance vwhich the Borrower has received

The offer of insurance has been waived

D The owner{s)/partnerisi/management of the Borroweris) are ineligible for this insurance {under 18 or aver age 64}, or the
credit facilities, banking services or other products provided for in this Agreement are not aligible for this Insurance.

D The Borrowings currently have Business Loan Insurance Plan caverags, and no increase in coverage has been requested.

If there are any discrepancies between the insurance Information above, and the Business Loan insursnce Plan doguments
regarding the Borrdwings, the Businass Loan Insurance Plan documents govern,

Business Loan insurance Plan premiums, if applicable, are taken with your scheduled ioan payments. In the case of blended
payments of principal and interest, as prémiums fluctuate based on various factars such as, by way of exampie, the age of the
insured and changes 1o the Insured Joan balance, & part of the premium payment may be dedusted and taken from the scheduled
blended loan payrent with the resait that the amortization peériod may increase in the case of any such loan to which this

coverage applies. Refer to the Businass Loan Insurance Plan application (form 3460 Eng or 53460 Fr) for further explanation and
disclosure.

THE CUSTOMER AND THE OWNERS/PARTNERS SIGNING BELOW {WE)} ACKNQWL_EDGE THAT WE HAVE RECEIVED FOR EACH
LOAN SPECIFIED ABOVE, A COPY OF THE STANDARD TERMS INDICATED BELOW (each having the same revision date as this
agreemant) WHICH ARE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THIS AGREEMENT.

Chack the applicabie hox

[] 489 - Royal Business Overdraft Protection

D 483 - Variable Rate Term Loan

[} 467 - Fixed Rate Term Loan

B 470 - Royal Business OperatiigLine
We agree to be bound by those Standard Terms. We further agree that if, for any particular Loan, RBC sends us s revised set of
Standard Terms and if we de not repay that Loan befere the effective date of the revised Standard Terms, it will attest that we

have received a copy of and agreed 1o the revised Standard Terms, We furthar agree that any portion of any Loan will not be
used for the benefit or on behalf of any parson other than the Customer,
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OWNERS/PARTNERS - READ CAREFULLY: By signing this Agreement, each of you agrees to
be personally responsible for the full repayment of each L.oan and RBC may demand payment
of any such Loan from any of you. This liability remains in full force and effect even if the
Customer or the Bank wers lo merge with another legal person.

June 4, 2014,

Date

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,

{Name of Customsi]

Ko

{7 ,
v || PO

MOHAMMAD KAMAL ANWAR
{Authorized Signing Officer}

MOHAMMAD KAMAL ANWAR
{Slgnature of Ownar/Partnzard

.

IMRAN BASHIR

{Signature of Owner/Partier}

1MRAN BASHIR
{Authorized Signirng Otficer)

ACCEPTED:
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

{Signature of Owner/Partner)

{Signature of Emplé\(ga‘lu__’/

iSignature of Owner/Partner)
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GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT

For value received, the undersigned {the "Debtor"} hereby grants to Royal Bank of Canada (the “Bank"} a
security intergst in the Collateral, as security for the payment and performance of the indebtednass. The
terms "Collateral” and "Indebtedness” each have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Bank's Standard
General Security Agreement Terms having the same revision date and this agreement and include, without
fimitation, in the case of the term "Collateral”, the undertaking of the Debtor and all of the Debtor's present
and after acquired personal property, and in the case of the term "Indebtedness”, all present and future
obligations, Indebtedness and lability of the Debtor to the Bank. The provisions of the Standard General
Security Agreement Termis are Incorporated in this agreement (the "General Security Agreement”} by
refarence and form an integral part hereof, The Debtor confirms receipt of a copy of this General Security
Agreement, including the Standard General Security Agresment Terms identifled hereinabove,

Executed and deliverod this &4 day of _Stwe_ , 2oy .

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

{if & Corperation ar Partnership, insart name above)

XM

Rame! MOTAMMAD KAMAL ANWAR

P,

Wiiness Mame {ndt requited for corporations of partasrshipst Dobtor {or Authotized Officer o Pactnge]
hema:  IMRAN BASHI

A Ot o

- AL
Withess Namo fnot rai corpgrations or parinerships)
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STANDARD GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT TERMS

The following set of standard terms is deemed to be included in and forms an integral part of the General Seourity
Agraement which has boen executed and delivered to the Bank by the Debtor and which refers 1o standard ferms with
this document version date, receipt of which has been duly acknowlsdged by the Debtor. Terms defined slsswhere in the
General Security Agreement and not otherwise defined below have the meaning given to such terms as so defined. In
addition to and whthout firnitation of or derogation from the other provisions of the Genaeral Security Agreement, the
Debtor agreas with the Bank as follows:

1.

THE COLLATERAL

ia) For purposes of the Genaral Security Agreement the term “Collateral” means the under(aking of the Debtor and
all of the Debtor’'s present and after acquired personal property inciuding, without limitation, all Goads {inetuding all
parts, accessorias, attachments, special tools, additions and scoessions therato), Chattel Paper, Documents of Title
{whether negotisbie or not), Instruments, Intangibles, Money and Securities and all other Investment Property now
owned or hereafter owned or acquired by or on behalf of the Daebtor {including such as may be returned o or
repossessed by the Debior) and ail proceeds and renewsls theveof, accretions thereto and substitutions therefor, and
including, without limitation, all of the following now owned or hereafter owned or a¢quired by or on hehalf of the
Dabtor;

fi) all inventory of whataever kind and wherever situata;

i} all equipment (other than Ilnventory) of whatever kind and wherever situate, including, without
limitation, afl machinery, tocla, apparatus, plant, furniture, fixtures and vehicles of whatsoever naturs of
kind angd wherever situate;

i} all Aceounts and book debts and generally all debts, dups, claims, cheses in action and demands of
every nature and kind howsoaver ariging or secured including letters of credit dnd advices of credit,
which are Row due, owing or aceruing ar growing due to or owned by or which may hereafter become
due, owing of accruing or growing due to or owned by Debtor ("Debis”);

fiv) all desds, documents, writings, papers, booka of account and other books relating 1o of being records of
Debts, Chattal Paper or Documents of Title or by which such ars or may hereafter be secured,
evidencad, acknowladged or made payable;

v afl contractual rights and insurance claims; and

{vi) all patents, industriat designs, trade-marks, irade secrels and know-how ineluding without limitation
environmental technology and bictechnology, confidential information, trade-namss, goodwill,
copyrights, personality rights, plant bresders’ riphts, integrated circuii topographies, software and all
other forms of intellectual and industrial property, and any registrations and applications for registration
of any of the foregoing {calleciively "Intellectual Preperty”).

{b) The security interest created under the Ganera! Security Agreement [tha "Security interast”) shall not extend or
apply to and Collateral shall not include the last day of the term of any lease or agreement therefor but upon the
enforcement of the Security Interest the Debtor shall stand possessad of such Jast day in tryst to assign the same to
any parson acquiring such term.

ic) The tarms "Goods®, "Chattel Paper”, "Document of Title®, "Instrument”, "Intangible™, "Security”, "nvestment
Property", "procesd”, *Inventory”, “accession”, "Mongy”, "Account", “financing stuternent™ and “finahcing change
statement" whanever used hersin shall be interprated pursuant to their respective meanings when used in the
Personal Property Security Act of the applicable province, as armended from time to time, which Act, including
amandments thereto and any Act substituted therefor and amendments thereto is herein refarred to as the
"P.P.8.A.", Provided always that the term "Goods® when used hergin shall not includée “"consumer goods” of the
Behtar as that term is defined in the P.P.S.A,, the term "Inventory” when usad herein shall include livestock and the
young thereof after conception and crops that become such within one year of executicn of the General Security
Agresment and the tesm "Investment Property”, if not defined in the P.P.S.A., shall be interpreted accoerding to its
meaning in the Persanal Property Security Aot {Ontario). Any reference hsrein to “Collateral” shall, unless the
context otherwlse raquires, be deemed a refarance to "Colateral or any part thereof".

INDEBTEDNESS SECURED

As used in the General Security Agraement, the term "Indebtedness” means any and all obligations, indsbtedness
and llabiliity of the Debtor to the Bank lincluding intarest thereon) present or future, direct or indirect, absolute or
contingent, matured or not, extended or renewed, wherescever and howsoever incurred and any ultimate unpaid
balange thereof and whether the same is from time to time reduced and therasaftar increased or entirely extinguished
and thereafter incurrag again and whather the Dabtor be bound alone or with another or others and whether as
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principal or surety. If tha Security Interest in the Collateral is not sufficient, in the event of default, to satisfy all
Indabtednass of the Deabior, the Debtor acknowladges and agrees that tha Debtor shall continue to be liable for any
Indebtedness remaining outstanding and the Bank shall be entitled to pursue full payment thereof,

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE DEBTGR

The Debtor represents and warrants and so long as the General Security Agreemant remains in effect shall be
deamed to continuously represent and warrant that: '

{a} the Coflateral is genuing and owned by the Debtor free of all security interests, mortgages, liens, claims,
charges, licences, {eases, infringemants by third partiss, encusmbrances or other adverse claims or interests
{herelnafter collectively called "Encumbrances"”), save for the Security Interest;

{b} all Intellectual Proparty applications and registrations are valid and in good standing and the Debtor s the owner
ot the applications and registrations;

(cy each Debt, Chattel Paper and Instrument constituting Collateral is enforceabla in accoardance with its terms
against the party cbligated to pay the same (the "Account Debtor®), and the amount represented by the Debtor to
the Bank from time to time as owlng by each Account Debtor or by all Account Dabtors will be the corract amotnt
actually and unconditionally owing by such Account Debtor or Account Debtors, except for normal cash discounts
where applicable, and ne Account Debtor will have any defsnce, set off, claim or countarclzim against the Debtor
which can be asserted againat the Bank, whether in any progeeding to enforce Collateral or otherwise; and

{d) the execution, delivery and petformance of the obligations under the Gerneral Sacurity Agrasmsnt and ihs
creatlon of any securlty Interest In or assignment of the Debtor’s rights under the General Security Agreement in the
Coltataral to ths Bank witl not result in a breach of any agreement to which the Debtor Is a party.

COVEMANTS OF THE DEBTOR
5¢ lang as the General Security Agresment remains In effect the Debtor shall:

{a) defend the Collateral againgt the claims and demands of all ather partias claiming the same or an interest
thereiry: diligartly fnitiate and prosacuie legal actlon ageinst all infringers of the Debtor's rights In intellectual
Proparty; take all reasonable action to keep the Collateral free from all Encumbrances, axcept for the Sacurity
Interest and licences which are compuisory under federal or provincial lagislation and not sell, exchange, transfar,
assign, lease, litohse or otherwise dispose of Colleteral or any interest therein without the prior written consent of
the Bank; provided always that, until default, the Debtor may, in the ordinary course of the Debtor's buginess, selt or
{gasa Inventory and, subject to Clause 7 hareof, use Money available to the Debtor;

(b} notify the Bank promptly of:

{i} any changse in the informetion contained herein relating to the Debtor, the Debtor's business or
Collaterai,

{n the detafls of any gigniflcant acqulsition of Collateral,

(it} the detalls of any claims or iitlgation affecring the Dabtor or Collatersl,

{iv) any loss or dalmage to Collateral,

v} any default by any Account Debtor In payment or other performance of histher obligations with respect

to Collateral, and
(i) the raturn to or repossession by the Debtor of Collateral;

{c] keep Collatoral In good order, condition and repair and not use Collataral in viclation of the provisions of the
General Security Agresment or any other agreement relating 1o Collateral or any policy insuring Collaterat or any
applicable statuts, law, by-law, rufe, regulaticn ot ordinance; t6 keep all agresmants, registrations and applications
relating to Intellectual Property and Intellectual property used by the Debtor in its business in goad standing and to
renow all agreements and ragistrations as may be nccessary or desirable to protect intellectust Property, unless
otherwise agreed In writing by the Bank; to apply to register all existing and future copyrights, trade-marks, patents,
integrated circuit topographies and industrial designs whenever it is commercially reasonable to do so;
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{(d} do, expouls, acknowledge and deliver such financing statemants, financing change statements and further
assignments, transfers, documents, acts, matters and things as may be reasonably reguested by the Bank of or with
respact to Collateral in order to give effect to these presents and pay all costs for searches and filings in connection
therewith;

{e) pay all taxes, rates, levies, assessments and other charges of every nature which may be lawfully levied,
assessed or imposed against or in respect of the Debtor or Collateral as and when the same bacome due and
payable;

{f} insure Collateral in such amounts and against such risks as would customarily be insured by a prudent owner of
shmilar Collatera and in such additional amounts and against such additional risks as the Bank may from time te time
direct, with loss payable to the Bank and Debtor, as insureds, as their respective interests may appear, and to pay
all pramiums therafor and deliver copies of policies and evidsnce of renewal to the Bank upon request!

{g) pravent Coflateral, save Invantory sold or jeased as permitted hereby, from being or bacoming an accession to
other property not covared by the General Security Agreement;

{h} carry- on and eonduct the business of the Debtor In a proper and efficlent manner and so as to protect and
praserve Collateral and keep, in accordange with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied,
proper. books of account for the Debtor's business as well as accurate and complete records concerning Collateral,
and-mark any and all such records and Collaterat at the Bank’s raquest se as to indicate the Security Interest;

{i} deliver to tha Bank from time 1o time promptly upon request:

i any Decuments of Title, Instruments, Securlties and Chattel Paper constituting, rapragsenting or relating
to Collateral,

{iE) all books of account and &l récords, ledgers, reports, correspondence, schedules, documents,
stitements, lists and other writings relating to Collateral for the purpose of Inspecting, auditing or
copying the samae,

tiif) all financial statements prepared by or tor the Dabtor regarding the Debtor’s business,
{iv) alt poilcies and certificates of insurance relating to Collateral, and
{vi such infermation concerning Collateral, the Debtor and the Debtor's business and aftairs as the Bank

may reasonably raguest,

USE AND VERIFICATION OF COLLATERAL

Subject to compliance with the Debtor's covenants contained herein and Clause 7 hereof, the Debtor may, untif
default, possess, operate, colfect, use and enjoy and deal with Collateral in the ordinary course of the Debtor's
business in any manner not incensistent with the provistons hereof; provided always that the Bank shall have the
right at any time and from time to time to verify the existence and state of the Collateral in any manner the Bank
may consider appropiiate and the Debtor agrees to furnish all assistance and Information and to perform all such
acts as the Bank may raasonably request in connection therewith and for such purpese 16 grant to the Bank or its
agents access to all places whers Collateral may be located and to all pramises occlpled by the Debtor,

SECURITIES, NVESTMENT PROPERTY

if Collateral at any time includes Securities, the Debtor authorizes the Bank to transfer the same or any part thereof
into its own name or that of its heminee(s) so that the Bank or its nominee(s) may appaar of record as the sole
swher thereof; provided that, until default, the Bank shall deliver promptly to the Dehtor all notices or ather
commnications received by it or its hominee(s) as such ragistered owner and, upon demeand snd receint of payment
of any necessary expenses thereof, shall issue to the Debtof or its order a proxy to vole and take all action with
respact to such Securities. After default, the Debtor waives all rights 1o receive any notlces or communications
recaived by the Bank or Its nomineal{s} as such registersd owner and agrees that no proxy iasued by the Bank to the
Debtor or its 6rdef as aforesald shali thoreafter be sffective.

Where any Investment Praperty is held in or creditad to an account that has been estsblished with a securities
intarmediary, the Bank may, at any time after defauit, give a notice of exclusive control to any such securlties
intermeadiary with respect to such Investment Property.

COLLECTION OF DEBTS

Befora ar after default under the General Security Agreement, the Bank may. notify ail or any Account Debtors of the
Securily Interast and may alse direct such Accourit Debtors to make all payments on Coflateral to the Bank. The
Debtor acknowledges that any payments on of other proceads of Collateral received by the Débtor from Account
Debtors, whether befors or after notification of the Security Interest to Account Debtors and whether befors or after
default under the General Security Agresment shall ba raceivad and held by the Dabtor in trust for the Bank and shall
be turned over to the Bank upoen request.
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INCOME FRON AND INTEREST ON COLLATERAL

{a} Untit defauit, the Debtor reserves the right tc recsive any Money constituting income from or interest on
Coliateral and if the Bank receives any such Monay prior to default, the Bank shall sither cradit the same against the
Indebtedness or pay the same prampily to the Debtor.

(b} After default, the Dabtor will not request or receive any Money constituting income from or interast on
Collateral and if the Debtor receives any such Monay without any request by it, the Debtor will pay the same
promptly to the Bank.

INCREASES, PROFITS, PAYMENTS OR DISTRIBUTIONS
{a) Whether or not default has occurred, the Debtor authorizes the Bank:

{) to receive any increase in or profits on Collateral {other than Money) and to hold the same as part of
Collateral, Money so received shall be treated as income for the purposes of Clause 8 hersof and dealt
with accordingly;

{i) to raceive any payfment or distribution upon redemption or retirement or upon dissolution and Higuldation
of the issuer of Collateral;

{idi) to surrender such Collateral in exchange therefor and to hoid any such payment or distribution as part
of Collateral.

(b} If the Dabtor receives any such increase of profits {other than Morney} or payments or distributions, the Debtor
will daliver the same promptly to the Bank to ba held by the Bank as herein provided.

DISPOSITION OF MONEY

Subject to any applicable requirements of the P.P.5.A., all Money coflected or raceived by the Bank pursuant to or in
sxarcise: of any #ght it possesses with respact to Collateral shall be zpplied on account of Indebtedness in such
manner as the Bank deeins best or, at the option of the Bank, may be held unappropriated in a collatera! account or
relsased to the Dabtor, all without prejudice to the Kability of the Dabtor or the rights of the Bank hergunder, and any
surplus shall be accounted far as fequired by law.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The happening of any of the following events or conditions shall constitute defauit under the General Security

Agreenient which is herein referred to as "default™

{a) the nonpayment when dus, whather by acceleration or otherwise, of any principal ¢r interast forming part of
tndebtednass or the failure of the Debtor to observe or perform any obligation, covenant, term, provision or condition
containad in the General Security Agreement of any other agreament between the Debtor and the Bank;

{b) the daath of or a declaration of incompetency by & court of competent jurisdiction with respeot to the Debtor, if
an individual;

{6) the bankruptey or insofvency of the Debtor; the filing against the Debtor of a petition in bankruptcy; the making
of an assignment for the benefit of creditors by the Debtor; the appointment of a receiver or trustee for the Debtor
or fof any assets of the Debtor or the institution by or against the Debtor of any other type of insolvency proceeding
under the Bankeuptey and Insclvency Act or otharwise;

{d} tha institution by or against the Debtor of any formal or informal proceeding for the dissolution or liquidation of,
settlement of claims agalnst or winding up of affairs of the Debtor;

{8} 1f any Encumbrance affecting Collateral bacomas enforceable against Collateral;

{fi if the Dabtor ceases or threatens ta cease to carry on business or makes or agrees 1o make a bulk sale of assats
without complying with applicable law or commits or threatens to commit an act of bankruptoy;

{g) If any execution, seguestration, extent or other process of any court becomes enforceable against the Debtor or
if distress or analogous procass is levied upon the assets of the Debtor or any part thereof;

Page 4 of 7

105




12

13.

' E-FONM 820 (01/2014)
{h} if any certificate, statement, representation, warranty or audit report heretofore or hereafter furnished by or on
behalf of the Debtor pursuant to of in connection with the General Security Agreement, or otherwise lincluding,
without limitation, tha representations and warranties contained herein) or as an inducement to the Bank to extend
any credit to or to enter into the General Ssourity Agreement or eny other agresmerit with the Debtor, proves to
heve been false in any matarial respect at the time as of which the facts therein set forth were stated or certified, or
proves to have omitted any substantial contingent or unfiquidated liabllity or claim against the Debtor; or if upon the
date the General Ssourity Agreament was executed thera shall have besn any material adverse change in any of the
facts disciosed by any such certificata, representation, statement, watranty of atidit report, which change shall not
have been disclosed to the Bank at or prior to the time of such execution.

ACCELERATION

The Bank, in its sole discretlon, may declare all or any part of indebtednass which is not by its terms payable on
damand to be immadistely due and payable, without demand. or notice of any kind, in the avent of default, or if the
Bank considers itself insecure or that the Collateral is In jeopardy, The provisions of this clause are not intended in
any way to affect any rights of the Bank with respect to any Indebtedness which may now or hersafter be payable
on demand.

REMEDIES

(a) Upon default, the Bank may appoint or reappoint by instrument in writing, any person or psrsons, whether an

-officer or officers or an employse of employees of the Bank or not, to be a receiver or receivers (hereinafter called a

"Receiver”, which term when usad hersin shali include a receiver snd manager) of Collataral (including any intersst,
income or profits therefrom) and may remove any Receiver so appointed and appoint anather in histher staad. Any
such Receiver shall, so far as concerns responsibility for histher acts, be deemed the agent of the Debtor and not the
Bank, and the Bank shall nat be in any way respansible for any misconduct, negligence or non-feasance on the part
of any such Recsiver, his/her servants, agents or employees, Subject to the provisicns of the Instrument appointing
him/her, any such Receivar shall have power to take possession of Collateral, to preserve Collateral or its value, to
carry on or concur in carrying on all or any part of the business of the Debtor and to sell, leass, license or otherwise
dispose of or concur in selling, leasing, licensing -or otherwise disposing of Collateral. To facilitate the {oragoing
powers, any-such Receiver may, to the sxclusion of all others, including the Debtor, enter upon, use and occupy alt
premises owned or cccupled by the Dabtor whefein Collateral may be situate, maintain Collateral upen such
premises, borrow money on a secured or unsecured basis and use Collateral directly In carrying on the Debtor’s
business or.as security for loans or advances to enable the Receiver to carry on the Debtor's business or otherwise,

as suich Receiver shall, in its discretion, determine. EXcept ag may be otherwise directed by the Bank, all Money
received from time {o time by such Receiver: in earrying out hisfher appeintmaent shall be received in trust for and
pald over to the Bank. Every such Receiver may, in the discretion of the Bank, be vested with all or any of the rights
and powaers of the Bank.

{6} Upon default, the Bank may, sither directly or through its agents or nominees, exercise any or all of the powers
and rights given to a Receiver by virtue of the foregolng sub-clause (a).

{c} The Bank may take possession of, collect, demand, sue on, snforee, recover and receive Collateral and glve
valld and binding recelpts and discharges therefor and in fespect thersof and, upon default, the Bank may sell,
license, lease or otherwise dispose of Collateral in such manns¢, at such time or times and place or places, for such
consideraticn and upon such tarms and conditions as to the Bank may seem reasonable.

{d} In addition to those rights granted herein and In any other agreement now or hereafter in effect betwesn the
Debtor and the Bank and in addition to any other rights the Bank may have at law or in equity, the Bank shall have,
both before and after default, all rights and remedles of a secured party under the P.P.S.A, Provided always, that the
Bank shall not ba liable or accountabls for any failure to exercise its remedies, take possassicn of, collect, enforce,
realize, sell, lease, license or otharwise dispose of Collateral or to institute any proceedings for such purposes.
Furthermore, the Bank shali have no obligation to take any steps to preserve rights against prior parties to any
instrument or Chattel Paper whether Collateral or procesds and whether or not in the Bank’s possession and shall
not be liable or accountable for failure to do so.

{e} The Debtor acknowledges that the Bank or any Receiver appointed by it may take possession of Colilateral
wharever it may be located and by any method permitted by law and the Debtor agress upon request from the Bank
or any such Receiver to assemble and deliver possession of Collataral at such place or places as dirscted,

{fi The Debtor agrees to be liable for'and to pay ail costs, charges and expenses reasonably iricurred by the Bank or
any Recsiver appointed by it, whether directly or for services rendered lincluding reasonable solicitors and auditors
costs and other legal expenses and Recelver remuneration), in operating the Debtor's accounts, In preparing of
enforcing this General Security Agreement, taking and maintaining custody of, preserving, repaiting, processing,
préparing for disposition and disposing of Collateral and in enforcing or collecting indebtedness and alf such costs,
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charges and exXpenses, together with any amounts owing as a result of any borrowing by the Bank or any Recaiver
appointed by it, as permitied hereby, shall be 2 first charge on the proceeds of realization, collection or disposition of
Collateral and shall be secured by the General Saecurity Agreement.

{g} The Bank will give the Dabtor such notice, if any, of the date, time and place of any public sale or of the date
aftar which any private disposition of Collateraf is to be made as may be raguired by the P.P.S.A.

() Upon default and receiving written demand from the Bank, the Debtor shall take such further action as may be
necassary to evidence and effect an assignment or licensing of Intellactual Property to whomever the Bank directs,
including to the Bank. The Debtor appoints any officer or directer or branch manager of the Bank upon defsult to be
its attorney in accordance with applicable legislation with Tull power of substitution and to do on the Dabtor's behalf
anything that is required to assign, license or transfer, and to record any assignment, licence or transfer of the
Collateral. This power of attorney, which is coupled with an interest, is irrovocable until the release or discharge of
the Security interest.

MISCELLANEOUS

{(a} The Dabtor hereby authorizes {he Bank te fila such finanging statemants, financing change statements and other
documents and do such acts, matters and things as the Bank may deem approgpriate to perfect on an ongoing basis
and continue the Security Interest, to protact and preserve Collateral and to realize upoen the Security Interest and
the Debtor hersby irrevocably constittites and appoints the Manager or Acting Manager trom time to time of the
branch of the Bank which is the Debtor's branch of .account the true and lawful -atterney of the Debtor, with full
power of substitution, t¢ do any of the foregeing in the name of the Débtor whensvei and whefever it may be
deemed necessary or expedient. The Debtor walves the Debtor's right to receive a copy of any financing statement
or financing change statement registered by the Bank, or of any verification statement with respect to any financing
statement or financing change statement registared by the Bank. (Applias in all PPSA provinces except Ontario)

(b} Without limiting any other right of the Bank, wheunever Indebtedness is immediately due and payable or the Bank
has the right to daclare Indebtedness to be immediately dus and payable (whether or not it has so declared), the
Bank may, in its sole discretion, set off against Indebtadness any and all amounts then owed to the Debtor by the
Bank in any capacity, whesther or not due, and the Bank shall be deemed to have exercised such right to set off
immediately at the time of making its decision to do 8¢ even though any charge tharefore Is made or antered on the
Bank's records suhsequent thereto,

{c} Upon the Debtor’s failure to perform any of its dutiés hereunder, the Bank may, but shall not be obiigated to,
perform any or all of such duties, and the Debtor shali pay to the Bank, forthwith upon written derand therefor, an
amount equal to the expense incurred by the Bank in so doing pius interast thereon from the date such sxpense is
incurred until it is paid at the rate of 16% per annum.

{d! The Bank may grant extensions of tima and other indulgences, take and give up security, accept compositions,
compound, compromise, settle, grant releases and discharges and otherwise deal with the Debtor, debtors of the
Debtor, suretiss and othars and with Collateral and other security as the Bank may see fit without prejudice to the
llability of the Debtor or tha Bank's right to hold and realize the Security interest. Furthermore, the Bank may
demand, collect and sue on Celiateral in either the Debtor’s or the Bank’s name, at the Bank’s option, and may
endorse the Debtor's name on any and all chegues, commercial paper, and any other Instruments pertaining to or
constituting Collateral.

fe} No delay or omission by the Bank in exercisiig any right or remedy hereunder or with respect to any
Indabtedness shali operate as a walver thereof or of any other right -or remedy, and no single or partial .exercise
thereof shall preclude any other or furthar exercise thereot or the axercise of any other right or remiedy, Furthermore,
the Bank may remedy any defaulf by the Debtor hereunder or with respect to any Indebtedness in any reascnable
manner without waiving the default remedied and without walving any other prior or subsequent default by the
Debtor. All rights and remedies of the Bank granted or recognized herein are cumulative and may be exercised at any
time and from time to time independently ar in combination,

{f} The Debtor walves protast of any Instrument constjtuting Coflateral at any time held by the Bank on which the
Debtor is in any way liable and, subject to Clause 13i{g) hersof, natice of any othsr action taken by the Bank.

(g} The General Security Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the partles hersto and their
respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. In any action brought by an assignee of the
General Security Agreement and the Security literest or any part thereof to enforce any rights hereunder, the Debtor
shall not assert against the assignee eny claim or defence which the Debtor now has or hereafter may have -against
ths Bank. If more than one Debtor executes the Generai Security Agreement the obligations of such Débtors
hereunder shall be joint and several.
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{h} Na modification, variation or amendment of any provision of the General Security Agreement shall he made.

{} Subject to the requirements of Clauses 13(g) and 14{j) hereof, whenaver sither parly hereto is raquired or
antitied to notify or direct the other or to make a demand or requast upon the othser, such notice, direction, demand
or raquast shall ba In writing and shall be sufficiently given, In the case of the Bank, if delivered to it or sent by
prepaid registered mail addressed to it at its address of the branch of the Bank which is the Debtor's branch of
actount or as changed pursuant hereto, and in the case of the Debtor, if dalivered to it or if sent by prepaid
ragistared mail addressed to it at its last address known to the Bank. Either party may notify the other pursuam
hereto of any change in such party’s principal address ta be used for the purposes hereof.

{i) The General Security Agreement and the seaurity atforded hereby is in addition to and not in substitution for any
other security now or hereaftar held by the Bank and is intended to be a continuing Security Agreement and shall
remain. In full force .and effect until the Manager or Acting Manager from time to time of the branch of the Bank
which is the Debtor's branch of account shall actuafly recelve written notice of its discontinuance; and
notwithstanding such notice, shall remain in full force and effect thereafter until all Indebtedness contracted for or
created before the receipt of such notice by the Bank, and any extensions or renawals thareot {whathar made before
or after receipt of such notice} togethar with interest aceruing thereon after such notice, shaill be paid in full.

{k} The headings used in the General Security Agreement are for convenience only and are not to be considered a
part of the General Security Agreement and do not in any way limit or amplify the terms and provisions of the
General Security Agreement.

{i When the contaxt so requires, the singular number shall be read as if the plural were expressad and the
provisions hereot shall be read with any grammatical changes. necessary dependant upon the persen referred to
being a male, fomale, firm or corporation.

()} In the event any provisions of the General Security Agreement, as amended fiom time to time, shall be desmed
invalld or void, in whole or in part, by any Court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions of the
Gansral Security Agreement shail remain in full force and affect,

In) Nothing herein contained shaill in any way oblifjate tha Bank to-grant, continue, rensw, extand time for payment
of or accept anything which constitutes or would constitute indebtedness.

{0} The Debtor acknowledges and agrees that in the avent it amalgamates with any other comparty of companies it
is the infention of the partiss herato that the term "Debtor” when used herein shall apply to each of the
amalgamating companies and to the amalgamated company, such that the Security Interest grantad hereby;

{iy shall extend to "Collateral” {as that term is herain defined} owned by sach of the amalgamating
companies and the amalgamated company at the thme of amalgamatlon and to any "Collateral”
tharaafter ownad or acquired by the amalgamated company, and

i) ghall secure the "Indebtedness” (as that term is herein defined} of sach of the amalgamating companies
and the amalgamated company to the Bank at the time of amalgamation and any “Indsbtedness” of the
amalgamated company to the Bank thereafter arising. The Security Interest shall attach to "Collateral”
owned by each company amalgamating with the Debtor, and by the amalgamated company. at the
time of tha amalgamation, and shall attach te any "Collatéral” thereafter owned or acquired by the
amalgamated company when such becomes owned or is acquirad.

{p) !n the event that the Dsbtor is a bady corporate, It is hershy agreed that The Limitation of Civil Rights Act of the
Province of Saskatchewan, or any provision thersof, shall have no application to the General Sscurity ‘Agreement or
any agreement or Instrument renawing or extending or collatérsl 10 the General Security Agreement, In the event
that the Debtor i3 an agricultural corporation within the meaning of The Saskatchewan Farm Security Act, the
Debtor agrees with the Bank that all of Part 1V {other than Section 48) of that Act shall not apply to the Debtor,

{a) Theé General Security Agréement and the transactions svidenced hereby shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the province in which the branch of the Bank which is the Debtor's branch of account
is located, and the laws of Canada applicable therein, as the same may from time to time be in effecy, including,
where applicable, the P.P.S.A, If the branch of the Bank which is the Debtor's branch of account is locatad in-the
Provinee of Quebec, then the General Security Agreement and the transactions evidenced hereby shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Pravince of Ontaric and the laws of Canada applicable therein.
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ROYAL .BUS'iNESS OPERATINGLINE
STANDARD TERMS

The following set of standard terms (the "Standard Terms") are deemed to be included in the Reyal Bank of Canada
Businsss Banking Loan Agreement (in Qusbsc, the "Loan Agreement, Guarantee and Hypothec") (the “Agreemant"} for
business banking services which refers to terms with this vetsion date and In which Royal Bank of Canada ("RBC")
provides a revalving line of credit service (the "Operatingline”) to a customer {tha "Customer”}.

1. Dafinitions

“Account” means the Customer’s Operatingline lpan account that RBC has opened in the Customer’s name &t the
Branch;

“Branch™ means the branch indicated in the Agresment;
"Cradit Limit" means the maximum amaount set out in the Agreement;

“Detit” means the total amount owing by the Customier to RBC as a result of {i} transactions made thvough the
Customar's business current account, (I} Transactions debited or transferred from the Account under the Agreement,
and (iil) intarost and fass:

"interest Payment Day” means the day indicated as such in the Agreemant;

“Interest Rate” means the annual rate of interest indicated in the Agreement;

“Minirsurn Retained Balance™ means the miniimum retained balance indicated in the Agrssment;
“Minimum Revolvement Amount” means the minimum ravolvement amount indlcated in the Agraement;

“Royal Bank Prime™ maans the annuat rate of interest RBC announces from time to time as a reference rate then in effect
for determining intarest ratss on Canadian dollar commercial loans In Canada; and

“Trafisaction” means a transfer of funds from the Account to the Customer’s business current account, mads by RBC
pursuant to section 3 of the Agreement,

2. General Terms of Agreament

If requested by RBC, the Customer must give BBC up-to-date cradit and financlally-related information about the
Customer, Ths Customer agress to tell RBC at once about any unfavourable change In the Customer's financial position
that seriously weakens the Customer’s ability to pay the Debt fo RBC as required under the Agreement. Unitil the
Customer doas so, RBC may assume that alf information the Customer has supplied to RBC about the Customer’s
financial position Is true and complete at the time the Customes gives it to RBC and that each change in the Customer’s
financlal positlon after that time is not an unfavourable one of the nature outlined abava.

Unless BRBC otherwise agrees; the Customer must make &ll payments under the Agreement in money which is legal
tender .at the time of payment. As weli, the mere lapse of the time fixed for performing an obligation under the
Agrasment will have the effact of putting the Customer in defauit of it,

Unless the Customer and RBC otherwise agree in writing, no interest will be payable ai any time by RBC on a credit
baiance in the Account.

2. Account Use

The Account is a revolving line of credit and suich cradit is avallable enly te cover transactiocns made through the
Customer's business current account (including without limitation, transactions by way of a withdrawal request, debit
request, payment of a cheque or other payment instrument) where there are no sufficlent funds in that account to fund
the transaction. Whenever the balanceé in the Customer's businéss cufrent account is less than the Minimum Retained
Balance, RBC will, once a day, debit the Account such that the Customer's business current account is thereafter nil or
in positive balance. The amount of siich debit will be the Minimum Revolvement Amount or & whole multiple of the
Miniriism Revelvement Amount, and RBC will then deposit such amount to the Customef's business current account,
The amount of sach such transfer will form part of the Debt as of the day of the transfer,

If. pursuant to the preceding paragraph, a transfer of funds from the Account to the Customer's busineas current
account to fund a transaction in the Customer's business current account (including without limitation, a transaction by
way of a withdrawal request, a deblt request, a payment of a cheque or other payment instrument), will exceed or causs
the Debt to excesd the Credit Limit, than RBC will decline the transaction of raturn the cheque or payment instrurment
unpaid,

4, Compllange with Law

The Customer represents and warrants that the Customer i5 in compliance and agrees that in the future the Customer
will comply with all laws, regulations, official directives and authorizations applying to the Customer of any of the
Customer’s property or business, including any relating to the environment or public health and safety ("Environmental
Laws"). The Customer will notify RBC immediately of any breach of Environmental Laws., The Customer will also
promptly advise BBC of all communications and reports in connection with any matters matesially affecting the
Customer, the Customer's property ot business and relating te Environmantal Laws.

5, Operatingline PLUS
If the Customer selects the Operatingline PLUS option, RBC is authorized (but not obligated to) whenever there is a
credit balance in the Customer's business currant account that exceads the sum of the Minimum Retained Balance plus
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the Minimum Revolvement Amount, to apply all or part of such credit balance in an amount which is equal 1o the
Minimum Revelvament Amount of a whole multipie of the Minimum Revolvement Amount, as a repayment on account of
the Debt.

8. Crodit Limit

BBC is not required to proceed with any Transaction an the Account if the Transaction would cause the Debt to excesd
the Credit Limit, ‘

7. Set Off

RBC iz authorized (but is not obligated), at any time and without notice, to apply any credit balance {(whether or not then
due) 1o which the Custemer is then beneficially entitled on any account (in any currency) at any branch or agency of RBC
in of towards satisfaction of the Debt and the Customer's other abligations under the Agreement, For that purpose, RBC
is imevocably authorized to use all or any part of any such credit balance 10 buy such other currencies as may be
necessary to effect such application.

8, Debiting of Accounts

REC is authorized, but not obligated to debit any of the Customer’s acceunts with any amounts due and péyabte by the
Custoriier undder the Agreement.

9. interest Charges

ta} Interest on Debt: The Customer will pay 1o RBC, on a monthily basls, interest on the Debt at a rata squal to the
tnterest Rate in effect In tha manner set out in this section. In this respaect, RBC will use any credit balance in the
Customer’s business current account in payment of the interest and if there are insufficient funds, the Customer
must fund the Customer’s businass current account to make such payment,

{b) Intetest Calculation: RBC will chargs the Customer interest on the amount of the Debt from {and including) the day
that each Transaction is made to the day RBC receives payment in full of the Debt.

Tha intarest RBC charges on the Debt accrues dally and is calculated and pavable monthly as well after as before
maturity, default and judgment, with interest on overdue interest at the same rate as on the principal amount of
Debt.

(¢} Interest Posting! On the Interest Payment Day, RBC will post the amount of interest the Customer owes on thé Debt
to a business current account the Customer holds with RBC which the Customer has selacted for this purpose. RBC
rhay post that Interest to the Account instead if, for any reasen, it cannot be posted to {or It is returned unpaid from)
such other business currant account,

{di interest Act Disclosure: The annuat rates of interest to which the rates calculated in accordance with the Agresment
are equivalent, are the rates so calculated multiplied by the actual number of days in the calendar year and divided
by 360,

10. Payment of Debt
ta) The Customar must pay all interest on the Debt as raquired by the Agreement to keep the Account up-to-date;

{b} RBC inay, at its discration, require the Customar to make minimum principal payments of Debt on a regular periodic
basiz and the Customer must make these miniraut payments a#t the times and in the way BBC advises the
Customer to from time to time to keep the Ascount up-to-date;

ic} The Dabt is not permiited to exceed the Credit Limit. If, however, at any time the Debt owing does exceed the
Cradit Limit, then the Customer must pay such excess amount as soon as the Customer is advised or aware that the
Credit Limit has been axceeded.

{d) The Customar must keep the Account up-to-date st all times, whether or not account statements have been delayed
of have not bean recelved by the Customsr; and

e} The Customer will pay the Debt to RBC on demand.

Subject to the above provisions of this section, the Customer may pay the Debt it owes to RBC in full or in part at any
time without notice, penalty or bonus. RBC will apply each payment of the Debt in the following order: reimbursement of
expenses, interest charges and fees; pringipal amount of Dabt.

11, Hold an Funds

RBC has the right to hold any chequs, Instrumant of other item used to pay Debt, and to defer a Transaction until RBC
retelves payrent for the cheque, instrument or other tem.

12. Fees, Costs and Expenses

The Customer agrees to pay to RBC all fees charged by RBC relating to the docurentatien ot registration of this
Agreement and any security provided to RBC. In addition, the Customer agrees to pay to RBC the set-up fees and the
monthly feas for the Operatingline, as indicated in the Agreement. Also the Customar will pay all expenses and legat
costs, {on the basis of a solicitor and its own client, or where applicable including extra-judicial costs) incurred by RBC in
sonnection with the Agresment and any security provided to RABC and the enforcemant of RBC's rights against the
Custemer of under any sacurity, These costs and expenses may include (but are not limited to) costs of amendments,
appratsals, inspections, environmental reviews, registrations, searches, dischargas and actions taken in connection with
the preservation of RBC’s rights under the Agreement or under RBC’s security.
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13, Notices

Any notica or demand under the Agreement shall be given in writing by way of a letter addressed to the Customer. If the
lotter Is seni by telecopier, it shall be deemed received on the date of transmisslon provided such transmission is
received prior to 5:00 p.m. on.a day on which the Customer's businass is open for normat businass, and otharwise on
the next such day, If the letter is sent by ordinary mall at the address of the Customer, It shall be deemad received on
the date faliing five {5} days following the date of the Istter, untass the letter is hand-delivered to the Customer in which
case the latter shali be deemed to be received on the date of the delivery. The Customer must advise RBC at once about
any changes in the Customer’s sddress.

14, Changes

{a} The Interest Rate charged under the Agresment fluciuates with Royal Bank Prime and will change automatically,
without notice, whenever Royal Bank Prime changes.

{b) Other Terms: REC may change any other terms of the Agreement at any time, including changes to the Cradit Limit,
Intarest Rata, service fees or sther charges. RBC will give the Customer written notice of any such chatigss. Notice
may be given in a monthly atatement. [|f the Account is used or any Debt remains unpaid after the effective date of
a ghange, it will attest that the Customer has agreed to the change.

16. Termination

E-FORM 470 (0 F/2014)

RBC may terminate this Agreement at any time by advising the Customer In writing. The Customer may also terminats
this Agreement by advising RBC in writing.

if the Agreement is terminated, the total Debt owing will be dus and payable forthwith. The Customer’s obligations to
RBC ndar this Agreement wili remsain in effect until the Customer pays RBC the total Debt owing.

18. Proof of Debt and Interost Rata

RBC will kesp records showing the transactions made through the Customer’s business current account and amounts
which have been debited or transferréd from the Account to the Customer's buginess current account, together with all
accruad interest and fees, and the amounts the Customer has repaid to RBC, under the Agreaemant, These records will,
in the absence of manifest efror, constituté conclusive evidence of the Dabt the Customer owes RBC at any time. RBC
may use a microfilm, electronic or other reproduction of any Transaction or other decument evidencing the Debt to
establish the Customer’s Hability for that Debt.

if it is necessary for RBC to prove the interest Rate in effect &t any time, the Customer agrees that RBC's written
cartificate, setting out the Interest Rate at that time, is sufficient proof for that purpose,

17. Whole Agreemant

The Agresment and any documents or Instruments refarred to in, or delivered pursuant to, the Agreement constitute the
whole and entire agreement between the Customer and RBC with respect to the Operatingline. The Agresment is
sepatate and in addition to any other agreements which exist or may exist batwaen the Customer and RBC refating to
any other loans or facilities that the Customer has with RBC.

18, Soverability

The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enferceability of any
othar provision of this Agreement and such invalid provision shall be deemed to be severabla.

19. Governing Law and Submigsion to Jurisdlotion

The Agreement shall be construed in agcordance with and governed by the laws of the Province where the Customer
resides and the laws applicable tharein. The Customer irrevocably submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the couris
of such Province and acknowledges the competence of such tourts and irrevocably agrees to be bound by a judgment of
any such couft.

20. Lenguage

The Customer and RBC have expressly requested that the Agreement and all ralated documents, including notices, be
drawn up in the English Janguags. Les parties ont expressément demandé que la présente convantion et tous lgs
documents y afférents, ¥ compris les avis, saient rédigés en Jangue anglaise. (Quabec only / Québec seulement)

21, Elsctronic Mail and Fax Transmission

RBC is entitled to rely on any agreement, document or instrument provided to RBC by the Customer or any guarantor as
applicable, by way of electronic mail or fax transmission as though it were an original document, RBC is further entitled
to -assume that any communleation from the -Customer received by electronic mail or fax transmission is a reliable
communication from tha Customsr,

22. Elgatronic Imaging

The parties hereto agree that, at any time, RBC may convert paper records of this Agreement and all other
. documentation delivered to RBC (each, a "Paper Record") into electronic images {each, an "Flectranic Image”} as part of
the RBC's normal business practices. The parties agree that each such Electronic image shall be considered as an
authoritative copy of the Paper Record and shall be legally binding on the parties and admissible in any legal,
administrative or other proceeding as conclusive gvidence of the contents of such document in the same manner as the
orlginal Paper Record.

Page 3 of 3

111




RBC Royal Bank®

112

E-FORM 16187 (01/2814)

RBC ROYAL BANK® BUSINESS CREDIT CARD AGREEMENT

This Agreement sets out the terms under which each
Cardholder may use their Card, Account and Credit Card
Choques {as such terms are defined below). it replacas all
prior RBC Royal Bank® Visa® Creditlina for Small Business™,
RBC Royal Bank Business Credit Card (folnt. and several

ligbility} or RBC® Business Cash Back MasterCard*

agreaments,

You should read this Agreement carefully as it explains your
rights and duties. it also iz your promise to pay all Debt
ewlng on an Acedunt.

1. What the Words Mean:

Here are the definitions of seme of the words usad in this
Agreement, The words are in their singular form, but the
definitions alsa apply to the plural forms of the words.

" “ u

we”, “oi”™ or "us” mesns Roval Bank of Canada and
companies under RBC®;

"you" or "your" means.the Applicant and each Qwner;

"Acgount" means an RBC Royal Bank Visa Business Platinum
Avion® ("Visa Platinum Avion™), RBC Business Cash Back
MasterCard {"Cash Sack MasterCard™), RBC Royal Bank Visa
CreditLine for Small Businaess ("CLSB"}, RBC Royal Bank Visa
Businaess {"Visa Business") or RBC Royal Bank Visa Business
Gold ("Visa Buslness Gold”} account that we have opened for
the Applicant. We may add other types of accounts to this
list at any time. All Cards we issue to Cardholders under an
Account form part of the Account;

“Account Credit Eimit” means the maximum amount of Debt
that can remaln outstanding and unpald in an Account;

“Agcount Doeumentation™ means any document relating to
an Account we may send to you andfor Cardholders from
time to time inciuding, but not limited to, changes to the
Agreamant or priclng changes, an insert enclosed with a
papar Account Statement ot information provided on an
Account Statarment, legal and regulatory information that we
may be required by law 1o ssnd you or, with your consent,
any marketing offer;

“Account Statemsnt” means the monthly  written
statement(s) of tha Account in either paper or electronic
farmat;

*Agreement” maans this agreemsent and the Liability Waiver

Program insturance certificate sent with the Cardis), it

appiicab!a. A copy of the certificata Is aisc available at
Jheros :

“Applicant” means the business identtﬂed in an application
for an Account;

"ATM" means an asutomatod teller machine;

"Card" means any credit card Issued to a Cardholder on an
Account;

"Card Credit Limit" means, for Visa Platinum Avion, Visa
Business and Visa Business Gold -Accounts only, the
maximum amount that cdn remain outstanding and unpaid on
a Card;

"Cardholder” means an individual to whom a Card is issued;

"Cash Advance” means an advance of cash that is chargsd
to an Account through any efigible means including, buf not
fimited to, a cash withdrawal from an Account, use of a
Credit Card Cheque, a balance transfer, a Cash-Like
Transaction or a bill payment (that i5 not a pre-authorized
charge that you get up with a merchant};

“Gash Advance intersst Rate” means the annual Interest rate
applicable to Cash Advances made on an Account, The Cash
Advance Interest Rate is showh on each Account Statement;

“Cash-Like Transaction” means a transaction that is similar
1o cash and we treat as a Cash Advance including, but not
limited to, a money order, a wire transfer, a travelier's
cheque and a gaming transaction {including, but not fimited
to, betting, offtrack betting, race track wagers, casino
gaming chips and lottery tickets};

“Credit Card Chegue" means a chequse drawn on an Account.
It can only ba in the form of a cheque that we provide to you
for tha Account;

"Debt" means, on any day, the total amount owing to us
under this Agreement. The Debt is made up of all amounts
charged to an Acgcount including, but not limited to,
Purchases, Cash Advances, Credit Card Cheques, interest
and Fees;

"Electranic: Means” means any comumunication method
permitted by us from time to time including, but nat Umited
to, computer, tablet, telephone, cell phone, smart phone,
Internet, email, personal digital assistant, facsimile or other
method of telecommunication or electronic transmission;

"Fee" means a fee that applies to an Account, Fees are set
out in this Agreement and may alsc be in any other Account
Documentation we may send to you and/or Cardhoiders from
time to time;

“Grace Pariod” means the number of days betwaeen the last
Statement Date and the Payment Due Date for an Account.
For CLSB, there is nc Grace Pericd;

*Interest Rate® means either the Cash Advance interest Rate
or Purchase Interest Rate and Interest Rates means both the
Cash Advance Interest Rats and the Purchase Interest Rate;

"Introductory Interest Rate” means a special low Interest
Rate that may be offered to Cardholders. Only naw
Accounts are eligible for an Introductory intarest Rate;

"Linbility Waiver Program” means the RBC Royal Bank
Business Credit Card Liability Waiver Insurance program for
Visa Platinum Avion, Visa Business and Visa Business Gold
Accounts only, in force from time to time;

"Minimum Payment” means the amount indicated as such on
an Account Statement;

"MNew Balance” means the amount indicated as such on an
Account Statement. The New Balance is made up of all Debt
incurrad up to the Statemant Date;

"Owner” means each individual who signs this Agreement as
such, and includes any individual who owns a business as a
sole proprietor, or has invested In a business as a partner,
shargholder, membay, mited partner or beneficial owner, and
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who is authorized to act and make financial dacisions on
behalf of the Applicant including, but not limited to, opening
an Account, asking for additional Cards oh an Account or
asking for an Account Credit Limit increass;

“Payment Due Date” means the date indicated as such on an
Account Statement;

"PIN" means the perscnal identification number used by @
Cardholder to access the Account;

"Prime Interest Rate"™ means the annual rate of interest we
anncunge from time to time and post at our branches and on
our website at www,rberoyalbank.com/frates as a reference
rate for determining Interest rates on Canadian doliar
commerclal loans in Canada;

"Promotional Interest Rate” means a special low Interest Rate
that may be offersd to Cardholders periodically after an
Account has baen opened; :

“Purchase” means a purchase of goods or services (or both)
that is. charged to an Account, A Purchase may be made
with or without the use of a Card;

"Purchase Interest Rate™ means the annual interest rate that
applles to Purchiases made on an Account. The Purchase
intarest Rate is shown on each Acgount Statement;

"Service Adminlstrator” means any individual an Owner or
Signing Authority has designated as such;

“Signing Authorlty” means any individual {who may or may
not be an Owner), designated in ths way we require the
designation to be made, as being authorized to act and make
financlal decisions on behalf of the Applicant and the Owners
Ineluding, but not Hmited to, opening-an Account, asking for
additional Cards on an Account or asking for an Account
Credit Limit increase; and

"Statement Date” means the last date of the Account
Statement period for which an Account Statement is
produced.

2. Genefal Terms of Agreement:

This Agreement applies to each Card, Account and Crédit
Card Cheque. It aiso apples if we send you or the Cardholder
a renewal or roplacement Card., You agree to all of the terms
and conditions set out in thls Agreament and the terms and
conditions in any amended or replacement agreement relating
to the Account. You must give a copy of this Agreement,
including any amendments to this Agreement, to each
Owner.

tf a Cardholder signs, activates, or uses their Card or their
Card number, it will mean that each Owner has racelved and
read this Agresment and agrees to and accepts all of its
terms.

By accepting this Agreemeént and using the Card, you have
roquested the benafite and services provided automatically
with the Card. Differént types of Cards come with different
features. Some of thess features are highlighted fater in this
Agreemgnt. The *Welcome Kit" that Cardholders receive with
their Cards oislines the benefits and services which
Cardholders can enjoy. We may change any of these
features at any time. Third parties wilt provide some of the
benefits and servicas outlined in your "Welcoms Kit". These
third parties, and not us, are responsible to you and the
Cardholders for the services and benefits offered or provided
by them. Optional features are avatlable at an additionat cost
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to you. If you request any of these optional features, we
may send you a separate agreemient outlining any additional
terms and conditions for the optlonal features.

You confirm that all information provided to us regarding the
Applicant’s ownarship, cantrol and structure Is true, complate
and accurate in all respects.

You must promptly give us up-to-date credit and
financially-related information about you when we ask for it.

The Section and Sub-Section headings in this Agreement are
for eass of reference only. They do not form part of this
Agresment,

3. Account Opening/Card lssuance;

a. Visa Piatinum Avion, Visa Business and Visa Business Gold
Accounts

At your request and subject to our approval, we will open an
Account and issue a Card to the Cardholderis) that you
designate.

For any Carcdholder who is not responsible to pay the Debt,
we will only kesp a record of the name of the Cardholder, in
this situation, you must obtain and record the name, addrass,
telephone number, and date of birth of aach Cardhoider. You
must keep this information for at least seven (7) vears after a
Card has been cancelled, If we ask, you will give us this
infarmation.

b. CLSB and Cash Back MasterCard Accounts

At your raguest and subject to our approval, we will open an
Account and issus a Card to the Cardholder{s) that you
designate. The maximum number af Cardholders for sach
Account is two {2}, and each Cardholdar must be an Owner,

4. Card Renewal and Replacement:

A renewal or replacement Card will be issued bafore the
expiration date on the Card, Renewal and replacement Cards
will continue to be issuad to Cardholders in this way untll you
teil us to stop,

5. Account and Card Use;

A Card can only be used by the Cardholder in whose name it
has been issued. Cardholders can usa their Card andfor Card
number for any permitted purpese including, but not limited
to!

+ making Purchases, whether they buy in person, over
the phone, using the internet or by mall order;

« making cash withdrawals at one of our branches, at
another financial institution or at an ATM;

+ writing cheques using the Credit Card Cheques; and

« taking advantage of a balance transfer offer by
transferring all or part of a balance they owe ¢lsewhere
to the Account; through our onlineg banking service or
by calling 1-800 ROYAL® 1-2 {1-800-788-2512),

A Cardholder must not use their Card for any llegal, improper
or unlawful pwrposs, We may refuse to authorize certain
types of transactions as we decide Including, but not limited
to, Internet gambling.

6, Dabt Incurred Without a Card:

[f a Cardholder incurs Debt using their Card number ondy,
without having presented their Card to a marchant {such as
for an Internet, mail order or teiephone Purchase), the legal
effact wiil be the same a3 If the Cardholder had used their
Card and signed a sales draft or receipt or entered their PIN.
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7. If the Card Expires

The Card expires 8t the end of tha month shown on the Card,
Cardhoiders must not use their Card or Card number If their
Card has expired or after this Agreement [s terminated. ¥
anything is charged to an Account after tha Card has expired
or this Agreemant is terminated, you are still responsible for
and must pay the Dabt.

8. Lost or Stolen Card:

It a Card is fost or stolen or if any one of you or the
Cardholder suspects it is lost or stolen or being used by
someons else, you or the Cardholder must tell us
immediately,

After we have boen fold that a Card has been or may have
bean lost, stolen or misused, we will be able to prevent the
usa of the Card and Card number. f we suspect
unauthorized or fraudulent use of a Card or a Card number,
the use of any Caid can be blocked or prevented without
natice to you.

You will not be liable to us for any Debt resuiting frem the
loss, theft or misuse of a Card that is incurred after the time
any. one of you-or the Cardholdar tells us about the loss, thefi
-or misuse of.a Card,

Notwithstanding the abave, if a Card is lost, stolen or
misused, you will be liable to us for:

i. alt amounts owing on the Card, up to a maximum of
$1,000.00, resulting from tha loss, thaft or misuse of
the Card that is incurred before the time any one of you
or the Cardholder tells us about that loss, theft or
misdse through any one or more transactions on the
Card, for which the Card or Card number has been used
to complete those transactions; and

i. all amounts owing on the Card, resuiting from the loss,
thett or misuse of the Card that is incurred before the
time any one of you or the Cardholder tells us about
that loss, theft or misuse through any ons ofF more
transactions on the Card, for which the Card and PIN
have been wused together 1o complete those
transactions.

9, Cradit Limits:

a. Visa Platinum Avion, Visa Businass and Visa Business Gold
Accounts

If you have more than one Card, we will sat an Account
Cradit Limit representing the total credit limit for all Cards.
We may change the' Account Credit Limlt from time to time,
without notice.

The Debt must not exceed the Account Cradit Limit.
Howavar, we may (but ars not required 1o, aven if we have
done. so before} permit the Debt to exceed the Account Credit
Limit.

A Card Credit Limit will be set for each Card. We may
change any Card Cradit Limit from time to time, withou
notice,

We will tell you the Card Credit Limit on the documents
accompanying each Card when it is issuad, and on each
Account Statement.

Each Cardholder must cbserve their Card Credit Limit. The
amounts owing on a Card must niot exceed the Card Credit
Limit. However, we may [but are not required to, even if we
have done so before} permit the ainounts owing on a Card to
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exceed the Card Credit Limit. We may, at any time, refuse to
permit the amounts owihg on a Card to eXceud the Card
Cradit Limit and require you ic pay any balances which
excead the Card Credit Limit,

When ths amounts owing on a Card exceed the Card Credit
Limnit on the Statement Date, an Overlimit Fee will be charged
to ths Account,

H you consistently make late payments or rio payments, we
may reduce the Card Cradit Limit for a particular Card andfor
the Account Credit Limit, without hotice,

b. CLSE and Cash Back Accounts

An Accaunt Cradit Limit will be set for the Account. We may
change the Account Cradit Limit from time to time, without
notice. We will teli you the Account Credit Limit on the
documants accompanying each Card when it Is issued, and
on each Account Statement.

The Dabt must not exceed the Account Credit Limit.
Howevar, we may (but are not required to, sven If we have
done so before) permit the Debt to exceed the Account Credit
Limit.

We may, at any time, refuse to permit the Debt {o exceed
the Account Credit Limit and require yvou to pay any balances
that exceed the Account Credit Limit.

When the Debt excesds the Account Credit Limit on tho
Staternent Date, an Overlimit Fee will be charged to the
Account,

If you consistantly make fate payments or no payments, we
may reduce the Account Cradit Limit without ndtics.

10. Card Cancellation/Revocation or Suspension of Use:

The Applicant may cancel a Card by giving us a notics 1o
cancel the Card, Except as otherwise set out ih this
Agreement, you will be Hable to us for all Debt, resulting from
the use of the Card from the time we recelve the notice of
canceliation until the time the Appficant notifles us that the
Card has been destroyed.

It the amounts owing on a Card exceed the Card Credit Limit
or the Debt outstanding on an Account exceeds the Account
Credit Limit, wa may suspend the right to use the Card or the
Account, and ali services we provided under this Agresmsnt
until the excess is paid in full,

We may revoke or suspend a Cardholder's right to use their
Card or Card number at any time without notice. A
Cardholder must give up their Card to you or to us at yaur {of

-our} request.

11. PIN and Other Security Features:

We will provide each Cardholder with a PiN for their Card or
tell them how to select it. Wae will also tell them how to
change. thelr PIN. We will treat a PIN as the Cardholder's
authorization whenever i is used with a Card. Any
transactions done using the Card with the PIN will have the
same legat effect as if the Cardholder signed a written
direction to us.

Each Cardholder must protect the security of their Card and
the Account by keeplng thelr PIN confidential and separate
from their Card at all times, Cardholders must selsct a PIN
which cannot be easlly guessed. Cardholders must not select
a PIN using a combination of their name, date of biith,
telephone numbers, addrass or soclal insurance numbers. No
one but the Cardholder is permitted to know or usa the PIN or
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any other security codes such as passwords, access codes
and Card numbers that may be used of required for Internet
or other transactions. Each Cardholder will keep these
security codes cenfidentiat and separate as well,

If someone uses a Card and PIN or the Card number with any
other security. code to make unauthorized purchases or
othervyisa obtain the benefits of the Card or Account, you
wiil not be responsrble for those charges provided that (i) you
and the Cardholder are able to establish to our reasonable
satlsfaction that the Cardholder has taken reasonable steps
to protect their Card, Account and/or Credit Card Cheque
against loss or theft end to safeguard their PIN and othet
sacurity dedes in the manner set out in this Agreement, or as
wa may otherwise advise Cardholders from time to time, and
{iy you and the Cardholder cooparate fully with our
investigation.

You will however remain fully responsible for all Dabt
incurred in connection Wwith an unauthorized use if &
Cardholder voluntarily discloses their PIN or other ssourity
code or otherwiss contribute to the unauthorized or
fraudulent use of & Card or access to the Account, or you or
the Cardholder fails) to tell us in a reascnable time that a
Card or Credit Card Chegue has been iost or stalen or that
you belleve someons else may know a Cardholder’'s PIN or
other socurity code.

You are not rasponsible for unauthorized use of Cardis} or
Card numberis) in transactions in which neither a PIN nor a
security code Is used as the Cardholder verification method.

‘For the purposas of this protection, "unauthorized use” of a
Card or Card number means use by a person, other than the
Cardholder, who doss not have actual, implied or apparent
authority for such use, and from which neither you nar ths
Cardholder receives any bensfit, In addition to what is set
out in this Agrsement, we may téli Cardholders other steps
they must take to safeguard their PIN or security codes.

12. Liabllity for Debt:

Except as otherwise set oul in this Agreemant and, for Visa
Platintim  Avion, Visa Business and Visa Business Gold
Accounts only, -except as may ofherwise be provided under
the Liability Waiver Program, the Applicant, together with
sach Owner, will be jointly and sevsrally ({in CQuebec,
solidarily} llable to us for all Debt charged to the Account, o
mattar how It s incurred or who has incurred it and even
though we may send Account Statamants to Cardholdets and
not to any of you. However, we will provide Account
Statement(s) or other information about that Debt to any of
you at the request of any Qwner or Signing Authority. The
Anplicant, together with each Ownsr, will aiso be jointly and
severally in Quebec, solldarily) liable ta us for everything else
you have agreed tc with us in this Agreement.

An Owner will continue to be liabls for the Debt as long as
the Owner's name appears on the Agreement, if there Is any
change to tho ownership or structure of the Applicant
including, but not fimited to, If an Owner ceases to be an
owrnaear, it Is your responsibility to notify us as a new
Agreement may need to ba signed.

We may apply any money the Applicant or an Owner has on
depaosit with us or any of our atfiliates against any Dabt you
owe us. We can apply the money on deposit against any
Debt without notice to you or any of you.
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13. Making Payments:

it is your responsibility to ensure that payment on the
Account is received by us for cradit to the Account by the
Payment Due Date shown on each Account Statement,

Even whean normal postal service is disrupted, payments
must continue to be made on each Account,

Payments can be made on the Account at any tmae.
Payments can be made by mail, at one of our branches, at an
ATM that progesses such payments, through our telephone,
mobile or online banking service or at certaln other finanoial
institufions that accept such payieénts, by registéring the
Account as a "Bill Payment" for this purpose.

Payments sent to us by mail or made through another
financial institution’s branch, ATM or online banking service
may take several days to reach us. A payment is not
credited to the Account and does not automatically adjust the
available Card Cradit Limit or Account Cradit Limit until we
have processed the payment., [t may take several days to
adjust the available Card Credit Limit or Account Credit Limit
depending on how payment is made. To ensure thet a
payment is credited to an Account and automaticaliy adjusts
the available Card Credit Limit or Account Credit Limit on the
same husiness day, a payment must be made prior to
6:00pm local time on that business day at one of our
hranches or our ATMs in Canada or through our telsphone;
mobila or online banking service,

You can also ask us to process your payments on the
Payiment Due Date sach month as a pre-authorized debit
{"PAD") from a deposit account, The account must be with
a Canadian financial institution and must be In Canadian
dollars.

You may choose to pay the Minimum Payment or your New
Balance, ¥ you ask us to automatically process payments as
a PAD, you wil be bound by the terms and conditions set out
in Rule #H1 of the Rules of the Canadian Paymentis
Association, as amendad from time to time, as well as this
Agreament. You also waive any pre-notitication requirements
that exist whaere variable payment amouUnts are being
authorized. You may notify us at anytime that you wish to
revoks your authorization for a PAD, A PAD may, under
certaln circumstances, be disputed for up to ninety (90} days,
To obtain more information on our rights against you under a
PAD, you may. contact the financial institution that hoids the
bank account you have designated for the PAD or review the
Rules at www.cdhpay.ca.

You are not permitted to make a payment exceading a Card
Credit Limit unless the amounts owing on the Card at the
time of payment is more than the Card Cradit Limit. You are
not permitted to make a payment exceeding tha Account
Credit Limit unless tha Dabt at the time of payment Is more
than the Account Credit Limit. If you do make & payment of
more than the Card Credit Limit or thd Account Credit Limit,
interast will not be paid en the positive balance. Any positive
palance i not considered a deposit account for the purpose
of insurance given by Canadian Deposit Insurance
Corporation,

14. Paymant of Debt:

a. Except as otherwise set out in this Agreement, you may
pay the Debt in respect to each Account In full or in part
at any time.
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b. Except as otherwise set out in this Agreement, you
must make a Minimum Payment, by the Paymant Due
Date, equal to the lesser of () for all Accounts except
CLSB; $10.00, plus interast, plus Fees or, for CLSB,
$100,00, plus interest, plus Fees, and (lij your New
Balance, in order to keep the Account up to date. Each
of these amounts. will be shown on the Account
Statement. Any past-due amounts will be included in
your Minimum Payment amount.

¢, You must also pay any amount that exceeds either the
Card Credlt Limit or Account Credit Limit immediately,
even though we may not yet have sent an Account
Statement on which that axcess appears.

d. You must keep the Account up-to-date at all timas even
if we are delayed in or pravantsd from sending. for any
reason, any one of more Account Statements. You
must contact one of our hranches or our Cards
Customar  Service  at 1-800  ROYAL® 1-2
(1-800-768-2512) at least once a month during such a
dslay or interruption 1o obtain any payment information
you do not have and need to know in order for you to
comply with your obligations under this Section.

e, If any payment made by you in respect of the Account
is not honoured, or if we must raturn it to you becauss
it cannot be processed, a "Dishonoured Payment Fee"
will be charged and Card privileges may be revoked or
suspended.

f. if the New Balance on a previous Account Statament
was paid in full by the Payment Due Date, the Grace
Perlod for the current Account Statement will continue
to be the minimum number of days applicable to the
Card. If the New Balangs on the previous Account
Statement was not paid in full by the Payment Due
Date, the Grsce Period for the current Account
Statament will be extended to twenty-five (28] days
from the. last Stdtement Date. This saction 14(f) doss
not apply to CLSB, which has no Grace Period.

156, Payment Allocation:

Whan you make a paymant, we will apply the amount -up to
your Minimum Payment, first to any interest and second to
any Fees, We will apply the remainder of any Minimum
Payment to vour New Balance, generally starting with
amounts beafing the lowest Intsrest Rate hsfore amounts
bearing a higher Interest Rate,

If you pay more than your Minimum Payment, we will apply
the amount over the Minimum Payment to the remainder of
your New Bslance. If the different amounts that make up
your New Balanca ars subject to different Intarest Rates, we
will ‘alfocate your excess payment in the same proportion as
each amount bears to the remainder of your New Balance. If
the same Interest Rats is applicable to both a Cash Advance
and a Purchase, we will apply your payment against the Cash
Advance and the Purchase in a similar proportionate mannat,

H# you have paid more than your New Balance, we will apply
any gayment in excess. of the New Balance to amounts that
have not yet appeared on your Account Statement in the
same mannar as sei out above.

Credits arising from returns or adjustments are generally flrst
applied to transactions of a similar type, second to any
interast and Fees, and the ramainder to other Debt owing in
the same manner as we apply payments in excess of the
Minimum Payment.
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186, Interest Rates and Charges:

The current Interest Rates are set out on each Account
Statement. They are expressed as annual percentage rates.
The standard Interest Rates are shown In the chart outlined In
the "Standard Annual Fees, Grace Period and Interest Rates"
Section of this Agreement. If you are taking advantage of
any special offers, the interest Rates may be different than
those on the chart. The Interest Rates may change from time
to time.

a. All Accounts except CLSB

You can avold interest on both Purchases and Fees by always
paying the New Balance in full on or before the Payment Due
Date every month. Your Mew Balance is shown on vour
Account Statement and is made up of all Purchases, Cash
Advances, interest and Fees incurred up to the Statement
Date,

if you do not pay your New Balance in full on or before the
Payment Dus Date, you wilf lose your intergst-free status for
Purchases and Fees, f this happens, you must pay interaest
on all Purchases and Fees shown on that month’s Account
Statement a5 well as interest on all new Purchases and new
Fees. Intorest is calowlated from the transaction date, until
the day we process your payment for the total amount you
owe. To regain interest-free status on your Purchases and
Fees, you must pay your New Balance by the Payment Due
Date. Interest on previously billed Purchases and Feas that
has accrued since the end of the last Account Statement
period to the date payment in full of the New Balance is
raceived, will appear on your next month's Account
Statement,

Cash Advances never benefit from an interest-free Grace
Period. This means interast is charged from the transaction
date,

b. Applicable to CLSB Account gnly

The Interest Ratals} in effect for the entire perlod covered by
an Acgcount Statement Is calculated by taking our Prime
interest Rate in effsct on the first business day of the month
in which we prepare your Account Statement and adding the
interest rate premium {fixed percentage) applicable to the

Account., We will tell yvou what your interest rate premium is

in a document accompanying each Card, Your Interest Rate
changes as our Prime Interest Rate changes. We will raview
the Agcount and Interest Rates from time to time, and may
decrease of Increase your interest rate premium at any time.
if we change your interest rate premium, we will give you
thirty (30} days written notice of the change.

We will charge you interest on the amount of each Purchase,
Cash Advance and Fee from (and including) the transsaction
data recorded for them on the Account Statement, where
thay appeared for the first time, to the day we receive
payment in full of the Dabt.

o, Applicable to all Accounts

Fees are treated in the same manner as Furchases for the
purpose of charging Interest, The transaction date for a Fee
is the date that the Fee is posted to the Account,

We do not charge interest on intarest.
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Wae calcuslate interest daily, however we only add it to the
Account monthly, The amount of interest we charge is
caloulated as follows:

« We add the amount you owe each day, and divide
that total by the number of days in the Aecount
Statement period. This is your average daily balance;
and

« Wa multiply the average dally balance by the
applicable. daily Intersst Rate(s) {obtained by taking
the annual Interest Rate{s) and dividing by the
number of days in the year). Wa then multiply this
value by the total number of days in the Account
Statement period tc determine the interest we
charge you.

If there is mora than one applicable Interest Rate, we
catculate the amount of interest you ows based on the
average daily balances that apply to each Interest Rate.

The Account Statsment will show your New Baiance,
Payment Due Date, transaction and posting dates, and
vour Interest Ratels), including any Intreductory Interest
Rate or Promotiona! Intsrest Rate.

17. Cash Advances

interest ls always charged on a Cash Advance from the
day the Cash Advance is made. "Cash Advance Fees” or
"Promotional Rate Fees" also apply to certain Cash
Advances. These faes are set out in the "Other Fees”
Section of this Agreemant, All of the following types of
transactions are freated as Cash Advancés:

« When s Cardholder makes a cash withdrawal from
tha Account at ain RBC Roval Bank branch or ATM, or
at any ather financial institution’s branch or ATM;

« When a Cardholder uses a Credit Card Cheque;

« When a Cardholder takes advantage of a balance
transfar offer by transferring all or part of a balance
they owe elsswhere to the Account, through our
online bariking service or by calling: 1-800 ROYAL®
1-2 {1-800-768-2512);

v When a Cardholder makes bilf payments from the
Account or transfers funds from tha Account to
another RBC Royal Bank bank account, at one of our
branches or ATMs, or through our online banking or
tolaphone banking service {1-800 ROYAL® 1-1} (bill
payments made by pre-authorlzed charges (o the
Account that a Cardholder sets up with a merchant
will usually be treated as Purchases, not as Cash
Advances, and we will not charge interest from the
trangaction date); and

+ Whan a Cardholder makas Cash-Like transactions.

If you are uncertain as to whether a particular transaction
will. be treated as a Cash Advance or as a Purchase, you
shouid contact us.

18. Standard Annusl Fees, Grace Period and Interest
Rates:

The following provides soms guidance with respact to
standard non-refundable annual fees, Grace Periods and
standard Interest Rates for cur Cards. Your annual fes
may be different from that shown in this Agreement if the
terms and conditions fer other banking and related
services you have with us provide otherwise. Annual fees

are .chargsd on the first day of the month following the -

Account opaning {whethar or not the Card is activated)
and annually thereafter on the first day of that sames
month.

Flrst Each
Card  Additional
Card

Business
Cash Back
MasterCard

Visa
Business
Gold*

$40.00 $40.00

E-FORM 18187

Cash
Advance
interast

Rata

Purchase
Interast
Rate

21

*We no longer accept applications for this Card.
19. Other Fees:
Cash Advance Fee:

No additlonal charges for a
Cash Advance obtalned
from one of our ATMs in
Canada.

$3.50 for a Cash Advance
obtained from any other
designated ATM locatad in
Canada or for a Cash-Like
Transaction made in
Canada.

$5.00 for a Cash Advance
obtained from an ATM
located outside Canada or
for a. Cash-Like Transacticn
made outside Canada.

When a Cardholder obtains the
following types of Cash
Advances at the standard
interest Rate or at an
Introductory Interest Rate, a
$3.60 fee for each transaction
will be charged to the
Account, upless otherwise
stated:

{i) cash withdrawals from an
Account at one of our
branches or ATMs, or at any
other financial institution's
ATM, in Canada;

(i} bilt payments from an
Account {that are not
pre-authorized charges that a
Cardhoider sets up with a
merchant} or when a
Cardhoider transfars funds
from the Account to another
RBC Roval Bank hank account
at one of aur branches or
ATMs, or through our onling
banking or telephone banking
service;
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{iil} when a Cardholder makes
Cash-Like Transactions, in
Canada.

If the cash withdrawal or
Cash-Like Transaction ogcurs
outside Canada, a $5.00 fas
will be charged to the Account
each time.

There is no fee if a Credit Card
Cheque is used at the standard
Cash Advance Interest Rate or
tntroductory intorest Rate,

Promotionsl Rate Fee: If a Cardholder takes advantage of a
Pramotional Interest Rate offer during the promotional period
by writing a Cradit Card Cheque or making a balance transfer
through our online banking service or by cailing 1-800
ROYAL® 1-2 (1-800-768-2512), a fee representing up to 3%
of the Credit Card Chequs or balance transfer amount will be
charged to the Acoount. The exact Promotional Rate Fee will
be disclosed at the tima the offer is made to you,

Overlimit Fee: If the New Balance shown on your Ag¢count
Statement excgesds the Card Cradit Limit or Account Credit
Limit, a $26.00 fee will be charged to the Account on ths
Statement Date.

Dishonoured Payment Fee: If a payment is not processed
bacause a finaneial institution returns a cheque or refuses a
pre-authorized debit, a $40.00 fee will be charged o the
Account on the date the payment reversal is posted, This
fee is in addition to any fee charged by yow financial
institution for insufficient funds in the account,

Additional Account Statement Copy: For an additional copy
of an Account Statement, a $6.0C fee will be charged. For
each Aocount Statemant update obtained from one of our
branches in Canada or at an ATM that provides Account
Statemeant updates, a $1.60 fae will be charged.

Transagtion Recelpt Copy Fea: For a copy of any transaction
receipt that relates to a transaction on the current Acpount
Statement, no fes will be charged. Otharwise, a $2.00 fee
for each copy will be charged each time the situation occurs.
Receipt copies are not always available for Purchases made
using a Card with a PIN.

You must pay all Fees. Fees are charged within thrae (3)
business days from when the transaction is posted, Fees
may change and if they do, we will tell you in advance.

20, Forelgn Currency Transactions:

Wa will bili you in Canadian currency, If a Cardholder uses a
Card and/or the Card number outside Canada or tharges
amounts to the Account in a foreign currency, we will
convert the charges into Canadian dollars no later than the
date we post the fransaction to the Account at our exchange
rate which is 2.6% over a benchmark rate set by the
payment card network that is in effect and that we pay on
the date of the caonvarsion.

We will show the exchange rate for each {ransaction on the
Account Statement. If you are paying interest on tha
Account, intarest will also be charged on the full value of the
foreign transactions, as determined using our exchange rate.
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21. RBC Rewards Program;

If & Card allows Cardholders to earn RBC Rewards points
which can be redeemed for merchandise, travel and other
rewards, you and the Cardholders acknowledge that you and
their participation in the RBC Rewards program is subject to
the RBC Rewards Terms and Conditions, which are avaiiable
for review at www.rherewards.com. The RBC Rewards
Terms and Conditions are subject to change without notics.
Paper coples are available upon request, by calling 1-800
ROYAL® 1-2 {1-800-768-2512),

22. RBC Cash Back Program;

If a Card sllows Cardholders to earn back a ocertain
percentage of the total amount of eligible net Purchases
charged to the Account annually, as a credit to the Account,
you and the Cardholders acknowledge that you and thelr
participation in the program is subject to the RBC Cash Back
Terms and Conditions, which are available for review at
wwwi.rbe.com/businesscashback. The RBC Cash Back Terms
and Conditions are subject to change without notice. Paper
copies are avaitable upon request, by calling 1-800 ROYAL®
1-2 {(1-800-769-2512),

23, Special Offers:

We may make special oftfers to any Cardhoider from time to
time including, but not limited to, Introductory interest Rate
and other Promotionat Interest Rate offers .that temporarily
fower the Interest Rate applicable to portions of the Debt,
such as certain types of Cash Advances,

We sometimaes make Introductory Interest Rate offers that
apply to new Accounts only. For exampla, we could offer a
low Introductory Interest Rate for certain transactions for a
{imited period of time, such as a 3.9% Introductory interest
Rate on all Cash Advances for 9 months.

A Promotional Interest Hate offsr iz an offer we may
periodically make to any Cardholder and that applies to their
Card after an Account has been opened. For example, we
could offer any Cardholder a low Promotional interast Rate
for certain-transactions for a limited period:of time, sush as a
3.9% Promotional Interest Rate on Credit Card Cheques for §
months.

If we make any Cardholder a special offer, we will explain its
scope and duration and any additional terms that apply to it
If a Cardholder accepts the special offer by using the Credit
Card Chaques or otherwise taking advantage of the special
offer, both you and the Cardholdar will be bound by this
Agreemsnt and any additional terms we set out in the offer,
When the promotion expires, the special.offer terms will end
and the tarms and conditions of this Agraement will continue.
to apply, including, but net limlted to, those related 1o the
Interest Rate and payments. The Acoount Statement will set
out any Introductory Interest Ratels} or Promotional Interest
Rate{s) that apply to the Cardholder’s New Balance, any
remaining balances associated with those rates, and when
those rates expire. I any expiry date falls on a date for
which wae do not process Account Statements (for exampie,
weekends and certain holidays), we will continue to provide
the Cardholdsr with the benefit of the lritfoductory Interest
Rate or Promoctional interest Rate until the naxt statement
processing day,

24, Cradit Vouchers

If a store or merchant issues a credit voucher or gtherwise
gives us a refund, we will reduce the balance you owe by the

amount of the refund. However, if interest has been charged
as a rosulf of the trangaction, we will not refund the interast,
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If a Cardholder uses their Card or their Card number for a
transaction In a forsign currency, and the merchant gives
therm a credit veucher or refund, the two transactions {the
charge and the credit} will not exactly balance because of the
sxchange rate and currency fluctuations,

25, Recurring Payments:

You are responsible for any recurring payments Cardholders
have authorized merchants to charge to an Agoount, even
after you or we cancel this Agreement. If you wish te
discontinue any recurring paymsent, you must contact the
merchant in writing and then check the Account Statement
to ensure that the payments hava, in fact, stopped. {f the
paymsnts have not stoppsd despite your instructions to a
merchant, ws may be abls to heip you if you give us a copy
of the written request to tha marchant.

28. Problems With a Purchassa:

Woe are not rasponsible for any problsm you or the Cardholder
has with any Purchase. If you or the Cardholder have a
problem with anvthing purchased using a Card or Card
pumber, you must still pay all Debt as required by this
Agreemaent. You niust settle the probleri or dispute directly
with the store or merchant,

in some c¢ircumstances, we may be able to help vou resolve
disputed transactions. If you wish to discuss a dispute,
gdnitact us toll-fres during rogufar business hours at 1-800
ROYAL® 1-2 {1-800-769-2512).

Wa will not be responsible if a Card is not honoured by a
marchant at any time and for any other problem or dispute
you or a Cardholder may havas with a merchant.

27. Account Statement, Verification and Disputes:

Each month, wa will provide an Account Statement. We will
not provide an Account Statement if there has bteen no
activity on tha Account in that month and no Debt is owing,

We prepare the Account Statement at approximately the
same time each month, Unless you have apted and
consented to electronic Accoumt Statements, we will send
the Account Statement to you, directed to the Appilcant’s
address tast provided to us by any of you or the Signing
Authority or, in the case of Visa Platinum Avion, Visa
Business and Visa Business Gold Accounts, directiy to
Cardholders at your request. If the date on which we would
ordinarity prepare the Account Statement falls on a date for
which we do not process statements (for axample, weekends
and certain holidays), we will prepare the Account Statement
on the next statement processing day. The Payment Due
Date will be adjusted ascordingiy.

When available, you may choose to receive the Account
Statement and Account Documentation through Electronic
RMeans. [n that case, the Account Statement and Account
Documentation will only be made available 1o the Applicant
and will not be sant directly to Cardholders,

Each menth, you will ensure that you promptly examine the
Account Statement and each transaction, interest Rate,
charge and fes recorded in it. You will notify us In writing of
any errofs, omissions, or objections 1o an  Account
Statement, of an entry or balance recorded in it, within thirty
{30) days from the Statement Date recorded on that Account
Statement.

It vou do not notify us as required, we are entitled to treat
the Account Statement entries and balances as complete,
correct and binding on you and we will be released from all
claims by you in respect of those Account Statement, entries
and balances.
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We may useé scanning and microfilm, electronic or other
reproduction of any Furchase or Cash Advance draft or other
documaent evidencing Debt to establish your Hability for that
Debt. Upon request, we will provide a microfiim, electronic
of other reproduction within a reasonable time frame of any
Purchase or Cash Advance draft or other dotument
evidenging the Debt. Qriginal records of Pui¢hases may not
be avaitable in paper form. Digital and microfim records are
valid to establish the accuracy of our records.

28. Transier of Righis:

We may, at any time, sell, transfer or assign any or ail of our
rights under this Agreement. i we do so, we can share
information concerning the Account with prospective
purchasers, transferees or assignees. In such case, we wilt
epsure that they are bound to respect your privacy rights in
the same way that we are,

29, Electronic Communication:

You acknowledge and sgree that we may provide Account
Statements, this Agreement or Account Documentation
through Electronic Means, with vyour consent. Any
dasuments sent through Electronic Means will be considered
"in writing" and to have bsen signed and delivered by us as
though it were an original document. We may. rely on and
consider any dooument received through Electronic Means
from the Applicant; an Ownsr or any Signing Authority, as
applicable, or which appears to have been received from
either one of you as authorized and binding on you, as though
it were an original document. In order to communicate with
us by Electronic Means, you agres to comply and reguire
each Cardholder to comply with certain security protocols
that we may establish from time to time and to take all
reasonable staps to pievent unauthorized access to any
Account Statement and any other documents exchanged
through Electronic Means.

30. Service Administrator:

A Service Administrator is a person you of a Signing
Authorlty designate in the manner we have prescribed for this
purpose, as eligible to perform non-financial transactions on
an Account on behalf of the Applicant such as, but not
limited to, redeaming RBC Rewarids points if your Cardis)
earn RBC Rewards points under the RBC Rewards program.
A Service Administrator is not authorized to perform financlal
transactions on bshalf of the Applicant such as opening an
Account, asking for additional Cards on an Account of for an
Account Credit Limit increase,

31, Amending this Agreement:

We may change the Interest Rates and Fees for each
Account perlodicalty, Except as otherwise set out in this
Agresment, we may also change this Agreement at any time.
if we do, you will be given at least thirty [30) days prior
notice of each changs. We will notify you of any change in
any one or more of the following ways: by sending you a
notice {written or through Electronic Means, with your
consent), by adding a notice on your Account Statemsnt; by
posting a notice in all of our branches, by diaplaying a notice
at our ATMs or by pesting notics on our’ wabsite. If we send
you a written notice, we will direct it to the Applicant’s
address last appearing on our records. If any Card or Card
number is used or any Debt remains unpaid after the
effective date of a change, & will mean that you have
accepted the amendment made to the Agresment.
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The beriefits and services we provide to any of you and the
Cardholders are subject to terms and conditions which may
be amendad by us from time to time, without notice to you
or any Cardhoider.

32, Limitations on Our Liability:

We uy to ensure that vour Card and Card number are
accepted when presented., However, we will not be tiable to
you or any Cardholder for damages {including, but not limited
to special, indirect or consequential damages) that may result
if, for any teason, a Card or Card number Is not accepted of a
Cardhaoldar is unable to access the Account.

33. Termination:

a. We or any one of you may terminate this Agreement at
any time by giving notice of termination to the other
partylies) in writing. We will diract It to tha Applicant’s
address last appearing on our records. Your natice must
be directed to our address appearing on your last Account
Statemant.

b. If any one of the following events ccours, it will mean you
ara in default, We may terminate. this Agreement
immediately and without giving you any notleas, if:

i, any one of you becomes insalvent or bankrupt;

i, someons files a petition in bankruptcy against any

one of you;

iii. -any one of you makes an unauthorized assignment for
the benefit.of your creditors;

iv. any one of you or someons ealse institutes any
proceedings for the dissolution, liquidation or winding
up of your affairs;

v, any one of you or somacna else institutes any other
type of insclvency proceeding involving your assets
under the Bankruptey and Insolvency Act or
otherwise;

vi, the Appiicant ceases or givas notice of its intention to
cease to carry on business or makes or agrees (o
make a bulk sale of its assets without complying with
applicable laws or any one of you commits an act of
pankruptey;

vii. you fail to pay any Debt or to perform any other
obligation to us as required under this Agreement;

viti, any one of vyou makes any statement or
representation to us that is untrue in any material
respect when made; of

ix. there is, in our opinion, & material adverse change in
the finarcial condition of any one of you.

c. If this Agreement is tefminated, you must immediately pay

alt Debt and ensure that each Cardholder destroys their

Card and any unused Credit Card Cheques.

d. i you fail to comply with your obligations to us under this
Agreement, you will be jiable to us for:

i. all costs and expanses if we use a collection agency
to collect or attempt to collect the Debt;

ii. alt court costs and reasonable legal fees and
axpenses (on a solicitor-client basis} we incur through
any legal process to recover any Debi, and

iil, al costs. and sxpenses we incUr In reclaiming any
Card and Credit Card Cheque.
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34, Exchange of Information Between You and Us:

Information about a Cardholder's use of their Card or
Account, and pertinant information about any reimbursement
of Debt received by the Cardholdar from the Applicant {or any
Owner}, Cardholder employment status and location, and any
other ralated Cardholder tracking information may be
exchanged hetwaen you and us,

36, Liability Waiver Program:

If you have a Visa Platinum Avion, Visa Business or Visa
Business Gold Account, the Liabliity Walver Program Is made
available at no cost. You may reguest us to waive, In
accordance with the Liablity Walver Program, your liabllity
for certain unauthorized charges posted to the Acecount, as
set out in this Agreement.

You will abide by the provisions of the Liabilily Waiver
Program as in effect from time to time.

36. Governing Law:

This Agreement shall be Interpreted and governed in
accordance with the laws of the province or territory in which
the Applicant residas {or the laws of the Province of Ontario
it the Applicant resides outside Canada) and the applicable
faws of Canada. In'the event of a dispuie, you agres that the
courts in the province or territory whete the Applicant rasides
{or tha courts in the Province of Ontario if the Applicant
rosides outside of Canada) shall be competent to hear such
dispute and you agree to be bound by any judgment of that
court,

37, Complete Agreament, sto.;

This Agreement constitutes the complete agreement between
you and us with respect to the Account and Cardis} and
related matters. No failure on your part to exerclse, and no
dalay by us in exsrcising, any right under this Agreement will
operate as a walver thereof; nor will any single or partial
exercise by us of any right under this Agreement preciude
any other or further exercise thereof, or the exercise’ of any
other right, by us under this Agreement.

38. Ne Assignment:

Neither the Applicant, nor any Owner, Cardholder or Signing
Authority has the right to assign or transfer this Agresment,
any Card aor Account, to anyong olse. |If a transfer or
assignment takes place, this Agresment will be terminated
urilass we state, in writing, that it is not terminated.

39. Your Choles of Language

When you applied for an Account, yopu indicated whether you
wantad us to communicate with you in English or French, We
wiil respect your cholce in all our correspondance with you. If
you would like & copy of this Agreement in the other
fanguage or would otherwise prefer to deal with us in the
other language, you will let us know.

40. In Quehec:

You have expressly requested that this Agreement and all
related documents, including, but not limited to, notices, be
drawn up in the English language. Vous avez expressément
demandé que ce contrat et tout document y afférent, vy
commpris tout avis, sofent rédigés en langue anglaise.

41. How to Contagt Us

i you need help or hava questlons about the Account, call us
toll-free at 1-800 ROYAL® 1-2 (1-BO0-769-2512) during
ragular business hours.

Page 9 of 11




"

42, Additional Access to Account;

Wse authorize any individual holding a business ciient card or
business client identification number (B.C.LN.), Issued by us
in the name of the Applicant, to obtain advances from the
Account, to transfer and deposit funds to the Account and to
obtain information about the Account and transactions on the
Account by using such business cfient card or B.C.LN. in
accordance with the terms of the agreemeants governing the
use of such business client eard or B.C.LLN.

43, Pratecting Your Privacy:
a. Collecting Your Perscnal information

We may from time to tims collect financial and other
information about you such as:

i, information sstablishing your identity (for example:
name, address, phone number, date of birth, ete.) and
your personal background;

ii. information relatad 1o transactions arising from your
selationship with and through us, and from other
financial institutions;

i, Information you provide on an application for any of our
products and services;

iv. information for the provision of products and services;
and

v. information about financial behavior such as your
paymaent histery and credit worthiness,

‘We may collect and confirm this Information during the
course of our relationship, We may obtain this information
from & variety of sources, inctuding from you, from service
arrangements you make with or through us, from cradit
reporting agencies and financial institutions, from registries,
from references you provide to us and from other sources, as
is necessary for the provislon of our products and services,

You acknowledge recelpt of notice that from time to time
reports about you may be obtalned by us from credit
reporting agencies,

b. Using Your Personal Information

This information may be used from time to time for the
following purpeses!

i. 10 verify your identity and investigate youwr personal
background;

i to open and pperate your account{s] and provide you
with products and services you may request;

iii. to better understand your finanoial situation;

v, to determine your sligibility for products and services
wa offer;

v, to help us better understand the current and future
needs of our clients;

vi, to communicate to you any benefit, featurs and other
information about products and services you have with
us;

vii. to help us better manage our business and your
relationship with us;

viit, 1o operate the payment card natwork;

ix. to maintain the accuracy and integrity of information
heid by a credit raporting agency; and

%, as reguired or permitted hy law,
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For these purposes, we may:

i.  make this information available to ow employess, our
agents and service providers, who are raquired to
maintain the confidentiality of this information;

i, share this information with other financial institutions;
and

iii. glve credit, financial and other related information to
credit reporting agencies who may share it with others.

In the event our service provider is located outside of Canada,
the service provider is bound by, and the information may be
disclosed in accordance with, the laws of the Jurisdiction in
which the service provider is located.

Upon your request, we may give this information to other
persons.

Ws may also use this information and share It with RBC
companies (i} to manage our risks and oparations and those
of RBC companies, {ii} to comply with valid requests for
information about you from regulators, government agencies,
public badies or other entities who have 2 right to issue such
requests, and (Hi) to let RBC companies know your choices
under "Other Uses of Your Personal [nformation” for the sole
purpose of honouring your choices, If we have your secial
Insurance number, we may use it for tax related purposes if
you held a product generating Income and share it with the
appropriate government agencies, and we may also share it
with credit reporting agencies as an ald to identify you.

¢. Other Uses of Your Parsonal Information

.  We may use this information to promote our products
and services, and promote products and services of
third parties we select, which may be of interest to
you, Wa may communicate with you through various
channals, Including telephone, computear or mail, using
the contact infarmation you have provided.

ii, We may aiso, where not prohibited by faw, share this
information with RBC companies for the purpose of
rafarring you to them or prometing to you products and
sefvices which may be of interest to you. We and RBC
comparies may communicate with yaou through various
channsls, including telephons, computer or mail, using
the contact information you have provided. You
acknowledge that as a result of such sharing thay may
advise us of those products or services provided,

Hi. If you also deal with RBC companies, we may, where
not prohibited by law, consolidate this information with
information they have about you to allow us and-any of
them to manage your relationship with RBC companies
and our business,

You undarsiand that we and RBC companies are separate,
affillated corporations. RBC companies include our affiliates
which are engaged in the business of previding any one or
more of the following services to the public: daposits, leans
and other financial services; credit, charge and paymant card.
services; trust and custodlal - services; securities and
brokerage services; and insurance services.

You may chooss not to hava this information shared or used
for any of these "Other Uses” by contacting us as set out
below, and in this event, you will not be refused oredit or
other services just for that reason. We will respect your
choices and, as mentioned above, we may share your
choices with RBC companiss for the sole pwpose of
honouring your cholces regarding “Other Uses of Your

Personal Information™.
Page 10 of 1%
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d. Your Right to Access Your Personal Information

You may obtain access fo the infermation we hold about you
at any timea and review its content and accuracy, and have it
amendad s appropriate; howsever, access may be restricted
as peimitted of required by law. To request access to such
information, 1o ask quastions about our privacy policies or to
request that the information not be usad for any or afl of the
purposes outlined in “Other Uses of Your Personal
Information” you may do so now or at any time in the future
by:

. contacting your branch; or

li. calling us toll-free at 1-800 ROYAL® 141
{1-800-769-2511}.

e. Our Privacy Policies

You may obtain more information about our privacy policies
by asking for a cepy of our "Financial fraud prevention and
privacy protection" brechure, by calling us at the toll-free
number shown above. or by visiting our web site at
www . rbe,com/privacyseourity/cal.

Signed as of the 4th day of June ,_2014
Month Yaar

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Applicant's legal businass nare (Name of the sole proprietor, partnership oy corporation)

Per. M«@A :

Name of Owner; MOUAMMAD KAMAL ANWAR

Titla:

Per; %i@:}_‘» *
Name of Owner: IMRAN BASHIR

Titha:

Per: *

Mama.of Owner:

TFitle:

{*WE have authority 1o bind the Applicant.)
{*I/WE agreb to be jointly and severally (in Quebec, solidarily} liable with the Applicant and the Qwnar(s))

® ™ Tradernarkis) ot Royal Bank of Canada. RBC and Royal Bank are registerad tradaemarks of Royal Bank of Canada,

¥ All other tredemarks are the property of their raspectiva ownars.
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This is Exhibit “I” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

ST ——

Commissionsr Fo?Taki_gtg\Afﬁdavits
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This lcan agreement (the “Agreement”) is hereby entered into by and between Thinking Capital Financial Corparation, having its registered address at 4200

boulevard Dorchester, Suite 300, Montreal, Quebec H3Z 1V4 (the “Lender”) and the borrower identified below {the “Borrower”), on

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

" Commercial Mailing Address
#5 - 1600 Aimco Blvd.

City ' Province

Mississauga ON
Email Address (Mandatory) Business P
kamal@heavenfresh.ca

First Name

Last Name
Kamal Anwar
* Home Address
#217 - 5030 HEATHERLEIGH AVE,
T Province
ON
JNER/EARTNER/CEEICER |
First Name Last Name
imran Bashir
Home Address T
303 Pinetrae Way
City Province
Mississauga ON

Emergency Contact

Benish Kamal

{416) 298-2023

N | Postal Code

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC

Physical Location Address
#5 - 1600 Aimco Blvd.

! postal Code | City

AW 1v1 Mississauga
e Fax

{416) 352-1857

. Date of Birth
1971-07-11

'Home Phone Number
(416) 293-0951
| Postal Code
| L5V 2G7

© Personal Email'Addré-séu(nl\ﬁéﬁ-&éar;r_}“

kamal@heavenfresh.ca

Date of Birth
1974-11-28
Home Phone Number
(416) 312-1857

13-13 Years
* Number of Locations
i1
Province | Postal Code

ON L Law v
7 Current Payment Processor
¢ Other

Ownership Percentage
P 34%

Mobiie Phone Number {Mandatery) '

(416} 704-1857

: Ownership Percentage
Loy

Mobile Phone Number (Méndgtoéﬂm o

(416) 312-1857

Personal Email Address {Maﬁﬂétaw}
imran@heavenfresh.ca

L5G 2R4

. Emergency Contact Phone Numbey/Email

| {416) 706-0951

Landlord Company Name
Davpart Inc.

Key Supplier Company Name

Indoor Purification Systems Inc.

" "Key Supplier Cantact Name

Relation

Spouse

oo Comra N ™
: Shraga Zlotnick

Landlord Phone Number/Email
{416) 222-3010

. Casey Fisher

"Franchisor Company Name

$141,669

i Key Supplier PhoﬁgNﬁhibér/Erﬁaif ’
. (801) 547-1162

© Franchisor Contact Name

Term of Loan

) _' Franchisor Phone Number/Email

months

iz
" Requested Amount siaiges " initiation Fee 6141669
Daily Reimbursement Amount 7 $6767:{ o _-' Rate of Interest (Tern')]” T 18.46% e
. | v a
bs Ds
T OWNER 1 INITIALS—— - - e e OWNER-Z INITIALS e e e

Page il
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SCHEDULE “A” TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1 Lean. The Approved Amount set out in the Summary of Loan Terms is the maximum amount that the fender has zgreed to lend to Borrower (the “Loan”). The initial advance of the Loan, being the
Requested Amount set out In the Summary of Laan Terms, will be disbursed In one (1} siagle advance, less the Initlaticn Fee, on a non-revelving basis. Once this loan amount is repaid it cannet be reborrowed {with the
exception of Top-Up Advances, if any, pursuant ta Section 8 below). In na event shall the sum of the outstanding partion of the Requested Amount and Lhe aggregate amount of alt cutstanding Top-lp Advances and other
permitted horrowings hereundar excead the Approved Amaount, All advances wili be made by the Lender to the Borrower in the form of an EFT {electronic funds transfer] directed to the Deposit Account.

2. Term. This Agreement will remain In force for the period spediffed in the Summary of Loan Terms, unless terminated earlier in acrordance with the terms of this Agreement {iacluding for an Event of
Default). Notwithsiznding the foregoing, the Loan is repayabie at 21l times and from time to time, on demand.
3. interest. The intarest rate that applies to the Loan is set out i the Summary of Ltoan Terms {the “interest Rate”), The Interest Rate is not an annual rate, but the rate of interest to be paid based on the Term

of the initlal Loan advance. The method for determining the anhual rate of interest to which sitch Interest Rate is equivalent is set forth in Sectien 26 below. Interest on the Loan will be caleulated dafly based on the Term
of the Loan and payable daity, both before and alter demand, defauit and judgment, The Borrower acknewledges and agrees that the payments of interast, fees and other amounts set out in this Agreement to Lender are
fair based on the business terms of the Loan.

4, tnitiatlon Fee. The Barrower will pay the Lender the lean initiation fee set out in the Summary of Loan Terms amongst other things, to defray the Lender's administrative costs associated with the Loan. The
Initiation Fee will be deducted from the initial disbursement of the Loan.
5. Repayment of Loan. The Borrower will repay the Loan, at the efection of the Lender, either {i) through dally debiting (“Dally Debiting”} of the Barrower's Deposit Account (as defined helow in Sectfon &) of

the Daily Reimbursement Amount set forih in the Summary of Lean Terms, or (i) by having such Daily Reimbursement Amount pald directly to the Lender in accordance with the spilt seitlement mechanism (“Split
Settlerent”} described in the payment processing agreement between the Borrawer and = single payment processor or bank approved by Leader {an “Approved Pyocessor”). Notwithstanding the amartization option
specified by the Lender as applicable to the toan, the Loan wilt in all respects be and remain a demand loan, and nothing in this Agreement will in any way ilmit the ability of the tender to demand repayment of the Loan at
any time and for any reason. The Lender may efect at any time without notice to the Borrower 1o change rapayment of the Loan from Daily Debiting to Split Settlement ar from S$plit Settifement to Daily Dabiting. Any such
change shall not affack or change the amortizaticn of the Loan or the Dally Reimbursement Amount. i addition, and withcut Hmiting its other rights and remedles hareunder, upan the occurrence of an Event of Default,
the lender may at its sole option require that repayment of the Loan be switched to Split Seitlement by way of the greater of the Daily Relmbursement Amount and a fixed percentage of the Borrower’s Daily Receipls,
with such percentage to be determined by the Lender In its sole discretion. in the event that the Loan has not been repaid in {ull by the end of the Term, the Borrower will pay to the tender on the first business day
following the last day of the Term, by way of liquldated damages, an amount equal to 5% of the outstanding principal bafance of the Loan on such date. In the event the Barrower requests ta change the amortization or
repayment frequency in respect of the Lean, and the Lender agrees to such change (which it may refuse in its sole discretion) the Borrower shall pay to the Lender a payment change fee equal to the fesser of {i) 5% of the
autstanding principai balance of the Loan on the date of such change, and {ii) $1,000. The Borrowar may voluntarily prepay the Lean prior 1o the end of term, subject to a prepayment fee of $% of the principal amount
prepaid.

6. Deposlt Account. (i) The bank account in whick Borrower’s debit and credit <ard receipts are deposited {the “Deposit Accaunt”) will be the exclusive account inte which the Appraved Processor remits all
credit card or debit card recelvables, (i) the Borrower will not direct or authorize the Approved Processor to make any payments refating te the credit card or deblt card receivables to any accaunt ather than the Deposit
Account, {iii) all Deposit Account agreements may be amended or terminated only with the prier written consent of the Lender. Upon request by Lender, Borrewer will epter into z similar account agreement with 3 new
banking Institutien acceptable to the Lender Lo move the Deposit Account to an alternative Institution. Borrower assumes ail Tiabilities in respect of Depasit Accounts and agreements with banks in respect thereof.
Borrower will, upan demand from Lender, provide Lender with current bank statements for the DeposTt Accaunt and any ether account maintained and used by Sorrower.

7. Daily Remiltances, The Borrower will cause the Approved Processor to deliver to tender, on a daily basis, in a format acceptable to Lender, a record from the Approved Processor reflecting the total gross
doffar amount of the preceding day's debit and credit card transactions processed by Appreved Processor for Borrower, irrespective of whether such amount consists of sales, taxes or other amounts collected by the
Barrower from its customers {“Daily Recelpts”); Daily Receipts processed on Saturday and Sunday and Monday wilf be callected upon on Tuesday. In the event that the Borrower changes the Approved Processor without
the Lender’s aricr approval or the Borrower ceases, for any reason whatsoever, to process debit and credit cards payment with the Approved Processor while remalning in business, the Lender will be entitlad to debit the
Borrewer's Oeposit Account {or any other account of the Borrower) an any day thereafter for an amount equal to the greater of the Daily Relmbursement Amount set out in the Summary of Lean Terms {subject to
adjustment for any Top-Up Advances) and five percent (5%} of the bafance cutstanding on the Lean en such day.

8. Top-Up Advances. The Borrower may be efigible for additional advances (the “Top-tfp Advances”) from time to time in the sole discretion of the Lender once the Borrewer has repatd a cerlain percentage of
the Loar, as specified in the Summary of Loan Terms. When the Lender has approved the Bosrrower for a Tap-Up Advante, the Borrower will be notified thercof (the “Top-Up Notice”). Upon the Barrower’s acceptance of
the Top-tip Notice ar, where Berrower has opted-in for automatic Top-Up Advances by selecting the “Opt-In" option in the Summary of Loar Terms, such Top-Up Advance(s) will be deposited i the Deposit Account within
[xx] business days. All Top-Up Advances are subjact to an addltiona! Initiation Fee and the other terms and conditions to be specified Irr the Top Up Netice. The Barrower will have 14 days followIng tha deposit of the Tep-
Up Advante to cantact the Lender and request that the Top-Up Advance be debited back to the tender. In such event, provided such Top-Atvante is In fart debited back to the Lender within ane husiness day of such
aotification, the Borrower will not incur the additional Initiaticn Fee assorfated with such Top-Up Advance and any interest accrued on such Top-Up Advance will be waived, Once advanced, the Tep-Up Advances will be
treated as Loans under this Agreament and subject te 31l of these terms and conditfons.

9. Representations and Warranties of the Borrawer, The Borrower hereby reprasents and warrants to Lender as follows on the date hereof and continwously so long 25 any amount s owing from the
Barrower to tender hereundear: {i) All of the information provided by or on behalf of the Borrower to Lender on its application and Tn connection with this Agreement and 21l ather decuments, certificates and instruments
delivered tn connection herewith, is true and correct; {ii} tive Borrower is In complfance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, permits, ficenses, approvals, consents and other authorfzations necessary to canduct ils
buskiess; {iii) the Borrower, and the individual(s) signing this Agreement on behalf of the Borrower, have full power and authotity to enter into and perform the chligations of the Borrower under this Agreement, al} of
which have been dily authorized by all necessary and proper action and are not in contravention of the Borrower's articles or by-aws and other constating documents {including any shareholder or partnership
agreement); (v) There is ao claim, action, sult, demand, enfarcement, arbitration or ather proceeding or investigation pending or, to the Borrower's knowledge, threatened against the Borrower, invalying a dispute of
more than $5,000; (vi) the Borrower is the owner of its business gremises and has presented documentation verifying awnership to Lender, or cecuples its business premises pursusnt to a valid and enforceable fease or
stiblease, a true and complete copy of which has been furnished to Lender; (v} the Borrower has not entered into an agreement similar to this Agreement with ancther company or person for which any sums are stiii
outstantling; {viii) the Borrower Is not bankrupt, has not declared bankruptcy in the past 2 years and Is not an undischarged bankrupt; (ix} There are no security interests, fiens, hypothecs or eny encumbrances whatscever
agalnst the Deposit Account or the Borrower's receivables; (x} the Borrower and the Guarantar (as defined hereinafter) are not insolvent, do not rave any eutstanding payables past thirty (30} days and have no knowledge
of any potential or real material changes to the Borrower, the Guarantor or their respective businesses pending T the next six {6) months, including any demands, executions, enforcement, crystallization of security or
Insolvency; and {xi) the execution and delivery by the Borrower and the performance of its obligations under this Agreament will not constitule a breach or event of default under any otier agreement between the
Borrower and third parties or any law or regulation applicable 1o the Borrower.

10, Conditions. Lender may atany time and for any reason refuse to make advances, Top-Up Advances {Including Automatic Top-Up Advances), Including, without ilmitation, based on jts own underwriting
guidelines or, if (i) Lender, is not satisfied with the Borrower's debit and credit cards transactions history received from the Approved Processor; (i) tender is nol satisfied with any infarmation received regarding the
Borrower; or (iii) the Borrower is In default under this agreement

In Default. The following will constitute ar “Event of Default” under this Agreement; (i} the Borrower changes debit or credit card processor, adds a second debit or ¢redit card processor or uses a debit or
credit card processor other than an Approved Processor; (i) the Borrower falls to direct all payments relating to the debit and credit card receivables exclusively to a Deposit Account or changes the Deposit Account
without consent of the Lender and having provided Lender with a copy of a new “void” cheque; {iii) the Borrower terminates or otherwise closes the Deposit Account; {iv) the Borrower refuses ta accept a debit or credit
card as a form of payment regardless of the ameunt of the sale; (v} the Borsower commits fraud or accepts an advance of the Loan heraundar with the intent to immediataly or in the faliowing twelve {12) months
terminate its business; {vi) the Borfower obtains additional financing or advances or sells or margins any receivables without the express prior written consent of Lender; (vii) the Dorrower disposes of alf or part business
assets or any of the shares or otiser interests in the Barrower are sold or transferred without the express prior written consent of Lender or the Borcower ceases to tarry business in the ordinary course; {viii} the Borrower
sells or hypothecates or grants a security interast on or otherwlse encumbers its assets to ancther person, company or entity; {fx) any of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement are not true and
correct at all times; (%} the Borrower falls to make any remittance or payment provided for hereunder or pursuant to any settlement, arrangement or payment plan agreed upon by the pariles in connection with this
Agreement, or breaches any other covenants cantalned in this Agreement; (xI) the Borrower permits or suffers to exist any fien, security Interest or hypothec agalnst a Deposit Account or its receivables; (xfi) a bankruptcy
or insolvency order o recelvarship of elther the Borrower or Guarantor is made or 2 general assignment or petition in bankru ptey of the Borrower or any Guarantar eccurs; (xFi) the Loan or any feaes or charges or ahy part
thereof has not been paid in full to Lender on or prior to the end of the Term of the Loan or fallowing a demand for repayment by Lender; {xiv) the Borrower relinguishes controi of the day ta day operations of the business
howaver caused; or {xv) the Borrower's Daposit Account Is frazen, suspended, garnished or cancelled for any reason whatsoever. Any act or omission carried out by an aifiliate, shareholder, director, officar, employee or
agent of the Borrower that, if carried out by the Borrower itself, would be ar Event of Default, will be deemed to be an Event of Default hereunder.

12, Remedies. Upon the occurreace of an Event of Default, the Lender will be entitled to 2l remedies avaifable at law and in equity {including in fts capacity as a secured creditor under appilcable perscnal

property securily law or othenwise), as well as the right to terminate this Agreement and recover by EFT, by Split Settlement, by Daity Deblting or via other means acceptable to the Lender from the Depoesit Account or any
other account maintained by the Borrower the balance owing under the Loan, plus any accrued interest. In any action for breach of the agreement, the Lender will be entitied to damages equal to the aggregate amount
outstanding under the Loan, plus interest accrued, less the amount received by the Lerder from remitiances to the said date, logether with legal costs and a fee amounting to the grealer of $500 or 2% of the amount
outstanding at the Ume of such Event of Default, which shall be paid as liquidated damages. In the event that any payment to be made by the Borrower hereunder, whether by cheque, credit card or pre-autharized debit,
is refused for insufficiency of funds or for any other reason whatscever {an “NSF Paymant™}, the Lender will be entitled to charge to Sorrower, for the first NSF Payment, no charge, and for each suibsequent NSF Payment,
an  NSF fee of $50, provided thal In  no event will the Lepder accept more than three (3] NSF Payments  during  the Term of the  Loan.
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13. Access, Borrower hereby acknowledges and agrees that, In order 1o verify the Borrower’s compliance hereunder, the Lender's representatives will have a right of access to any premises where the Borrower
conducts business and to be provided with any data, report or documentation pertaining 16 the Borrower's credit and debit cards processing, In the event that such on-site inspection is made by the Lender in accordance
with the foregaing, the Borrower hereby agrees to pay to the Lender a $400 charge for reimbursement of Lenders' out-of-pocket expenses for each site visited by the Lender’s representatives.

14, CONSENT AS TO PERSONAL BACKGROUND INFCRMATION. BORROWER AND GUARANTOR AUTHORIZE LENDER, AS OF THE DATE HEREQF, TO CONDUCT ANY BACKGRGUND AND FINANCIAL
EXAMINATIONS OF BORROWER THAT EENDER MAY DEEM NECESSARY. SUCH BACKGROUND AND FINANCIAL EXAMINATIONS MAY, AT THE DISCRETION OF LENDER, exTeND To BORROWER'S OWNERS AND ANY
GUARANTOR AND MAY INCLUDE THE LENDER OBTAINING CREDIT AND GTHER BACKGROUNG INFORMATION FROM THIRD PARTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, CREDIT AGENCIES. LENDER MAY ALSO REQUIRE
ADDITIGNAL INFORMATION, DOCUMENTS OR CONSENTS IN ORDER TO CONDUCT SUCH BACKGROUND AND FINANCIAL EXAMINATIONS AND BORROWER UNDERTAKES TO PROVIOE LENDER Wit SAME, BPON DEMAND.
THE {RFORMATION CONCERNING BORROWER. AND 1T AFFRIATES GATHERED UNDER THIS PROVISION SHALL BE USES FOR THE PURPOSES HEREOF QR FOR ANY OTHER LEGITIMATE COMMERCIAL PURPOSES AS
LENDER MAY DEEM APPRGPRIATE. BORROWER AND GUARANTOR FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT SUCH INFORMATION, INCLUDING ANY PERSONAL INFORMATION, MAY BE SHARED WitH LENDER'S

PARTNERS, SERVICE PROVIDERS AND OTHER THIRD PARTIES FOR PURPOSES RELATING TO BORROWER'S APPLICATIGN, PROVIDED, KOWEVER, THAT ANY SUCH THIRD PARTY SHALL COVENANT IN WRITING OR BE
BOUND 8Y LAW TO PROTECT THE CONFIDENTIALITY THEREOF.

15. Governing Law. With the excepticn of Section 19 of this Agreement which is to be governed by the laws of the Province of Quebec, this Agreement, and zny documents contemplated by or delivered

hereunder, or in connection with the Agreement are governed by, and are te be construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario, without regard to the principles of conflicts of law, It is agreed and
understood by the Parties to this Agreemant that all disputes and matters arising under, or in connecticn with the Agreement {whether arising under contract, tort, statute, or other legal thearfes) will be determined in
accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario to the exclusion of the laws of any other jurisdiction. The Parties to this Agreement hereby irrevacably and uncenditionally attorn te the jurisdiction of the courts of the
Province of Ontario and ail courts competent to hear appeals therefrom in the event any dispute or matter arising under, or in connection with this Agreement Is results In a forma! order or judgment of the court {the
Order”), the Parties to this Agreement hereby irrevocably consent to an order, if necessary, domesticating the Order to whatever jurisdiction is proper to enforce the terms of the Order,

16. Entire Agreement. This Agreement consists of the Summary of Loan Terms, these terms and conditions and !l Schedules attached hereto. This Agreement represents the entire understanding between

Borrower, Lender and Guarantar with respect te the matters contained hereln, without any verbaf or collateral representations which do not form part of this agreement, and it may he amended only by the consent of all
parties herete,

17. Granting of Security. As continulng and collateral security for the due and punctual payment and performance of afl present and future obligations and fizbilites of Borrower to Lender under this
Agreament, Borrower hereby grants a securily interest to Lender in alf of Borrower’s present and after-acquired personal property {excluding ‘Cansumer Goods” as defined under the Personal Property Security Act
(Ontario] and the fast day of any lease). The Borrower acknowledges that value has been given and that the time of attachment of this security interest has not beer postpaned. The Borcower consents to the reglsiratich
and perfection of such security interest by the Lender in any applicable registry as the Lender deems necessary or deslrable,

i8. Granting of Hypathec. As continuing and collateral security for the due and punctual peyment and performance of all present and future obiigations and Jabllities of Borrower to Lender under this
Agreament, Borrowar hereby hypothecates in favour of Lender all of Barrower's rights, title and interests in and to the universality of all Borrower's maveable property of every nature whatsoever, both present and
future, corporeal and incorporeal for an amount equal to 125% of the original amount of the Loan. Barrower hereby authorizes the registration of the hypothec granted herein at the Quebec Reglster of Personal and
Moveable Real Rights (RPMRR) by Lender or any affiliate or subsidiary thereof, or any assignee or designee thereof and/or record such other dacument ar Tnsteurnent as Lender may deem necessary or desirable to perfect,
protect and preserve the hypothec hereby granied,

19, Borrower Net A Censumer. In entering into this Agreement, Berrower s acting in its capacily as 2 business enterprise and not a5 a consumer.

20, Further Assurances. Borrover will promptly execute, acknowiedge and deliver any further assignments, conveyances and other assurances, documents and instruments of transfer, reasanably requestad by
Lender or necessary for Borrower to comply with the obfigations, representations, warranties and covenants contzined herein and will take any actfon consistent with the terms of this Agreement that may reasonably be
requested by Lender.

21 Natices. Any notice o Lender required or permitted under this Agreement will be in writing and may he given by personal service, reglstered or first class mall, postage prepaid, to the address of Lender as it

appears above, or as changed through written notice to Borrower. Any notice to the Berrower required or permitted under this Agreement will be in writing and may be given by personal service, registered or first class
mail, postage prepaid, through electronic means or through the customer portal, to the address of the Borrower as Tt appears in the Loan application or fe the emaif of the Borrower provided at the time of the making of
the Loan appllcation, aras changed through written notice to the Lender.

22, Attarneys’ Fees, Lender wil be entited to recover from Borrower and Borrower will indemnify and hold tender harmless from all legal costs assccizted with and/for resulting from the

enfarcement of its rights and remedies under Lthis Agreement or at law.

23. Severability, Assignment. If any provision of this Agreement is found illegal, invalid or unenforceable, such finding will nat affect any other provislon of the Agreement. This Agreement will be deemed
medified to the extent necessary to render enforceable the provisions hereunder. Netwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the ohligations, rights and Habilities of Borrower or Guarantor under this
Agreement may not be assigned by Borrower ar Guarantor without the prior written consent of Lender In its sole discretion. Lender will have the fight to assign its rights and obligations pursuant ta this Agreement o any
third party without Borrower's consent,

24. Ind Ification and Limitation of Liability of Lender. Borrower hereby agrees to indemnity, defend and hold harmless Lender from and against any ciaim, demand, loss, financial or atherwise, damage,
fiabllity or cost, including legal fees and expenses, caused by or from: (i} any Intentional, negligent of innotent misrepresentation by Borrower; (i} a breach of the terms hareof; [ilf) an Event of Default; (iv) negligence, fraud
or Intentfonal wrongdoing by Sorrewer o 2ny of is affiliates. Under no clrcumstances will the liability of Lender hereunder exceed the amount of the Loan. Under no circumstances will Lender be lialte hereunder for any
Indirect, punitive or consequential damages.

25. Interest Act. For the purposes of this Agreement, whenever interest is calculated on the besis of a period less than or greater than the actwal number of days In a calendar year, each rate of Interest
determined pursuant to such calcuiation expressed as an annual rate for the purpose of the Interest Act (Canada) is equivalent to such rate so determined multiplied by the actual number of days In the calendar vear in
which the same is to be ascertained and divided by the number of days used as the basis of stzch calculation.

26, Countesparts. This Agreement may be executed electronically in one or more counterparts. Each counterpart will be deemed an orlginal for all purposes, and all counterparts will together constitute ane
and the same instrument. This Agreement wilt be executed and delivered electronicaly, and electronic transmisslon of this Agreement evidencing execution will be effective as a valid and binding instrument for all
purposes.

27, Language. The parties have requested that 1his Agreement be drawn in Engfish language. Les parties ont exigé que Jo présente entente scit rédigée en langue anglaise.

LENDER

THINKING CAPITAL FINANCIAL CORPORATION

| INTERNAL USE ONLY

EBYL L s e Dater ~..... Print Name: Peter Mazoff

‘ . {signature} ] Title: President

Page | 3
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DocuSign Envelope ID: B291F934-3E6A-45D2-98DD-95C84405EEBE
Thinking
aipiisd

|

BORROWER

The indvidusis signing below declare and represent that: (I} they have read and undersiood the TERMS AND CONDITIONS sel cut in this Agreement, (H) they have the signing autherity ta bind Borrower ta all
terms and conditions stipufated in this Agreement and {jii) Sorrewer has taken all corporate or other proceedings necessary to autharize the execution and defivery of this Agreement by Borrower and Borrower's
performance of its obligations hereunder,

Print Name ' Title

Kamal Anwar Cwner
DocuSianed. hy:

l?«NHtlL ﬂbLW&J/‘ 12/23/2016

N orosao7RIGans OWNER 1SIGNATURE DATE

Print Name Title
lmran Bashir Cwner
BacuSly

e
(- OWNER 2 SIGNATURE DATE

FO3RFASBDDADLGZ
2

OWNER 3 SIGNATURE DATE

PERSCNAEL GUFARANTEE
THE UNDERSIGNED {“GUARANTORI(S)"), AFTER HAVING REVIEWED AND UNDERSTOOD THE PRESENT AGREEMENT AND HAVING HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TG OBTAIN INDEPENDENTLEGAL ADYIGE WiTH
RESPECT THERETO, GUARANTEE(S) THE FULE PAYMENT OF ALL AMQUNTS QWING BY, AND LIABILITIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF, BORROWER TOLENDER AND ASSHME{S) AND GUARANTEE(S] THE PERFORMAMNCE
AND SATISFACTION CF ALt OF BORROWER'S COVENANTS, OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING WITHOUT£IMITATICN THE OBUGATIO N OF BORROWER TO I DEMNIFY LENDER.
THIS GUARANTEE IS UNLIMITED, ABSGLUTE, UNCONDITIGNAL AND IRREVOCABLE, AND 1S BINDING UPON GUARANTOR AND ITS HEIRS, LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. IF THERE IS MORE
THAN ONE GUARANTOR, GUARANTOR AGREES THAY OBLIGATIONS HEREUNCER WILL BE JOINT AND SEVERAL WITH ANY OTHER GUARANTOR(S). GUARANTOR AGREES THAT LENDER MAY COLLECT AMOUNTS OWING
TO ITHEREUNDER FROM IT INDEPENDENT AND IRRESPECTIVE OF LENDER'S REMEDIES AGAINST BORRCWER OR THE £XERCISE THEREGF. GUARANTOR(S) AUTHORIZE(S) LENDER TO OBTAIN GUARANTOR(S) CREDIT REPORT
AND/GR GTHER INVESTIGATIVE REPORYS ABOUT IT. GUARANTCR(S] GRANT(S] LENDER A PRE-AUTHORIZED RIGHT TO DEBIT AMOUNTS OWING BY IT HEREUNDER TO LENDER, FROM (1) THE BANK ACCOUNT APPEARING
ON MY VOIDED CHEQUE ATTACHED BERETO AND (I} THE CREDIT CARD ACCOUNT IDENTIFIED ON THE ATTACHED AUTHORIZATION, SO LONG AS THERE IS ANY AMODUNT OWING FROM BORROWER TO LENDER
HEREUNDER, JF THE GUARANTYOR IS RESIDING IN THE PROVINCE OF QUEBEC, GUARANTOR ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THIS PERSGNAL GUARANTY CONSTITUTES A “SURETYSHIP” BY VERTUE OF SECTIONS 2333 AND
FOLLOWING OF THE COIVIL CODE OF QUEBEC AND GUARANTOR WAIVES ANY RIGHT OF DIVISION AND/OR DISCUSSION AND SPECIFICALLY RENGUNCES TO THE APPUCATION OF SECTIONS 2362 AND 2363 CF THE CIVIL
COPE OF QUEBEC. GUARANTOR HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE MAXIMUNM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, DEMAND, PRESENTMENT, PROTEST AND NOTICE OF PROTEST. 3N THE EVENT THE LIABRITIES OR OBLIGATIONS OF
THE BORROWER ARE FOUND TO BE UNENFORCEABLE, VCID, VOIDABLE, ULTRA VIRES OR OTHERWISE AVOIDABLE BY THE BORROWER [AN “INDEMMNIFABLE CIRCUMSTANCE"} THEM THE GUARANTOR SHALLAS A
SEPARATE AND DISTINCT OBLIGATION INDEMNIFY THE LENDER FOR ANY L?iiES SUFFERED BY THE LENDER A% A RESULT OF THE EXISTENCE OF SUC@WDEMNIFIABLECIRCUMST_A”I‘UG_

Print Mame Home Telephone Mobile Telephong Date of Birth
Kamat Anwar (416} 263-0951 (416) 704-1857 1971-07-11
Home Address - City Postai Code Province SIN
#217 - 5030 HEATHERLEIGH AVE, MISSISSAUGA LSV 2G7 ON
DocuSigned.hy:
12/23/2016
kamal, Qvway /23/
M 2F 058078064 EHARANTOR 1 SIGNATURE DATE

=

Print Name Home Telephone Mcbile Telephone Date of Birth
Imran Bashir {416) 312-1857 (416) 312-1857 1974-11-28
Home Address City Postal Code Province SIN
303 Pinetree Way Mississauga L5G 2R4 CN
. BocuSigned-byy -
lmran, Pasluiy 12/23/2016
\ — FogpreannnagySARANTOR 2 SIGNATURE DATE

26 (Giiarante

Rl e, o Sy Gl
Print Mame Home Telephone Mobile Telephone Date of Birth
Home Address City Postal Code Province SIN
"GUARANTOR 3 SIGNATURE DATE

Page | 4
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This is Exhibit “J” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017

N
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This is Exhibit “K” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017
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Danby Products Limited, PO Box 1778, 5070 Whitelaw Road, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, N1H 6Z9
Tel: 519-837-0920 Fax (Sales): 519-837-0449 Fax (Administration): 519-837-9320 www.danby.com

Interim Financing / DIP Loan Term Sheet
Debtor-in-Possession Interim Loan to Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.

Borrower: Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (“Borrower™)
Lender: Danby Products Limited (“DIP Lender™).
Loan: Subject to the terms and conditions set out hetein, the DIP Lender

shall make available the following loan (“DIP Loan™) to the Borrower
within the context of a proposal proceeding (“Proposal Proceeding”)
under the Bankruptey and Insolvency Act, to be commenced or that
has been commenced, by the Borrower :

a principal amount of up to and not exceeding one hundred thousand
Canadian dollars (CAD $100,000), which loan may be advanced in
parts, but which shall be a non-revolving demand loan;

In consideration for the DIP Lender advancing the DIP Loan, the
Borrower agrees to execute and deliver to the DIP Lender any further
DIP documents as may reasonably be requested by the DIP Lender

Purpose: The proceeds of the DIP Loan shall be used and applied by the
Borrower solely and directly to pay: (i) any prepaid interest or charges
in respect of this DIP Loan; (ii) payroli; (iii) suppliers, not including
any pre-filing amounts that may be owed to them, unless with the
consent of the Proposal Trustee herein; (iv) professional fees; and, (v)
any other costs and expenses of the DIF Lender or Borrower.

The Borrower shall provide written authorization to the DIP Lender in
respect of any amounts to be advanced directly by the DIP Lender to
the Borrower’s payroll services provider and any other suppliers or
intended recipients of any funds herein.

Repayments: The DIP Loan shall be repayable on demand and in accordance with
the terms of any court order that may be made in the Proposal
Proceeding.

Commitment Fee: Following the approval and advancement of the DIP Loan, or any

portion thereof, the Borrower shall pay the DIP Lender a commitment

* Home Comfort Products  Compact Reftigerators » Mid-Sized Refrigerators « Freezers + Microwaves + Laundry + Specialty Appliances
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fee in an amount equal to one thousand Canadian dollars (CAD
$1,000), to be paid from the initial advance of funds.

Costs and Expenses:

The Borrower shall pay all costs and expenses of the DIP Lender
incurred in connection with the DIP Loan, this term sheet and any
other documents related hereto (including the fees and expenses of its
legal counsel), which costs may be paid from the proceeds of the
DIP Loan herein.

Interest:

Interest on the Loans will accrue at 6% per annum, compounded
monthly, and payable monthly in advance.

On the date of the approval of the DIP Loan, the Borrower shall pay
$250 (the first month’s interest charge) to the DIP Lender on account
of interest for the period starting on the first draw down of the DIP
Loan, and ending October 15, 2017.

Financial Advisor and Sale
and Investment Solicitation
Procedures:

The approval of the DIP Lender will be a condition to (i) any
engagement by the Borrower of any financial adviser and (ii) the
implementation of any sale and investment solicitation or similar
process.

Security:

All obligations of the Borrower to the DIP Lender in connection with
the DIP Loan shall be secured by a first-ranking charge over all of the
Borrower’s assets (the "DIP Charge"), to be granted by the Court (as
defined below) in this Proposal Proceeding, which DIP Charge shall
not be required to be registered in any personal property registry
system,

Court Approval:

Prior to the DIP Lender advancing any funds under or in respect of the
DIP Loan, the Borrower shall have obtained the approval of the Court
of the DIP Loan and the DIP Charge, and the authority of the Court to
enter into the DIP Loan herein and execute this DIP Loan Agreement.

Governing Law:

Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein,

Jurisdiction:

Ontatio Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (“Court™).

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]
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Danby Products Limited, PO Box 1778, 5070 Whitelaw Road, Guelph, Ontario, Canada, N1H 629
Tel: 519-837-0920 Fax (Sales): 519-837-0449 Fax (Administration): 519-837-9320 www.danby.com

The DIP Lender and the Borrower have agreed to the above terms and conditions this §
2017.

Dated as of the date first set out above.

DANBY PRODUCTS LIMITED

Per:
Name: James Estill
Title:  CEO & President
I have the authority to bind the corporation
Accepted this day of , 2017

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Per:

Name:
Title:
I have the authority to bind the corporation

* Home Comfort Products » Compact Refrigerators + Mid-Sized Refrigerators * Freezers « Microwaves » Laundry + Specialty Appliances
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This is Exhibit “L” referred to
in the Affidavit of Imran Bashir
sworn before me, this

27" day of July, 2017
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SALE PROCESS

Commencement of Sale Process. Within five (5) Business days of an Order being issued by
the Ontario Superior Court of Justice [Commercial List] (the “Court”} (the “Sales Process
Order”) approving and authorizing, inter alia, the marketing and sale process for all or part
of the business and assets (the “Property”} of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. {the “Company”)
{the “Sate Process”), the Company shall commence the Sale Process {the “Commencement
Date”)

Contacting Interest Parties. Commencing on the Commencement Date (a) the Proposal
Trustee shall, on behalf of the Company, contact such initial parties previously identified by
the Company as potential purchasers of the business and/or assets of the Company {or
known to have expressed such an interest} and advise such parties of the opportunity to
acquire the business and/or assets {the “Opportunity”); and, (b) distribute “teaser”
documentation to other parties identified as potentially interested parties with respect to
the Opportunity.

Advertisement. Within five {5) Business Days of the Commencement Date, the Proposal
Trustee shall have an advertisement of the Opportunity published in The Globe and Mail
(National Edition), and may, but not required, further advertise the Opportunity in such
other industry and trade publications or media sources as determined appropriate by the
Company, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee.

Due Diligence. Commencing on the Commencement Date, the Proposal Trustee shall make
available to prospective purchasers (collectively, the “Prospective Purchasers”), upon
receipt of an executed confidentiality agreement and non-disclosure agreement, in the
prescribed form, from a Prospective Purchaser, (a) a confidential information memorandum,
prepared by the Company with the assistance of the Proposal Trustee, describing the
Property and Opportunity in sufficient detail as is reasonably required by Prospective
Purchasers to consider submitting an offer for the Property and facilitate the conduct of due
diligence by the Prospective Purchasers; and, if necessary, (b) access to an electronic data
room, created and maintained by the Proposal Trustee on behalf the Company, containing
documents and information pertaining to the Opportunity.

Offer Deadline. Any offers to purchase the Property must be submitted in writing to and
received by the Company care of the Proposal Trustee at 111 Richmond Street West, Suite
300, Toronto, ON, M5H 2G4, attention: Shelden Title, by no later than 5:00 pm (Toronto
time) con thirtieth {30™} day following the Commencement Date {the “Offer Deadline”).
Should the Offer Deadline not fall on a Business Day, it will be extended to the next Business
Day.

Qualifying Offers. The Company, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee, shall determine
whether any offers are “Qualifying Offers”. Qualifying Offers must, among other things,
meet the following minimum criteria;

(a) the offer must be for a purchase price that the Company, in consultation with the
Praposal Trustee, would accept (subject to such further negotiation as may take
place in accordance with this sales process);
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{b} the offer must be accompanied by a deposit in the form of certified cheque or bank
draft payable to the Proposal Trustee in Trust which is equal 1o at least fifteen (15%)
percent of the aggregate purchase price payable under the offer;

(c) the offer must be irrevocable and open for acceptance for fifteen (15) Business
Days;
(d) the offer must not contain any contingency relating to due diligence or financing or

any other material conditions precedent to the offeror's obligation to complete the
transaction;

(e) the offer must contain written evidence satisfactory to the Company of the ability to
consummate the transaction; and

(f) the offer must be on such terms and conditions as are typical in the context of sales
in the context of restructuring and insolvency proceedings, which terms shatl
include without limitation: (i} the sale of the Property on an “as is, where is” basis,
without any representations, warranties or conditions made or granted in
connection therewith; (ii} that the completion of the transaction is conditional on
the granting of an approvai and vesting Order by the Court (the “Approvai and
Vesting Order”); and, (iii} a closing of the transaction to occur within three (3)
Business Days of the Approval and Vesting Order being issued by the Court,

7. Negotiation of Qualifying Offers. The Proposal Trustee may, in consultation with the
Company, enter into negotiations on the Company’s behalf with the offerors in respect of
one or more of the Qualifying Offers in an effort to ascertain the highest and best offer,
Additionally, it is open to the Company, in consuitation with the Proposal Trustee, to elect
not to accept any of the Qualifying Offers, whether before or after negotiation of the same.

8. Winning Offer. Within five (5) Business Days of the Offer Deadline, the Company shall, in
consultation with the Proposal Trustee, determine the highest and best offer with respect to
the Property {the “Winning Offer”), at which point the Company shall proceed to enter into
a definitive agreement of purchase and sale in connection therewith (the “Sale
Agreement”), subject to Court approval.

9. Court Approval of the Winning Offer. Within three (3) Business Days following the fully
execution of Sale Agreement, the Company or the Proposal Trustee will direct its counsel to
set a Court date for a motion for the approval of the Winning Offer and the Sale Agreement,
and an approval and vesting order in respect of the same.

10. Return of Deposits. All deposits received (except such deposit forming part of the Winning
Offer) shall be held by the Proposal Trustee in Trust until the execution of the Sale
Agreement and, thereafter, returned to the respective Prospective Purchasers thereafter,
The deposit forming part of the Winning Offer shall be dealt with in accordance with the
Sale Agreement.

Modifications. Subject to the Sales Process Order or other order of the Court, the Company, in
consultation with the Proposal Trustee, shall have the right to adopt such other rules for the Sale
Process, that, in its sole discretion, will better promote the goals of the Sale Process.
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Court File No. 32-2274873
Estate File No. 32-2274873

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(IN BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY)

THE HONOURABLE ) FRIDAY, THE 4™ DAY
)
JUSTICE ) OF AUGUST, 2017

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A
PROPOSAL OF HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

ORDER

(Approval of DIP, SISP, Stay Extension
returnable August 4, 2017)

THIS MOTION, made by the Applicant, Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (“Heaven Fresh”),
pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. B-3, as amended (the “BIA™) for
approval of certain interim financing, a Sale and Investor Solicitation Process and for an
extension of the aufomatic stay period in respect of the Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal

herein, was heard this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario,

ON READING the Notion of Motion, the Affidavit of Imran Bashir, sworn July 27,
2017, and the exhibits attached hereto (the “Bashir Affidavit™), the Report of MNP Ltd., in its
capacity as proposal trustee (the “Proposal Trustee”) of Heaven Fresh, and on being advised
that the secured creditors who are likely to be affected by the charges created herein were

.
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provided notice of the within motion, and on hearing submissions of counsel for Heaven Fresh,
and submissions of the Proposal Trustee, no one appearing for any other person on the Service

List, although duly served as it appears from the Affidavit of Service of

sworn July 31, 2017, filed,
SERVICE

l. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Motion and Motion
Record in respect of this Motion is hereby abridged and service is validated such that this Motion

is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

2, THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the
“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of
documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which appears on the Commercial List
website at  the following link:  hitp://www.ontariocourts.ca/sci/practice/practice-
directions/toronto/eservice-commercial/) shall be vaﬁid and effective service. This Order shall
constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure
(the “Rules”). Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of

documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service List Keeper (as defined in the Protocol) for

the purpose of this proceeding shall be the Proposal Trustee.
DIP FINANCING

4, THIS COURT ORDERS that Heaven Fresh is hereby authorized and empowered to

obtain and borrow under an interim financing facility (the “DIP Facility”) granted by Danby
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Products Limited (in such capacity, the “DIP Lender”) to be used for the purposes described in -
the interim financing agreement attached as Exhibit “K” to the Bashir Affidavit (the “DIP
Agreement”), provided that the total borrowings under the DIP Facility shall not exceed

$100,000.00 as specified in the DIP Agreement, unless permitied by further Order of this Cout.

5. THES COURT ORDERS that the DIP Facility shall be on the terms and subject to the

conditions set forth in the DIP Agreement.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that Heaven Fresh is authorized and empowered to execute
and deliver such other documents as may be contemplated by the DIP Agreement or as may be
reasonably required by the DIP Lender pursuant to the terms thereof, and Heaven Fresh is hereby
authorized and directed to pay and perform all of its indebtedness, interest, fees, liabilities and
obligations to the DIP Lender under and pursuant to the DIP Agreement as and when the same

become due and are to be performed, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Lender shall be entitled to the benefit of and is
hereby granted a super-priority charge (the “DIP Charge™), as more particularly set out below,
which shall not exceed an aggregate amount of $100,000.00, on Heaven Fresh’s current and
future propetties, assets and undertakings of every nature and kind whatsoever and wherever
situated, including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Property”). The DIP Charge shall not

secure any obligation that exists before this Order is made.
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3. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order or the

BiA:

(a) upon the occurrence of an event of default under the DIP Agreement, the DIP
Lender, upon three (3) business days’ notice to Heaven Fresh and to the Proposal
Trustee, may exercise any and all of its rights and remedies against Heaven Fresh
or the Property under or pursuant to the DIP Agreement, and the DIP Charge,
including, without limitation, to cease making advances to Heaven Fresh, and
exercise any and all of its rights and remedies against Heaven Fresh and the
Property under or pursuant to the DIP Agreement and the DIP Charge, including
without limitation, set off and / or consolidate any amounts owing by the DIP
Lender to Heaven Fresh against the obligations of Heaven Fresh to the DIP
Lender under the DIP Agreement, or the DIP Charge, to make demand, accelerate
payment and give other notices, or to apply to this Court for the appointment of a
receiver, receiver and manager or inferim receiver, or for a bankruptcy order
against Heaven Fresh and for the appointment of a trustee in bankrupicy of .

Heaven Fresh; and,

(b)  the foregoing rights and remedies of the DIP Lender shall be enforceable against
any trustee in bankruptcy, interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of

Heaven Fresh or the Property.

9, THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that that the DIP Lender shall be treated
as an unaffected creditor in any proposal filed by Heaven Fresh under the BI4 with respect to

any advances made pursuant to the DIP Agreement.
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10.  THIS COURT ORDERS that: (a) pending expiry of the time for filing a notice of
appeal or application for leave to appeal in respect of this Order and the disposition of any
motions to review, rescind or vary this Order, applications for leave to appeal or appeals from
this Order (collectively, “Challenges™), Heaven Fresh is authorized to borrow funds under the
DIP Facility in accordance with the DIP Agreement; (b) irrespective of the disposition of any
Challenges, the DIP Lender shall have the benefit of the DIP Charge and all other provisions of
this Order in respect of all amounts so advanced; and (c) this Order is subject to provisional

execution to the extent necessary to give effect to the foregoing,
SUPER-PRIORITY OF THE DIP CHARGE

11.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the DIP Charge
shall not be required, and that the DIP Charge shall be valid and enforceable for all purposes,
including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered, recorded or perfected subsequent
to the DIP Charge coming into existence, notwithstanding any such failure to file, register,

record or perfect.

12.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Charge shall constitute a charge on the Property
and the DIP Charge shall rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, charges and
encumbrances and claims of secured creditors, statutory or otherwise (collectively,
“Encumbrances”), in favour of any individual, firm, corporation, governmental body or agency
(except statutory deemed trusts that, at law, rank in priority to all other charges), or any other

entities (all of the foregoing, collectively being “Persons” and each being a “Person”).

13.  THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise expressly provided for herein or as

may be approved by this Court, Heaven Fresh shall not grant any Encumbrances over any
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Property that ranks in priority to, or pari passu with, the DIP Charge, unless Heaven Fresh also
obtains the prior written consent of the Proposal Trustee and the DIP Lender, or further Order of

this Court.

14, THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Charge and the DIP Agreement shall not be
rendered invalid or unenforceable, and the rights and remedies of the DIP Lender entitled to the
benefit of the DIP Charge and/or the DIP Lender thereunder shall not otherwise be limited or
impaired in any way by: (i) the pendency of these proceedings and the declaration of insolvency
of Heaven Fresh; (ii) any application(s) for bankruptcy ordex(s) issued pursuant to the Bid, or
any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such applications; (iii) the filing or deemed filing of any
assignments for the general benefit of creditors made pursuant to the BIA4; (iv) the provisions of
any federal or provincial statutes; or (v) any negative covenants, prohibitions or other similar
provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of Encumbrances, contained
in any existing loan documents, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other agreement (collectively,
an “Agreement”) which bind Heaven Fresh, and notwithstanding any provision to the contrary

in any Agreement:

(a)  neither the creation of the DIP Charge, nor the execution, delivery, or
performance of the DIP Agreement, shall create or be deemed to constitute a

breach by Heaven Fresh of any Agreement to which it is a party;

(b)  the DIP Lender shall not have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result of
any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from Heaven Fresh entering

into the DIP Agreement, or the creation of the DIP Charge; and,
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(¢)  the payments made by Heaven Fresh pursuant to this Order, or the DIP
Agreement, and the granting of the DIP Charge, do not and will not constitute
preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct,

or other challengeable or voidable transactions under any applicable law.
SALE AND INVESTOR SOLICITATION PROCESS

15.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sale and Investor Solicitation Process (the “SISP™) as
set out in Exhibit “L” to the Bashir Affidavit and attached as Schedule “A” hereto, be and hereby

is approved.

16, THIS COURT ORDERS that Heaven Fresh and the Proposal Trustee be and are hereby
authorized and empowered to take such steps as are necessary or desirable to carry out and
perform their obligations under the SISP, provided that any definitive agreement to be executed
by Heaven Fresh in respect of the sale of all or part of the Property shall require further approval

of the Court.
EXTENSION OF PROPOSAL PERIOD

17. . THIES COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to subsection 50.4(9) of the BIA, the time for
filing a proposal with the Official Receiver in the proceedings of Heaven Fresh, including the

stay of proceedings, is hereby extended to and including October 4, 2017,
GENERAL

18.  THIS COURT ORDERS that both Heaven Fresh and the Proposal Trustee shall be at

liberty, and are authorized and empowered, to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or
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administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in
carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Proposal Trustee is authorized and empowered
to act as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these

proceedings recognized in any jurisdiction outside Canada.
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Court No.: 32-2274873
Estate No.: 32-2274873

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)
(IN BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY)

IN THE MATTER OF THE NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL OF
HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC,
OF THE CITY OF MISSISSAUGA,
IN THE PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

FIRST REPORT TO THE COURT
SUBMITTED BY MNP LTD.,,
INITS CAPACITY AS TRUSTEE UNDER THE
NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL OF
HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

JULY 31, 2017

1 INTRODUCTION

1. OnlJuly 21, 2017, Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (“HFC” or the “Company”) filed a Notice
of Intention to Make a Proposal (“NOI”) pursuant to section 50.4 of the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. B-3, as amended (the “BIA”), wherein MNP Ltd. was
named as proposal trustee (the “Proposal Trustee™) of HFC, A copy of the NOI is attached

lereto and marked as Exhibit “A”,

2. Notice of the NOI as prescribed by the BIA was sent on July 25, 2017 to all of HFC’s

known creditors. A copy of such notice is attached hereto and marked Exhibit “B”.

3. Information regarding the proceedings has been posted to the Proposal Trustee’s website

© at http://mnpdebt,ca/en/corporate/Engagementstheaven-fresh-canada-inc.
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4, The primary purpose of these proceedings is to provide stability to HFC’s business while
HEC, with the assistance of the Proposal Trustee, facilitates the marketing and sale of
HFC’s business assets and undertakings, and works on formulating and presenting a viable

proposal to its creditors.
IL. RESTRICTIONS

5. In preparing this Report and making the comments herein, the Proposal Trustee has been
provided with, and has relied upon, cerfain unaudited, draft and/or internal financial
information, the Bashir Affidavit (as defined below), HFC books and records, discussions
with employees and management of HFC and information from other third-party sources
(collectively, the “Information™). Except as described in this Report, the Proposal Trustee
has not audited, revicwed or otherwisc attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of
the Information in a manner that would wholly or partially comply with Generaliy

Accepted Assurance Standards of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.

6. The Proposal Trustee also bases its report on the Compény’s cash flow projections and
undetlying assumptions and notes that its review and commentary thereon were performed
in accordance with the requirements set out in the Canadian Association of Insolvency and
Restructining Professionals’ Standards of professional Practice No. 99-3 (Trustee’s Report
on Cash Flow Statement). Certain of the information referred to in this report consists of
financial forecasts and/or projections. An examination or review of financial forecasts and
projections and procedures, in accordance with standards set by Chartered Professional
Accountants Canada, has not been performed. Future oriented financial information
referred to in this report was prepared based on estimates and assumptions provided by
HFC’s management. Readers are cautioned that, since financial forecasts and/or
projections are based upon assumptions about future events and conditions that arc not
ascertainable, actual results will vary from the projections, and such variations could be

material,
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IH. PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
7. 'The purpose of this Report is to:

a. Provide information to the Court with respect to the administration of HFC’s

proposal proceedings, including:

i. background information regarding the Company’s operations, historical
financial results and the circumstances leading to the filing of the NOI,
ii. the marketing and sale process (the “Sale Process™) for all or part of HFC’s
business and assets; and
iii. HFC’s application seeking an order pursuant to s.50.6 of the BIA,
authorizing the borrowing of interim financing and providing a charge in
priority for such financing.
b. Provide the Court with the Proposal Trustee’s recommendation for an Order, infer

alia:

i. Approving interim financing (the “DIP Lean”) from Danby Products

Limited (the “DIP Lender”) for the purpose of funding HFC’s activities;

ii. authorizing and directing the HFC, in consultation with the Proposal

Trustee, to carry out the Sale Process;
iii. extending the time for filing a proposal to Seplember 4, 2017; and
iv. approving the activities of the Proposal Trustee as set ouf in this Report.

IV. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

8. HFC is an Ontario corporation carrying on business out of its registered office located in
Mississanga, Ontario. HFC is a distributor of small appliances, including air purifiers and
humidifiers, which products were manufactured for HFC under contracts with a third

parties.

i | 4@&%&1&%
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HFEC advises that the causes of its financial difficulties are attributable to a failure to grow
its client base as a result of being undercapitalized. A summary of the Company’s historical

financial results is set out below:

YTD

Year Ended June 30 12014 F2015 F2016 May
2017
(CAD %) Unaudited

Revenue $1,379428 51,077,684  $970,237  $799,599
% Growth N4 -22% -10% -18%
Cost of Goods Sold 685,399 815,121 741,756 644,560
Gross Margin 694,029 262,563 228,481 155,039
Gross Margin (%) S0%  24% 24% 19%
Management Fee Income - 104,500 130,800 15,790 -
QOperating Expenses 489,434 589,688 416,869 350,266
Operating Expenscs (%) 35% 55% 43% 44%
EBITDA 309,095 -196,325  -172,598  -195,168
EBITDA (%) 22% -18% -18% -24%

10. Additional informalion in respect of the HFC, including its asscts and liabilities, is sct out

11.

in the affidavit of Imran Bashir, affirmed on July 27, 2017 (the “Bashir Affidavit”), filed
separately in these proccedings. The Proposal Trustee has not repealed such details in this

Report,

ASSETS

The assets of the Company consist primarily of the inventory of small appliances. HFC’s
other assets include its intellectual property (trademarks, proprietary technology), accounts
receivable and amounts due from related parties. Further details on the Company’s asscts

are detailed in paragraphs 11 to 15 of the Bashir Affidavit.

CREDITORS

HFC’s NOI lists creditors with claims of $1,217,277.

1487
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15.

A search of the Onlario Personal Property Securify Act registry, as of June 7, 2017, and
the Company’s records, indicate the following partics are the only known secured creditors

of the Company:

Estimated
Creditor Amount Owed at
the Filing Date
Royal Bank of Canada (“RBC™ $100,000
Thinking Capital Financial Corporation
(“Thinking Capital”) 82,013
Ricoh Canada Inc. (leased equipment) Unknown

The Proposal Trustee has not yet sought an independent legal opinion on the validity and

enforceability of RB(C’s and Thinking Capital’s security.
CASH FLOW PROJECTIONS

Fo date, HFC has provided the Proposal Trustee with its full co-operation and unrestricted

access to its premises, and books and records.

16. In accordance with the provisions of the BIA, the Company filed with the Official Receiver

a projected cash flow statement dated July 21, 2017, which was reviewed by the Proposal
Trustee for reasonableness and signed by the Proposal Trustee and the Company (the
“Cash Flow Projections™). A copy of the Cash Flow Projection, and related reports, is

attached hereto as Exhibit “C>,

17. The Proposal Trustee has implemented procedures for monitoring the Company’s receipts

and disbursements and has kept in close contact with HFC’s management to ensure that
operations are continuing in the normal course of business and in accordance with the Cash

Flow Projection.

8. The principal assumptions of the Cash Flow Projection are that:

a. the Company’s operations will continue in the normal course;
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b. Accounts receivable are forecasted te be collected in 30 days on average;

¢. Post filing purchases will be on C.0.D. terms and all other post filing operating
expenses will be paid on a current basis. Forecasted occupation costs and other
overhead expenses are forecasted to be lower than in prior priors on the assumption
that the Company’s level of activity has decreased and the Company’s commercial
lease expired on June 30, 2017. The Company entered into a Warehousing Service
Agreement, dated June 19, 2017, with Danby Products Inc. as a further measure to

reduce overhead expenses; and
d. The Company’s cash shorifall will be covered by borrowings under the DIP Loan.

The Cash Flow Projections reflect that HFC is expected to require funding of
approximately $83,827 through to the period ending October 13, 2017.

As set out in the Bashir Affidavit, the DIP Lender has agreed to provide interim financing
in the maximum amount of $100,000 in order to facilitate the continued operation of HFC

during these proceedings and the Sales Process discussed herein.

Based on the Proposal Truslec’s review of the Cash Flow Projections, there are no material
assumptions which seem unreasonable in HFC’s circumsiances. Based on the Cash Flow
Projections and the assumption that the DIP Loan will be advanced, 1IFC will have

sufficient funding through to the end of the requested extension of the NOI.

INTERIM FINANCING

As set out in the Cash Flow Projection, absent additional financing, the Company does not
have the ability to conlinue to {und operations and the cost of these proceedings.
Considering the Sale Process contemplated, and in order to preserve the value of the
business, the DIP Lender has agreed to provide debtor-in-possession financing to fund
HFC’s on-going cash {low shortfalls pursuant to an interim financing agreement (the “DIP

Agreement”). A summary of the DIP Agreement’s significant terms are as follows:

a) Principal Amount: $100,000 on a non-revolving basis;
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b)

©)

d)

¢)

a)

b)

Term: Repayable on demand and in accordance with the terms of any courl under
within the BIA proceedings;

Security and Priority: The DIP Loan is conditional on the DIP Lender being granted
a priority charge over all other security interests and encumbrances (the “Interim
Financing Charge™);

Interest; Interest shall accrue at the annual rate of 6% per annum and be payable in
cash, in advance, and compounded monthly;

Expenses: HFC shall pay the DIP Lender a commitment fee in an amount of $1,000,
together with all costs and expenses of the DIP Lender incurred in connection with
the DIP Loan, the term sheet and all security documents and/or any other
documents related thereto (including the fees and expenses of its legal counsel);
and

Conditions: Prior to advancing any funds under or in respect of the DIP Loan, HFC
shall have obtained the approval of the Court of the DIP loan and the Interim
Financing Charge, and the authority of the Court to enter into the DIP Loan and

execute the DIP Agreement.

A copy of the DIP Agreement is attached herto this Report as Exhibit “D”,

INTERIM FINANCING RECOMMENDATION

The Proposal Trustee has considered the factors set out in Section 50.6(5) of the BIA with
respect to the granting of a Court order for interim financing and the Interim Financing
Charge. The Proposal Trustee respectfully recommends that the Court make the order

sought by the Company for the following reasons:

HFC is of the view that the Sale Process will allow the Company to fully assess its
restructuring options and potentially enhance the recoveries for the stakeholders,
The DIP Agreement enhances the prospects of the Company running the Sale
Process and identifying a strategic partner or purchaser;

the Company is facing an immediate liquidity crisis. It is without Hquidity to fund

operations. The Company’s operations will ceasc and the Company will have
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d)

virtually no prospect of completing the Sale Process and a viable proposal without
interim financing;

no creditor of the Company appears to be materially prejudiced by the borrowings
under the DIP Agreement, and the Interim Financing Charge, and the risks of
material prejudice to certain creditors are outweighed by the potential benefits that
would be derived from the Sale Process and/or a successful restructuring. The
Proposal Trustee contacted representatives of RBC and Thinking Capital to
determine if cach was interesied in meeting with representatives of the Proposal
Trustee and HFC. Thinking Capital advised HFC that it plans on pursuing other
collection remedies available to it and RBC has not accepted the offer to meet; and
the terms of the borrowings appear to be reasenable in the circumstances and
consistent with the terms of debtor in possession financing facilities in similar

proceedings.

X. SALES PROCESS

24, HFC, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee, secks to conduct the Sale Process for all

or part of the business and/or assets of HFC as set out in Exhibit “E” attached. In

summary, the Sale Process contemplates the sale of the business assets of HFC on an “as

is, where is” basis, subject to Court approval, and will proceed on the following timetable:

a.

Within five (5) business days of an Order being issued by the Court approving and
authorizing the Sale Process, the Company shall commence the Sale Process (the

“Commencement Date”);

commencing on the Commencement Date, the Proposal Trustee is to (i) identify
and contact prospective purchascrs directly and with “teaser” mail-outs, (i)
distribute {o those interested a confidentiality agreement and non-disclosure
(“NDA”™) and (iii) distribute to those that have signed the NDA, the confidential
information memorandum, prepared by the Company with the assistance of the
Proposal Trustee, and, if necessary, (ii1) establish and provide access to an

electronic data room to those parties having signed a NDA,;
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¢.  Within five (5) business days of the Commencement Date, the Proposal Trustee is
to place an advertisement for the acquisition opportunity in the National Edition of
the Globe & Mail and, if appropriate, such other trade and industry publications

identified by the Company, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee;

d. Offers shall be due by no later than the thirtieth day (30%) at 5:00pm (Toronto time)

following the Commencement Date (the “Offer Deadline™);

e. HFC, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee will evaluate all bids received, and
will determine which bid is the most favourable. Within five (5) business days of
the Offer Deadline, the Company, shall in consultation with the Proposal Trustee,
negoliate one or more of any qualifying offers in order to obtain the highest and
best offer for the assets. Thereafter, the Company will notify the successful party

that it has been selected as having the most favourable bid (the “Winning Bidder”);

f. After identifying the Winning Bidder, the Company is to enter into definitive

agreement of purchase and sale with successful offeror;

g. Within three (3) business days following the full execution of the Sales Agreement,
the Company or Proposal Trustee will direct its counsel to set a Court date for a

motion for an Approval and Vesting order; and
h. The parties will then seek to close the transaction.

25. The Sale Process contemplated by the Company provides a means for testing the market,
and determining whether a transaction that would result in realizations greater than
liquidation value is avaifable, HFC was engaged in research and development activities
aimed at developing internally generated software (the “Technelogy IP”) for HFC’s new
product offerings, permitting many of HFC’s products to be connected to and controllable
via the internet, HFC is under-capitalized and could not afford to exploit the technology
in a profitable manner. The Sale Process permits HFC to carry on its business in the
ordinary course while seeking 1o identify a strategic purchaser or investor who is interested

in acquiring the Technology IP, with the view of enhancing recoveries for stakeholders.
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26. The Sale Process envisions submissions of offers within the period of the extension

contemplated in paragraphs 28 io 30 below.

27. The Proposal Trustee recommends the Sale Process be approved as it is consistent with
insolvency industry practices is such proceedings and in like circumstances, and will

maximize value for all stakcholders, including secured and unsecured creditors.
XI. REQUEST FOR AN EXTENSION OF TIME FOR FILING A PROPOSAL

28. In order to allow HFC sufficient time to market its business assets for sale, negoliate a sale,
and work towards filing a proposal to its creditors, HFC seeks a forty-five (45) day

extension of the time for filing ol a proposal to September 4, 2017,

29. The Proposal Trustee is of the opinion that, given the naturc of the business, the likelihood
of a going concern sale is enhanced while HFC remains in possession and control of, and

carty on their businesses. To fully carry out the Sale Process, an extension is required.

30. In view of the foregoing, the Proposal Trustee supports HFC’s request for an extension and

has also considered:
a. that HFC is acting in good faith and with due diligence;

b. that the extension should not adversely affect or prejudice creditors as HFC is
projected to have sufficient funds to pay post-filing services and supplies in the

amounts contemplated in the Cash Flow Forecast;

c. it is contemplated that the Sale Process will be completed during the extension

period; and

d. that creditors would not be prejudiced by an extension of time for HFC to file its

proposal.
X11. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

31. Based on the foregoing, the Proposal Trustee respectfully recommends that the Court make

an order granting the relief detailed in paragraph 7.




All of which is respectfully submitted on this 31% day of July, 2017.

MNP Ltd.,

in its capacity as Trustee under

the Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.

Per:
//‘ o b

* " Matthew E. Lem, CIRP, LIT

Senior Vice President
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District of: Ontario !
Division Ne. 08 - Mississauga
Courl No.
Estate No.
-FORM 33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc,
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario
Take notice that:

1, We, Heaven Fresh Canada inc., an insolvent person, stale, pursuant to subsection 50.4(1) of the Act, that we intend to make a
proposal to my creditors. j

2, MNP LTD. of 306 - 111Richmond Street West, Toronto, ON, MBH 2G4, a licensed trustee, has consented o act as trustee under
tha proposal. A copy of the consent is attached

3. Alist of the names of the known creditors with claims of $250 or more and the amounts of their claims is also attached,

4. Pursuant to section 68 of the Act, all proceedings against us are stayed as of the date of filing of this notice with the official
receiver In our localily,

Dated at the City of Totonto in the Province of Ontario, this 21st day of July 2017.

Mﬁ

Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
Insolvent Person

To be completed by Official Receiver:

Filing Date Official Recelver

Page 1 of 4
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Districtof: Ontario
Bivision No. 09 - Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Frash Canada Inc.
of the Cily of Mississauga
in the Province of Cnlario
List of Creditors with clalms of $250 or more.
Creditor Addrass Accountt Claim Amount
Alive Pro 126 Upper Post Rd 22,374.79
Vaughan ON L6A 448
Allssan Alliance Box 743461, 5,284.56
LosAngeles CA 90074-3461
BOC 4310 Sharwoodiowne Blvd. # 100 36213 223434.00
Mississauga ON L4Z 4C4
Commerce Hub 23736 Notwork Piace 536.38
Chicago IL 60873-1257
Danby 5070 Whitetaw Rd \Box 1778 108,475,413
Guelph ON N1H 629
Delmar 6399 Cantay Rd 85932t J0RM0001 251.20
Mississauga ON L5R 0G4
DHL 18 Parkshore Or 287364 1,290.57
Brampton ON LT 5M1
Fuiurs Mgmt 176-4-5694 Hwy 7 E 81946
Markham ON L3P 1B4
Glory Plaza 1759 Halfax St 36,000,00
Regina SK S4P 172
Groatast Dragen 8 Java Road, Norih point, HONG KONG, 245,542.57
Huron 4311 Village Ctr Court Sulfe 201 1,163.80
Mississauga ON L4Z 152
fmyran Bashir 303 Pinstree Way 2,948.00
Mississauga ON L5B 2R4
Indoor Purification Systems 334 N. Marshall Way, Suite C 189,869.89
Laylon UT 84041
Javaid Khan 124 Mountainberry Rd 21,834.00
Brampton ON LR 2L7
Lodestar 1155 Appleby Line Unit £4 570.40
Buddington ON L7H 5H9

Page 2 0f 4
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District of: Ontario
Division No. 09 - Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33~
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsaction 50.4{1) of the Act)
In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the Clfy of Misslssauga
in the Province of Ontario
List of Craditors with ¢laima of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Accounts Claim Amount
Master Card Box 4016, Stn A (2) B45B and 6464 4,566.91
Toronto ON M5W 2E6
RBC CANADA 25 Milverton Drive 10184" 14,019.66
Mississauga ON L3R 3G2
REC Line of Cradit 38 York Mifls Rd 4th Floor 677398320001 10¢,000.60
Toronto ON M2P DA4
Soyed Mir 3555 Don Mills Road, Unit 18-107 20,000.00
Toronto ON M3M 1H8
Shanhal Neo Tec 4501 Hu Qing Ping Highway, Hong Chang Zong 17.075.76
Shanghal, China
Siber Circuits 145 Riviera Dr, Units 2, 3, 4 1,084.80
Markham ON L3R 546
Softech Systems 955 L phase 3 Johar Town 24.731.74
Lahore, Pakistan 54770
T Canada Trus! 1800 Ellesmere 0239-5211274 9,874.02
Scarbarough ON M1H 2V8
Tarig Malik 2067 Eringate Blvd 6,600,006
2057 EringGate Bivd
Plekaring ON L1V 2V4
Thinking Capital 4200 Blvd Dorchester 82,013.95
Mentreal QC H3Z 14 . :
Visa 1842 Box 4016, Sin A 2{1842°8163) 14,088.50
Toronto ON MSW 2E6
Visal867 Box 4016, Sin A 2{1867){8148} 3,913.0%
Toronte ON M5W 2E6
Wells Fargo Box 6782 Sin A, 5476-0203-0393-2683 39,966.38
Toranto ON M5W 1X5
Wires Law 1600-2300 Yonge St 026,84
Toranto ON MAP 1E4
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Districtof; Cntario
Division No. 09- Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
(Subsection 50.4(1} of the Act)
In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada inc,
of the City of Mlssissauga
in the Province of Onlario
List of Creditors with clalms of $250 or more.
© Creditor Address Account# Clalm Amount
Xlaoqing Sheng 1 170 Bsna Park Dr 5,321.00
Mississauga ON L3R 1E3
Zhaohui Tang 170 Esna Park Dr £,321.00
Mississauga ON L3R 1E3 ,

Moo

Page 4 of 4

Heaven Fresh Canada inc,
insolvent Person
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MNP

Please take notice that on Jduly 21, 2017, HFC fited a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal {the "NOI")
pursuant to 5.50.4(1} of the Bankrupfey and Insolvency Act (Canada){"BIA”). Please find enclosed the
fobowing:

July 25, 2017

To the Creditors of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. ("HFC" or the “Company”)

1. The NOJ, filed on July 21, 2017;

2. Alist of the names of the known creditors with claims of $250 or more and the amounts of their
ciaims;

3. The consent of the Trustee to act in these matters; and
The Certificate of Filing.

Please note this is not a bankruptcy, but rather protection has been sought under the BIA pending
the filing of a proposal to creditors.

Pursuant to the BlA:
s Al proceedings by creditors are stayed {stopped) as of July 21, 2017;

= The Company is required to file a Proposal within 30 days of filing the NO!, subject o an extension
from the Court; and

= A meeting of creditors to consider the Proposal is to be held within 21 days of the filing of a
Proposal, and nolice of the meeting will be sent to all known creditors at least 10 days prior to the
date of the meeting.

All documents retating to this Eslate are located on our website, which will be updated throughout the
administration of this Estate, The website address is

hitp:/fmnpdebl. cafen/corporate/Engagementsiheaven-fresh-canada-ing

There is ne need for any creditor to file a Proof of Claim at this time. If you have any questions concerning
the foregoing or require any additional information please contact Echa Odeh at 416-515-5066 or by email
al Echa, Odeh@mnp.ca.

Yours truly,

MNP LTD.

Trustee acting in re: the Proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.

Per:

7

Sheldon Title, CPA, CA, CIRP, LIT

Encl,

PN
1

Praxity.:

MEMBER +*
GLOUAL ALLIANEE OF
HHOEPENDENT FIRMNE

: Eﬂestl INSOLVENCY 8 RESTRUCTURING PROFESSIONALS
in“C‘a!:“zyers 300 - 111 RICHMOND STREET WEST, TORONTO, ON MSH 2G4

. 1.877.251.2922 P:416.596.1711 F: 416.596,7894 MNPdebt.ca
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-
District of; Onlario
Division No. 09 - Mississauga
Court No.
Estale No.
- FORM33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1} of the Act)
tn the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada inc,
of the Ciy of Mississauga
in the Province of Onfario
Take notice that:

1. Wa, Heaven Fresh Canada Inc., an insolvent persat, state, pursuant to subsection 50.4({7% of the Act, that we intend to make a
proposal 16 my creditors. o

2, MNP LTD. of 308 - 111Richmond Street West, Toronto, ON, M5H 2G4, a licensed trustes, has consented fo act as trustee undar
the proposal. A copy of the consent Is attached.

3. Alist of the names of the known creditors with ciaims of $250 or more and the amounts of their claims is also attached.

4. Pursuant fo section 69 of the Act, all proceedings against us are stayed as of the date of filing of this notice with the official (
yeceiver In our localty. §

M

Heaven Fresh Canada inc.
insolvent Person

Dated at the City of Toronto in the Province of Ontario, this 21st day of July 2017

To be completed by Official Receiver:

Filing Date Official Receiver

Page 1 of 4




104

District of: Ontario
Division No. 08 - Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33-
Notice of intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsection 50.4(1) of the Act)
in the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Clatm Amount
Alive Pro 126 Upper Post Rd 2231479
Vaughan ON LBA 448
Allseen Alliance Box 743461, 5,284.56
LosAngeles CA 90074-3461
80C 4310 Sherwoodlownse Blvd, # 100 36213 223434.00
Misslssauga ON L4Z 404
Commerce Hub 23738 Network Place 536.38
Chicago I 60673-1257
Danby 5070 Whitelaw Rd \Box 1778 108.475.13
Guelph ON N1H 629
Delmar 6389 Cantay Rd 859321 JORMOOD1 251.20
Mississauga ONLSR 0G4
DHL 18 Parkshore Dr 287394 1,200.57
Bramplon ON LGT 6M1
Future Mgmt 176-4-5694 Hwy 7 E 919.46
Markham ON LIP 1B4
Glory Plaza 1759 Halifax 5t 38,000.00
Regina SK S4P 172
Greatest Dragon 8 Java Road, North poini, HONG KONG, 245 542,57
Huron 4311 Village Ctr Court Suite 201 1,163.90
Mississauga ON L4Z 182
Irnran Bashir 303 Pinstres Way 2,949.00
Mississauga ON LSB 2R4
Indoor Purification Systems 334 K. Marshall Way, Suite G 189.869.88
Laylon UT B40414
Javald Khan 124 Mountainbersy Rd 21,834.00
Brampton ON L6R 2L7
Lodestar 1155 Appleby Line Unil E4 570.40
Burlington ON L7H 5HS .
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District of: Ontanio
Bivision No. (09- Mississauga
Court No.
Eslate No.
- FORM 33~
Nolice of Intention To Make & Proposal
{Subsaction 50.4(1) of the Act)
In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Ine.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario
List of Creditors with claims of $250 or more,
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amuount
Master Card Box 4016, Stin A (2) 6466 and 6464 4,666.94
Toronto ON MW 266
RBC CANADA 25 Milverion Drive 19184:" 14,019.66
Mississaugs ON L6R 3G2
RBC Line of Cradit 36 York Mills Rd 4th Floor 677399320001 400,000.00
Toronto ON M2P QA4
Soyed Mirt 3555 Don Mills Read, Unit 18-107 20,000.00
Toronto ON M3IM 1HB
Shanhal Neo Tec 4501 Hu Qing Ping Highway, Hong Cheng Zone 17,075.76
Shanghat, China
Siber Circuits 145 Riviera Dr, Unils 2, 3,4 1,084.30
Markham ON L3R 546
Softech Systems 955 1 phase 3 Johar Town 2473474
Lahore, Pakistan 54770
T D Canada Trust 1900 Efesmere 0239-5211274 8,874.02
Scarborough ON M1H 2V6
Tariq Malik 2067 Eringale Bivd 6,000.00
2067 EdingGate Bivd
Pickering ON L1V 2v4
Thinking Capital 4200 Blvd Dorchester 82,013.95 '
- Montreal QC H3Z 1v4 . :
Visa 1842 Box 4016, Stn A 2(1842° 8163} 14,066.50 ;
Toronto ON MSW 2E6
Visa1B867 Box 4018, Sin A 2{1B6T)(8148) 3.413.04
Toronto ON MSW 2E6
Wells Fargo Box 6782 Stn A, 5478-0203-0393-2883 39,966.38
Toronto ON M5W 1X5
Wires Law 16G0-2300 Yonge St 826.54
Toronto ON MAP 1E4
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- Districtof; Ontario
Division No. 09- Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No.
- FORM 33-
Notice of Intention To Make a Proposal
{Subsaction 50.4(1) of the Act)
Ins the matter of the proposat of
Heaven Fresh Canada inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario
List of Creditors with clalims of $250 or more.
Creditor Address Account# Claim Amount
Xiaoging Sheng | 170 Esna Park Dr 9,321.00 :
Mississauga ON L3R 1E3 !
Zhaohui Tang 170Esna Park Dr 9,321.00 :
Mississauga ON L3R 1E3
Total 121721742

Moo
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Heaven Fresh Canada inc.
Insolvent Person




- Proposal Consent -

in the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Onlario

To whom it may concern,

This is to advise that we hereby consent o act as trustee under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act for the
proposal of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc..

Dated at the City of Toronto in the Province of Ontario, this 215t day of July 2017

MNP LTD. - Licensed Insolvency Trustee

e,

=000 - 111Richmond Street Wesl
Toronto ON M5H 2G4
Phone; (416) 596-1711  Fax: (416) 323-5242

Page 1 of 1
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Industry Canada industrie Canada
Office of the Superintendent  Bureau du surintendant ‘
of Bankruptcy Canada des faillites Canada |

District of Ontario

Division No. 09 - Mississauga

Court No. 32-2274873

Estate No. 32-2274873
In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a
proposal of:
Heaven Fresh Canada inc.
insolvent Person

MNP LTD / MNP LTEE
Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of Intention: July 21, 2017

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50,4 (1)

l, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptey district, do hereby certify that the aforenamed
insolvent person filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4 (1) of the Bankruptcy and
Insclvency Acl,

Pursuant to subsection 69(1) of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of
the date of filing of the Notice of intention.

] Date: July 21, 2017, 10:23
E-File/Dépdt Electronique Official Receiver

Federal Building - Hamilton, 55 Bay Street N, 9th Floor, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, LBR3P7, (877)376-9902
B+3

Canadi
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Pistrict of; Ontario

Divislon No. 09 - Mississauga
Court No.,

Estate No.

-- FORM 29 --
Trustee's Report on Cash-Flow Statement
{Paragraphs 50(6)(b) and 50.4(2){b} of the Act}

In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario

The attached statement of projected cash flow of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc., as of the 19th day of July 2017,
consisting of Statement of Weekly Projected Cash Flow for the period ending October 13, 2017, has been
prepared by the management of the insolvent person {or the Insolvent debtor) for the purpose described in the
notes attached, using the probable and hypothetical assumptions set out in the notes attached.

Qur review consisted of inquiries, analytical procedures and discussion related to information supplied 1o us
by: @ the management and employees of the insolvent personor [ the insolvent person. Since hypothetical
assumptions need not be supported, our procedures with respect to them were limited to evaluating whether they
were consistent with the purpose of the projection. We have also reviewed the support provided by:

B management or I the insolvent person for the probable assumptions and preparation and presentation of
the projection.

Based on our review, hothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in ail material
respects,

(a) the hypothetical assumptions are not consistent with the purpose of the projection;

(b} as at the date of this report, the probable assumptions developed are not suitably supported and

consistent with the plans of the insolvent person or do not provide a reasonable basis for the projection,

given the hypothetical assumptions, or

(¢} the projection does not reflect the probable and hypothetical assumptions.

Since the projection is based on assumptions regarding future events, actual results wilt vary from the
information presented even if the hypothetical assumptions occur, and the variations may be material.
Accordingly, we express no assurance as to whether the projection will be achieved.

The projection has been prepared solely for the purpose described in the notes attached, and readers are
cautioned that it may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Dated at the City of Toronto in the Province of Ontarlo, this 21st day of July 2017,

MNP LTD. - Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Per: —

Ma o Shelden-Titie - Licensed Insolvency Trustee

LA

306 - 111Richmond Street West
Toronto ON MSH 2G4
Phone: (416) 596-1711  Fax: (416} 323-5242

Page 10f3
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Districtof:  Ontario

Division No. 09 - Mississauga
CourtNo,

Estate No.

_FORM 29_ - Attachment
Trustee's Report on Cash-flow Statement
(Paragraphs 50(6)(b} and 50.4(2){b) of the Act}

in the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississatga
in the Province of Ontario

Purpose:

1. The Statement of Projected Weekly Cash Flow for the 13 weeks ended October 13, 2017 has been
prepared solely for the purpose of complying with Part 111 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (the "Act’).

Projection Notes:

2. Hypothetical Assumptions

Hypothetical assumptions as defined in the Standards of Professional Practice of the Canadian Association
of Insolvency and Restructuring Professionals are assumptions that assume a set of economic conditions or
courses of action that are not necessarily the most important in the insolvent person’s judgment, but are
consistent with the purpose of the Statement of Projected Weekly Cash Flow.

3. Probable Assumptions

Probable assumptions as defined in the Standards of Professional Practice of the Canadian Assosiation of
Insolvency and Restructuring Professionals are assumptions that the Insolvent Person believes reflects the
most probable set of economic conditions and planned courses of action, are suitably supported, consistent
with the plans of the Insolvent Person and provide a reasonable basis for the Statement of Projected Weekly
Cash Flow

Assumptions:

The Statement of Projected Weekly Cash Flow Includes the following Hypothetical and/or Probable
Assumptions

+  ARisforecast to be collected in 30 days on average.

+  Pursuant to Section 69(1} of the Act, all creditors' claims are subject to a stay of proceedings.

+  No provision has been made for payment of obligations incurred prior to July 19, 2017, the filing date of
the Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal.

+  Forecasted occupation costs and other overhead expenses are forecast to be lower than in prior period
on the assumption that company's level of activity has decreased and the Company’s commercial lease
expired on June 30, 2017. The Company entered into a Warehouse Servicing Agreement, dated June 19,
2017 with Danby Products Inc. as a means of reducing its overhead expenses.

+  No source deduction remittances are forecast, as the Company will only utiiize the services of
independent contractors during the forecast period.

*  No provision for sales tax remittances / refunds has been made, as sales have been reflected net of
sales tax, and disbursements have been reflected net of input tax credits.

+  No provision forincome taxes has been made,

»  The Company's cash shortfall will be covered by borrowings under a Debtor-in-Possession borrowing
agreement,

Dated at the City of Toronto in the Province of Ontario, this 21st day of July 2017,

Page 20f3
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MNP LTD. - Licensed insolvency Trustee

Per. o
e o

Nﬁ‘}c@,\m Sheldg-Fitle - Licensed Insolvency Trustee
Lear. 300 111Richmond Street West
Toronto ON MBH 2G4
Phone: (416) 596-1711  Fax: {416) 323-5242

Page 3of3
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District of: Ontario

Division No. 09 - Mississauga
Court No.

Estate No.

- FORM 30 -
Report on Cash-Flow Statement by the Person Making the F - osal
{Paragraphs 50{6)(c) and 50.4(2)(c) of the Act)

in the matter of the proposat of
Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario

The Management of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc., hasthave devefoped the assumptions and prepared the
altached statement of projected cash flow of the insoivent person, as of the 19th day of July 2017,
consisting of Stalement of Weekly Projected Cash Flow for the period ending October 13, 2017.

The hypothetical assumptions are reasonable and consistent with the purpose of the projeciion
described in the notes attached, and the probable assumptions are sultably supported and consistant
with the plans of the insolvent person and provide a reasonable basis for the prOJechon Alt such
assumptions are disclosed In the notes attached.

Since (he projection is based on assumptions regarding future events, actual results will vary from
the information presented, and the variations may be material.

The projection has been prepared solely for the purpose described in the notes attached, using a
set of hypothetical and probable assumptions setout in the notes attached. Consequ- atly, readers are
cautioned that it may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Dated at the City of Toronto in the Province of Ontario, this 24st day of July 2017.

QXW TMeAN BASHE / DIRECTHE

Heaven Fresh Canada inc. Name and fitle of signing officer
Debtor

Name and title of signing officer

Page 1of 3
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District of: Ontario
Division No. 09 - Mississauga
Court No.
Estate No. :
FORM 30 - Attachment
Report on Cash-Flow Statement by the Person Making the Proposal
(Paragraphs B0(B)(c) and 50.4(2){c} of the Act}

In the matter of the proposal of
Heaven Fresh Canada inc.
of the City of Mississauga
in the Province of Ontario

Purpose:

1. The Statement of Projected Weekly Cash Flow for the 13 weeks ended Ocfober 13, 2017 has been
prepared solely for the purpose of complying with Part Ill of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (the “Act’).

Projection Notes:

2. Hypothetical Assumptions

Hypothetical assumptions as defined in the Standards of Professionat Practice of the Canadian Association
of Insolvency and Restrusturing Professionals are assumpfions that assume a sef of economic conditions or
courses of action that are not necessarily the most important in the insolvent person's judgment, but are
consistent with the purpose of the Statement of Projected Weekly Cash Flow.

3. Probable Assumptions

Probable assumptions as defined in the Standards of Professtonal Practice of the Canadian Assoclation of
insolvency and Restructuring Professionals are assumptions that the Insolvent Person believes reflects the
most probable sef of economic conditions and planned courses of action, are suitably supporied, consistent
with the plans of the Insolvent Person and provide a reasonable basis for the Statement of Projected Weekly
Cash Flow

Assumptions:

The Statement of Projected Weekly Cash Flow includes the following Hypothetical and/or Probable
Assumptions

»  ARis forecast to be collected in 30 days on average.

+  Pursuant to Section 69(1) of the Act, all creditors’ claims are subject to a stay of proceedings.

+  Nopravision has been made for payment of obligations incurred prior to July 18, 2017, the filing date of
the Nofice of Intention to Make & Proposal.

«  Forecasted occupation costs and other gverhead expenses are forecast fo be lower than in prior peried
on the assumption that company’s level of activity has decreased and the Company’s commercial lease
expired on June 30, 2017. The Company entered into a Warehouse Servicing Agreerr-, +t, dated June 19,
2017 with Danby Products Inc. as a means of reducing its overhead expenses. '

»  No source deduction remittances are forecast, as the Company will only utifize the services of
independent contractors during the forecast period.

¢ No provision for sales tax remittances / refunds has been made, as sales have been reflected naf of
salas tax, and disbursements have been reflected net of input tax credits.

«  No provision for income taxes has been made.

«  The Company's cash shortfall will be covered hy borrowings under a Debtor-in-Possession borrowing
agreement.

Page 2 of 3
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Dated at the City of Toronto in the Province of Ontario, this 21st day of July 2017,

ligras

Heaven Fresh Canada Inc.

Page 3 of 3
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Silhowette  BFRIDGE:

Danby Products Linited, PO Box 1778, 3070 Whitelaw Roac. Guelph, Ontario. Canada, N1H 679
Tel: 519-837-0920 Fax {Sales): 519-837-0449 Fax (Administration): $19-837.9320 www.danby.com

Interim Financing / DIP Loanr Term Sheet
Debtor-in-Possession Interim Loan to Heaven Fresh Canrada Inc.

Borrower: Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (“Borrower”)
Lender: Danby Products Limited (“DIP Lender”).
Loan: : Subject to the terms and conditions set out herein, the DIP Lender

shall make available the following loan (“DIP Loan™) to the Borrower
within the context of a proposal proceeding (“Proposal Proceeding™)
under the Bankruptey and Insolvency Act, to be commenced or that
has been commenced, by the Borrower :

a principal amount of up to and not exceeding one hundred thousand
Canadian dollars (CAD $100,000), which loan may be advanced in
parts, but which shall be a non-revolving demand loan;

In consideration for the DIP Lender advancing the DIP Loan, the
Borrower agrees to execute and deliver to the DIP Lender any further
DIP documents as may reasonably be requested by the DIP Lender

Purpose: The proceeds of the DIP Loan shall be used and applied by the
Borrowet solely and directly to pay: (i) any prepaid interest or charges
in respect of this DIP Loan; (ii) payroll; (iit) suppliers, not including
any pre-filing amounts that may be owed to them, unless with the
consent of the Proposal Trustee herein; (iv) professional fees; and, (v)
any other costs and expenses of the DIP Lender or Borrower.

The Borrower shall provide written authorization to the DIP Lender in
respect of any amounts to be advanced directly by the DIP Lender to
the Borrower’s payroll services provider and any other suppliers or
intended recipients of any funds herein.

Repayments: The DIP Loan shall be repayable on demand and in accordance with
the terms of any court order that may be made in the Proposal
Proceeding,

Commitment Fee: Foliowing the approval and advancement of the DIP Loan, or any

portion thereof, the Borrower shall pay the DIP Lender a commitment

+ Home Comfort Products « Compact Refrigerators » Mid-Sized Refrigerators « Freezeis » Microwaves « Laundvy + Specialty Appliances
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fee in an amount equal to one thousand Canadian deliars {CAD
$1,000), to be paid from the initial advance of funds.

Costs and Expenses: The Borrower shall pay all costs and expenses of the DIP Lender
incurred in connection with the DIP Loan, this term sheet and any
other documents related hereto (including the tees and expenses of its
fegal counsel), which costs may be paid from the proceeds of the
DIP Loan herein.

Interest: Interest on the Loans will accrue at 6% per annum, compounded
monthly, and payable monthly in advance.

On the date of the approval of the DIP Loan, the Borrower shall pay
$250 (the first month’s interest charge) to the DIP Lender on account
of interest for the period starting on the first draw down of the DIP
Loan, and ending October 15, 2017.

Financial Advisor and Sale The approval of the DIP Lender will be a condition to (i) any

and Investment Solicitation engagement by the Borrower of any financial adviser and (ii) the

Procedures: implementation of any sale and investment solicitation or similar
process.

Security: All obligations of the Botrower to the DIP Lender in connection with

the DIP Loan shall be secured by a first-ranking charge over all of the
Borrower’s assets (the "DIP Charge"), to be granted by the Court (as
defined below) in this Proposal Proceeding, which DIP Charge shall
not be required to be registered in any personal property registry
system.

Court Approval: Prior to the DIP Lender advancing any funds under or in respect of the
DIP Loan, the Borrower shall have obtained the approval of the Court
of the DIP Loan and the DIP Charge, and the authority of the Court to
enter into the DIP Loan herein and execute this DIP Loan Agreement,

Governing Law: Provinee of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein.

Jurisdiction: Omntario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List} (“Court™).

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]
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=MICRO
SI%M&W NFRIDGE®

Danby Products Limited. PO Box 1778, 5070 Whitclaw Road, Guelph, Oatario, Canada, N1 629
Tel: 319.837-0920 Fax (Sales): 519-837-0449 Fax (Administration): 519-837-9320 www.danby.com

The DIP Lender and the Borrower have agreed to the above terms and conditions this _=-th day of July,
2017.

Dated as of the date first set out above.

DANBY PRODUCTS LIMITED

Per;
Name: James Estill
Title:  CEQ & President
I have the authority to bind the corporation
Accepted this day of , 2017

HEAVEN FRESH CANADA INC.

Per:

Name:
Title:
I have the authority to bind the corporation

+ Home Comfort Products *+ Compact Refrigeraiors » Mid-Sized Refrierators + Freezers » Microwaves » Laundry « Specially Appliances
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SALE PROCESS

Commencement of Sale Process. Within five {5) Business days of an Order being issued by
the Ontario Superior Court of Justice [Commercial List] {the “Court”) {the “Sales Process
Order”) approving and authorizing, inter alia, the marketing and sale process for all or part
of the business and assets {the “Property”) of Heaven Fresh Canada Inc. (the “Company”)
[the “Sale Process"), the Company shall commence the Sale Process (the “Commencement
Date”).

Contacting Interest Parties. Commencing on the Commencement Date (a) the Proposal
Trustee shall, on behalf of the Company, contact such initial parties previously identified by
the Company as potential purchasers of the business and/or assets of the Company {or
known to have expressed such an interest) and advise such parties of the opportunity to
acquire the business and/or assets {the “Opportunity”); and, (b) distribute “teaser”
documentation to other parties identified as potentiatly interested parties with respect to
the Opportunity.

Advertisement. Within five (5} Business Days of the Commencement Date, the Proposal
Trustee shall have an advertisement of the Opportunity published in The Globe and Mail
{National Edition), and may, but not required, further advertise the Opportunity in such
other industry and trade publications or media sources as determined appropriate by the
Company, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee.

Due Diligence. Commencing on the Commencement Date, the Proposal Trustee shalt make
availahble to prospective purchasers {collectively, the “Prospective Purchasers”), upon
receipt of an executed confidentiality agreement and non-disclosure agreement, in the
prescribed form, from a Prospective Purchaser, {a) a confidential information memorandum,
prepared by the Company with the assistance of the Propasal Trustee, describing the
Property and Opportunity in sufficient detail as is reasonably required by Prospective
Purchasers to consider submitting an offer for the Property and facilitate the conduct of due
diligence by the Prospective Purchasers; and, if necessary, (b) access to an electronic data
room, created and maintained by the Proposal Trustee on behalf the Company, containing
documents and information pertaining to the Opportunity.

Offer Deadline. Any offers to purchase the Property must be submitted in writing to and
received by the Company care of the Proposal Trustee at 111 Richmond Street West, Suite
300, Toronto, ON, M5H 2G4, attention: Sheldon Title, by no later than 5:00 pm (Toronto
time) on thirtieth (30™) day following the Commencement Date (the “Offer Deadline”).
Should the Offer Deadline not fall on a Business Day, it will be extendad to the next Business
Day.

Qualifying Offers. The Company, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee, shall determine
whether any offers are “Qualifying Offers”. Qualifying Offers must, among other things,
meet the following minimum criteria:

{a) the offer must be for a purchase price that the Company, in consultation with the
Proposal Trustee, would accept (subject to such further negotiation as may take
place in accardance with this sales process);
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(b} the offer must be accompanied by a deposit in the form of certified chegue or bank
draft payable to the Proposal Trustee in Trust which is equal to at least fifteen (15%)
percent of the aggregate purchase price payable under the offer;

{c) the offer must be irrevocable and open for acceptance for fifteen {15) Business
Days;
(d} the offer must not contain any contingency relating to due diligence or financing or

any other material canditions precedent to the offeror's obligation to complete the
transaction;

(e) the offer must contain written evidence satisfactory to the Company of the ability to
consummate the transaction; and

{f) the offer must be on such terms and conditions as are typical in the context of sales
in the context of restructuring and insolvency proceedings, which terms shali
include without limitation; (i} the sale of the Property on an “as is, where is” basis,
without any representations, warranties or conditions made or granted in
connection therewith; (i) that the completion of the transaction is conditional on
the granting of an approval and vesting Order by the Court {the “Approval and
Vesting Order”); and, {iii) a closing of the transaction to occur within three (3)
Business Drays of the Approval and Vesting Order being issued by the Court,

7. Negotiation of Qualifying Offers. The Proposal Trustee may, in consultation with the
Company, enter into negotiations on the Company’s behalf with the offerors in respect of

one or more of the Qualifying Offers in an effort to ascertain the highest and best offer.
Additionally, it is open to the Company, in consultation with the Proposal Trustee, to elect
not to accept any of the Qualifying Offers, whether before or after negotiation of the same.

8 Winning Offer. Within five {5) Business Days of the Offer Deadline, the Company shall, in
consultation with the Proposal Trustee, determine the highest and best offer with respect to
the Property (the “Winning Offer”), at which point the Company shall proceed to enter into
a definitive agreement of purchase and sale in connection therewith (the “Sale
Agreement”), subject to Court approval.

9. Court Appraval of the Winning Offer. Within three (3) Business Days following the fully
execution of Sale Agreement, the Company or the Proposal Trustee will direct its counsel to
set a Court date for a motion for the approval of the Winning Offer and the Sale Agreement,
and an approval and vesting order in respect of the same.

10. Return of Deposits. All deposits received (except such depasit forming part of the Winning
Offer) shall be held by the Proposal Trustee in Trust until the execution of the Sale
Agreement and, thereafter, returned ta the respective Prospective Purchasers thereafter,
The deposit forming part of the Winning Gffer shall be dealt with in accordance with the
Sale Agreement.

Modifications. Subject to the Sales Process Grder or other order of the Court, the Company, in
consultation with the Proposal Trustee, shall have the right to adopt such other rules for the Sale
Process, that, in its sole discretion, will better promote the goals of the Sale Process,
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